
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 3 September 2018

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 6 September 2018 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
Wednesday 29 August 2018

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) Councillor P Kelly
Councillor R S L Perfitt (Vice-Chairman) Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor I D Armitt Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor R J Wells
Councillor J Jones



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B 
Monday 3 September 2018

CABINET
Thursday 6 September 2018

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 July 2018 
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 3 
September  2018 
To follow

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage.

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Review of the Housing Allocations' Policy (Pages 9 - 36)
Summary:

1. The Housing Allocations’ Policy was adopted by the General 
Assembly of the Council on 18 March 2013 as the Council’s 
framework for the allocation and management of future tenancies 
from 29 April 2013.  A subsequent review of the Policy was carried 
out and approved by Cabinet on 6 March 2014. 

2. In order to ensure a consistent approach, a further review of the 
Policy has been carried out and changes made, where 
appropriate, to reflect new legislation and operational methods.



Recommendation:

That Cabinet approve the revisions to the Housing Allocations’ Policy 
as described in this report.

8. Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement and Licensing Policy 
2018 (Pages 37 - 114)
Summary:

The Council’s current Enforcement Policy has been operational 
since June 2014.  Since then, operational and legislative changes 
have been introduced and as a consequence, the Policy has been 
revised and updated to reflect these changes; including extended 
powers in respect of the licencing of houses in multiple occupation 
and those contained in the Housing and Planning Act 2016. This 
report sets out the major changes to the Policy and presents an 
updated version.

Recommendations:

1.That Cabinet approve the draft Private Sector Housing 
   Enforcement and Licencing Policy attached at Appendix A to 
   the report; and 

2.That the Strategic Director (External Services) be given delegated 
   authority to approve any minor revisions to the Policy as required.

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

9. Draft Local Lettings Plan for Coleridge Road New Build 
Development (Pages 115 - 120)
Summary:

This report seeks approval for a local lettings plan to be implemented 
For the Council’s new build housing development  at Coleridge 
Road, 
Temple Hill.

Recommendation:

That the draft Local Lettings Plan attached at Appendix A to the 
report 
be approved. 

10. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman - Annual 
Review Letter 2018 (Pages 121 - 132)
Summary:

To receive and note the Local Government and Social Care 



Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2018.

Recommendation:

That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2018 attached at Appendix A to the report, and the 
corresponding data tables for the Council at Appendices B and C to 
the report, be noted.

11. Street Naming and Numbering - Northfleet West Sub-station 
(Ebbsfleet Green) Phase 3 (Pages 133 - 136)
Summary:

To approve the names for six new roads on Phase 3 of the Northfleet 
West Sub-station development.

Recommendation:

That the six new road names for Phase 3 of the Northfleet West Sub-
station development be approved as Adamson, Conybeare, 
Emmeline, Garland, Millicent and Roberts.
 

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing

12. Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators (Pages 137 - 154)
Summary:

This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan 
key actions and performance indicators for quarter 1 of 2018/19.

Recommendation:

That Members note the contents of the key action and performance 
indicator monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B to the 
report.

13. Policy Overview Committee minutes - 12 June 2018 (Pages 155 - 
170)
Summary:

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 12 June 2018.

Recommendation:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee 
held on 12 June 2018 be noted.





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 26 July 2018 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

29. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for lateness was submitted on behalf of Councillor Kelly who 
subsequently joined the meeting during consideration of item 7, Adoption of 
the Dartford Town Centre Framework (minute 33 refers).

30. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

31. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

32. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 23 JULY 2018 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 23 
July 2018 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

33. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other Committees.

34. ADOPTION OF THE DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE FRAMEWORK 

The Cabinet considered the Dartford Town Centre Framework which had 
been produced to set out a vision for the town centre built environment and 
which sought to guide and co-ordinate future development and investment in 
the town centre so as to create a cohesive and high quality public realm. It 
aimed for private investment to reinforce the drive for quality and encourage 
the provision of a wider range of shopping, leisure and community facilities by 
identifying the opportunities available. Once approved the Framework would 
be adopted as a formal Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which 
would be used to assess planning applications in the town centre, helping to 
ensure that development was consistent with corporate objectives for 



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

regeneration. The SPD had undergone public consultation and activities 
during and prior to the consultation had yielded invaluable feedback which 
had helped to shape and inform the final version of the Framework document 
and had demonstrated a strong level of support from across residents, 
businesses and agencies for the specific town centre proposals in the 
Framework. Modifications to the original draft framework had arisen from the 
consultation process and were detailed in Appendices C and D to the report. 
There had also been some additional referencing and a sharpening of the 
presentation of the framework document.

Members welcomed the report and the design work for the town centre and 
thanked officers for producing this important piece of work.   

RESOLVED:

1. That the Dartford Town Centre Framework attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) guiding 
investment and informing planning decisions in the town centre, with 
immediate effect; and

2. That the statutory and consultation documents at Appendices B to D to the 
report be noted and agreed.

35. TENDER RETURN - ACACIA HALL REDEVELOPMENT 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed progress on the 
redevelopment of Acacia Hall as a result of the project brief agreed by the 
Cabinet on 22 October 2015 to transform, revitalise and rationalise the site. 
This included producing a new masterplan for the site and producing a new 
site-wide design. Planning consent for the project was awarded on 12 July 
2018. The project was highly complex requiring civil engineering, building 
skills and the wholesale replacement of services and the works had been 
tendered on an open basis to attract contractors who were capable of 
delivering this sort of mixed project. The results of this process and a 
recommended contractor were reported in the Exempt Appendix B to the 
report. The Council was also working with the Environment Agency on the 
river works to be carried out as part of the redevelopment and there would be 
a further report to Cabinet on the costs of the in-channel river works and the 
implications of complying with the pre-commencement planning conditions.

Cabinet noted the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and 
welcomed the suggestion that the Cabinet should receive additional 
information on the qualitative assessment of the tenders as well as the 
information on costings included in the exempt Appendix B to the report 
before awarding the contract. This information had been circulated to Cabinet 
and also tabled at the meeting in an exempt addendum to Appendix B. 



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

1. That the progress on the project be noted and the tender be awarded 
to the contractor as set out in Exempt Appendix B to the report; and

2. That a further report be presented on the costs of the in-channel river 
works and implications of complying with the pre-commencement 
planning conditions.

36. DRAFT LICENSING POLICY 2019-2024 

The Cabinet was reminded that licensing authorities were required to prepare 
and publish a statement of its licensing policy every five years. The current 
Statement of Licensing Policy for Dartford was adopted on 7 January 2014 
and was due to expire on 6 January 2019. Members were asked to consider a 
revised Statement of Licensing Policy covering the period 2019-2024 and to 
approve the draft policy which would then be subject to a statutory 
consultation process prior to adoption by the General Assembly of the 
Council.

The Cabinet noted the view expressed by the Cabinet Advisory Panel that the 
Licensing Committee should be formally invited to submit a response to the 
consultation and that this should be added to the recommendations contained 
in the report. This issue had also been raised with the Leader of the Council 
by the Chairman of the Licensing Committee. There had also been some 
discussion at the Cabinet Advisory Panel about the scope of the activities 
licenced by the Council. The Cabinet felt that the Licensing Committee should 
be invited to comment formally on the consultation and noted that it was open 
to members of that Committee to make suggestions on licensing issues 
individually  both during the consultation and more generally at any time 
where they had examples of good practice or matters of concern by raising 
these with officers. It would however have been inappropriate for the 
Licensing Committee to seek to shape draft policy before it had been 
considered by the Cabinet. Cabinet thanked the Cabinet Advisory Panel and 
the Chairman of the Licensing Committee for their input.
 

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Statement of Licensing Policy (2019-2024) attached at 
Appendix A to the report be approved for the purposes of consultation;

2. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be authorised to 
undertake the consultation on the draft Statement of Licensing Policy in 
accordance with prescribed legislative procedures;

3. That the Licensing Committee be invited to provide a formal response to 
the consultation on  the draft Licensing Policy; and



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

4. That, following the consultation, a further report be submitted, 
summarising any comments and representations received on the draft 
Statement of Licensing Policy.

37. DRAFT GAMBLING POLICY 2019-2022 

The Cabinet was reminded that licensing authorities were required to prepare 
and publish a statement of its Gambling Policy every three years. The existing 
Gambling Policy for Dartford was adopted on 3 January 2016 and was due to 
expire on 2 January 2019. Members were asked to consider a revised draft 
Gambling Policy covering the period 3 January 2019-2 January 2022 which 
would then be subject to a statutory consultation process prior to adoption by 
the General Assembly of the Council.

The Cabinet noted the view expressed by the Cabinet Advisory Panel that the 
Licensing Committee should be formally invited to submit a response to the 
consultation and that this should be added to the recommendations contained 
in the report. This issue had also been raised with the Leader of the Council 
by the Chairman of the Licensing Committee. The Cabinet felt that the 
Licensing Committee should be invited to comment formally on the 
consultation. It would however have been inappropriate for the Licensing 
Committee to seek to shape draft policy before it had been considered by the 
Cabinet. Cabinet thanked the Cabinet Advisory Panel and the Chairman of 
the Licensing Committee for their input.

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Gambling Policy attached at Appendix A to the report be 
approved for the purposes of consultation;

2. That the method of consultation in accordance with national guidance be 
delegated to the Strategic Director (External Services); 

3. That the Licensing Committee be invited to provide a formal response to 
the consultation on the draft Gambling Policy; and

4. That, if comments and representations are received, Cabinet receive a 
further report at its meeting on 6 December 2018, in order to consider any 
necessary changes to the draft Gambling Policy, prior to recommending its 
adoption by the General Assembly of the Council, at its meeting on the 10 
December 2018.

38. GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT CLEAN AIR STRATEGY 
2018 

Members considered a report which provided a summary of the Government’s 
recently published Clean Air Strategy and a suggested response to the 
consultation currently being carried out by DEFRA.  Air quality pollution from 
road traffic was a matter of national and local concern  In July 2017 DEFRA 



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

released the ‘UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations; 
this plan was discussed at Policy Overview Committee in September 2017 
and has been subject to legal challenge by Client Earth.  In February 2018 the 
High Court confirmed that the measures proposed by this plan were 
insufficient and ordered DEFRA to make changes.  Of concern to the Council 
was an apparent divergence between NO2 levels predicted by the modelling 
within this plan and those measured by the Council.  It had been shown that 
these discrepancies resulted from DEFRA using a method of modelling and 
prediction, whilst the Council took actual measurements.  

The Government’s draft Clean Air Strategy examined other sources of air 
pollution and proposed measures to reduce emissions. The Strategy was 
broken down into 10 chapters and these were summarised in the report along 
with the consultation questions and the Council’s proposed responses for 
consideration by Members.  

The Leader of the Council reminded Cabinet that air quality was a matter of 
particular concern for Dartford and that clean air was important and taken very 
seriously by the Council. Cabinet noted the concerns raised at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel meeting about the manner by which DEFRA measured air 
quality and also that DEFRA had modified its modelling following 
representations by the Council to pay some regard to the Council’s 
measurement of air quality. Cabinet also heard that a new air monitoring 
station had been put in place by DEFRA. It appeared that the courts had 
determined that DEFRA’s methodology complied with the law but this would 
not prevent the Policy Overview Committee from expressing its ongoing 
concern, if it so wished, after considering air quality at its meeting in 
September. Cabinet welcomed the Government’s Clean Air Strategy which 
demonstrated serious intent to deal with air quality issues and felt that it was 
important that any quality standards in place following Brexit should be at 
least as rigorous as those currently imposed in the EU.    

RESOLVED:

That Members note the content of the DEFRA’s Clean Air Strategy and that 
the proposed response set out in the report be agreed.

39. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 

The Cabinet considered a report which outlined details of proposed changes 
to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 and sought approval for 
consultation on the proposal’s to be undertaken with the Precepting 
Authorities, taxpayers and other relevant stakeholders. The proposed 
changes to the Scheme would only affect working age applicants. The 
Scheme for pensioners was determined by the Government and they would 
not be affected

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained that the need to change 
the current scheme had arisen as a result of the full introduction of Universal 
Credit in Dartford from July 2018 and the complexities that this would involve 
in calculating people’s entitlement to Council Tax Reduction. The current 



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

scheme for Council Tax Reduction would simply become unworkable 
requiring frequent and confusing adjustment and the re-issuing of Council Tax 
bills and the experience of other authorities operating similar schemes after 
the move to Universal Credit supported these conclusions. The proposed new 
scheme was designed to make the system clearer, simpler and fairer as well 
as being workable for staff. It was not designed to save money and should be 
cost neutral overall. 

The main features of the Scheme were outlined in paragraph 3.7 of the report. 
The current means-tested scheme would be replaced by a scheme based on 
a sliding scale of discount based on a number of income ranges and taking 
other factors and parameters into account. It was anticipated that the 
simplicity of the new scheme would make it easier to implement and explain 
whilst also addressing the complexities associated with Universal Credit. The 
new scheme would be fully consulted with the Precepting authorities, council 
tax payers and other stakeholders. It was intended to write to all existing 
working age recipients as part of the consultation process. A further report 
would be presented to Cabinet on the results of the consultation, together with 
an Equality Impact Assessment, and recommendations on revisions to the 
scheme for ultimate agreement by the General Assembly of the Council.

The Cabinet noted the points raised by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and 
recognised the challenges arising from the introduction of Universal Credit 
and were reassured by the preparations made by the Council. The need for a 
simpler, fairer and practical scheme was supported. 

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the outline proposed changes to the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20;

2. That Members agree that consultation on the proposed changes be 
undertaken with the Precepting Authorities, taxpayers and other relevant 
stakeholders and that the Strategic Director (Internal Services) be granted 
delegated authority to agree the consultation material in liaison with the 
Leader and the Finance Portfolio Holder; and

3. That a further report be presented to Cabinet on the results of the 
consultation, together with recommendations for revisions to the scheme, 
for approval by the General Assembly of the Council.

40. CAPITAL PROGRAMME - MONITORING 2018/2019 

The Cabinet received a report which detailed progress to date on the 
schemes in the approved Capital Programme for 2018/19 and reported the 
latest position on capital resources. The Cabinet noted the great success of 
the recent modifications at the Fairfield Leisure Centre.



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet note the progress made to date on the 2018/19 Capital 
Programme.

41. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 

The Cabinet received a report which updated Members on financial 
performance against the 2018/19 budget to date for the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account.

RESOLVED:

That Members note the monitoring report update for the year to date.

42. PARKING SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018 

The Cabinet considered the Parking Services Annual Report for 2017/18 
which set out the Council’s approach to parking management and provided 
information about parking provision as well as statistical and other relevant 
and comparative data and information on parking related projects undertaken 
during the past year.  

The Leader of the Council said that tackling anti-social parking was an 
important issue for the Borough and welcomed the report which described the 
significant effort that the Council assigned to this task. He noted the 
comments raised at the Cabinet Advisory Panel around the use of the camera 
car and school safety but could not agree with comments about the direction 
of the Leaders’ Working Group or see how child safety could possibly be seen 
as an additional burden on teachers and schools.  

Cabinet discussed the number of PCN’s issued and were assured that any 
financial surplus arising from parking enforcement was used to fund measures 
such as CCTV and road improvements and that enforcement action was 
taken to deal with anti-social parking and to promote responsible behaviour 
rather than to generate revenue. The Cabinet felt that it was important to 
ensure that PCN’s were only being issued when restrictions were clearly and 
appropriately displayed and it was agreed to produce a map of the 
enforcement hot spots in the Borough to allow an assessment to be made of 
the adequacy of the signage on display. 

RESOLVED:

That the Parking Services Annual Report 2017/2018 attached at Appendix A 
to the report be noted and the report published on the Council’s web site.



CABINET
THURSDAY 26 JULY 2018

8

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

43. DISPOSAL OF LAND AT STONE LODGE, DARTFORD FOR THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A SECONDARY SCHOOL 

The Cabinet was asked to note action taken by the Managing Director under 
delegated authority from the Cabinet to dispose of land at Stone Lodge, 
Dartford for the development of a Secondary School. The Managing Director 
updated the Cabinet on progress being made on the project and that the new 
school was now projected to open in September 2021. It was also possible 
that a site might be sought for a temporary school in the interim.  

RESOLVED:

That action taken by the Managing Director on 14 June 2018 to dispose of 
land at Stone Lodge, Dartford for the development of a Secondary School, by 
exercising powers delegated to him by Cabinet on 2 November 2017, be 
noted.

44. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MINUTES - 12 JUNE 2018 

It was reported that the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee held on 12 
June 2018 had only just been agreed by the Chairman of the Committee and 
had not been available for discussion by the Cabinet Advisory Panel. This 
item would therefore be included in the agenda for the next meetings of 
Cabinet/CAP.

45. TENDER RETURN - ACACIA HALL REDEVELOPMENT - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX B - TENDER REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION(S)
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPHS 3 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 35), Exempt Appendix B 
be noted.

The meeting closed at 7.59 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

REVIEW OF THE HOUSING ALLOCATIONS’ POLICY.

1. Summary.

1.1 The Housing Allocations’ Policy was adopted by the General Assembly of the 
Council on 18 March 2013 as the Council’s framework for the allocation and 
management of future tenancies from 29 April 2013.  A subsequent review of the 
Policy was carried out and approved by Cabinet on 6 March 2014. 

1.2 In order to ensure a consistent approach, a further review of the Policy has 
been carried out and changes made, where appropriate, to reflect new 
legislation and operational methods. 

2. RECOMMENDATION.

2.1  That Cabinet approve the revisions to the Housing Allocations’ Policy as described in
        this report.

3. Background and Discussion.

3.1 The Housing Allocations’ Policy was adopted by the General Assembly of the 
Council on 18 March 2013 as the Council’s framework for the allocation and 
management of future tenancies from 29 April 2013.  A subsequent review of the 
Policy was carried out and approved by Cabinet on 6 March 2014. 

3.2 All local authorities with responsibility for housing are required by law to produce a 
Housing Allocations Policy, which sets out how social housing properties will be 
allocated to those in priority need. In order to ensure a consistent approach, a 
further review of the Policy has been carried out and changes made, where 
appropriate, to reflect new legislation and operational methods. The Councils 
Allocations Policy has therefore been reviewed to ensure that:

 It complies with important changes in legislation 
 The assessment of need ensures social housing is allocated to those in 

priority need.

3.3 The policy must adhere to a legal framework outlined in part 6 of the 1996 Housing 
Act, an element of which mandates that certain groups of applicants must be given 
‘reasonable’ preference in determining who is allocated properties. This already 
applies to people who are homeless and some who face losing their 
accommodation within 28 days, but the 2017 Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA 
2017), which came into effect in April 2018, will mean preference needs to be given 
to all applicants who are threatened with homelessness within 56 days.



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

3.4 This report recommends the extension of rehousing preference to applicants meeting 
this criterion, ensuring legal compliance and offering greater assistance to those at 
risk of losing accommodation. In addition, while not altering the priority afforded to 
applicants who are actually homeless, changes to the wording of the policy are 
required to reflect the legal framework created by the new act.

4. Proposed policy amendments.

4.1   Those households owed a full homeless duty and who are already placed in in 
suitable long term temporary accommodation will be allocated band D. Band D is 
deemed appropriate for Applicants eligible for “Reasonable Preference”, who have 
been given reduced priority but are owed, or are likely to be owed, a duty under s.193 
(2) or 195 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (or under s.65 (2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 
1985). This means that any applicant who is owed a duty will be placed into band D 
including applicants placed under HRA2017.  

        This is the entry band for all homeless applicants and applicants can have their 
banding increased by one of two ways;
 Move on from accommodation where Dartford Borough Council has discharged 

the functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been identified and 
confirmed in the Personalised Housing Plan or;

 Where discretion has been given to applicants under the HRA 2017 where it has 
been assessed that social housing is the only/most appropriate solution and 
applicants are likely to be in priority need.

           As detailed in previous version of the policy, banding can be increased to Band B if 
           applicant qualifies for the community contribution criteria.

4.2 Cases that are under-occupying social housing and wish to downsize will be placed 
into Band A, regardless of property size.

4.3 The specific escalation process for Dartford refuges has been removed.  However, 
more detail covering move on from all types of supported accommodation is provided 
in sections 5.20-5.23 of the attached policy.

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan.

5.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, choice and 
diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant communities and 
deliver high quality services to service users’.

6. Financial, legal, staffing & other administrative implications & risk assessments;

Financial 
Implications

None as a direct result of this report.

Legal 
Implications

Public 

The policy, and any revisions, must adhere to a legal framework 
outlined in part 6 of the 1996 Housing Act.



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

Sector 
Equality 
Duty

A customer access review has been completed.

Staffing 
Implications

None as a direct result of this report.

Admin 
Implications

None as a direct result of this report.

Risk 
Assessment

Failure to deliver the requirements of the act will result in the 
Council being unable to meet its obligations as a statutory 
Housing Authority in terms of meet the Housing needs of Dartford 
residents.

7. Appendices
Appendix A – Revised Housing Allocations Policy.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

          

Section and
Directorate 

Exempt
Information 
Category

Peter Dosad Housing Services,
Strategic (Ext)

No





Appendix A

HOUSING 
ALLOCATIONS’ 
POLICY
Update September 2018



1

CONTENTS

Section Title Page Number
1 Context and Policy Aims 2
2 Legal Context 2-5
3 General Rules and Conditions

 Decisions
 Persons Eligible for Assistance
 Evidence of Identity and Housing Circumstances
 Income and Savings
 Homeowners
 Changes of Circumstances
 Investigation of Fraud
 Members of the Council, Staff Members and their 

Relations

5-7

4 Eligibility and Assessment
 Banding Criteria
 Classes of Persons that do not Qualify
 Local Connection
 Housing Needs Assessment
 Medical and Welfare Needs Assessment

7-9

5 How the Council Allocates Properties
 Kent Homechoice
 Allocations outside of Kent Homechoice
 Suitability of Accommodation

9-12

6 Transfers and Tenancy Successions
 Housing Association Tenants
 Mutual Exchanges
 Discretionary Succession

12-13

7 Condition and Size of Accommodation
 Types of Property

13-14

8 Procedure for Appeals and Reviews 14
9 Equal Opportunities and Monitoring 14
10 Confidentiality 15
11 Access to Personal Data 16
12 Access to Other Information 16
Annex 1 Dartford Housing Bands 16-19
Annex 2 Criteria for Reasonable Preference 19
Annex 3 Sizes of Homes 20
Annex 4 Community Contribution 20-22
Annex 5 Deliberate Worsening of Housing Conditions 22



2

1. CONTEXT AND POLICY AIMS

1.1. This Allocations’ Policy sets out the criteria and procedures that Dartford Borough 
Council uses to prioritise applicants for housing owned by the Council and a proportion 
of homes owned by our housing association partners in the borough. It details how 
applicants can apply for, and access, social housing and sets out how applicants are 
prioritised on the Council’s housing register. It also sets out other assistance that is 
provided to housing applicants, including advice and access to housing in the private 
rented sector.

1.2. In Dartford, the demand for affordable housing is far greater than the number of homes 
available. This Policy therefore aims to ensure that those in greatest housing need and 
those that make a contribution to the community, are given appropriate priority to 
access available housing.  

1.3. The Policy sets out in detail who does and does not qualify and how this is decided. 
The Policy is designed to meet all legal requirements and to support and contribute 
towards the Council’s wider objectives such as promoting mixed communities and 
making efficient use of the housing stock.

1.4. The key objectives of this Policy are to:
 Provide a fair and transparent system by which people are prioritised for

Housing.
 Help those most in need of housing.
 Promote the development of sustainable mixed communities.
 Make the best use of social housing in the Dartford borough. 
 Make efficient use of our resources and those of our partner Housing 

Associations.

1.5. Social housing in Dartford is allocated through Kent Homechoice which allows 
applicants to view available Council and housing association homes. The system is 
supported by a housing solutions approach giving applicants realistic advice and 
promoting other housing options, such as low cost home ownership and private sector 
renting.

2. LEGAL CONTEXT

2.1. This Policy sits within a legal framework which is summarised in this section.

2.2. The 1996 Housing Act (as amended) requires local authorities to make all allocations 
and nominations in accordance with an Allocations’ Policy. A summary of the 
Allocations’ Policy must be published and made available free of charge to any person 
who asks for a copy. This document is available on the Council’s web site at 
www.dartford.gov.uk/housing and paper copies can be provided on request.

2.3. The Housing Act 1996, (as amended) requires local authorities to give Reasonable 
Preference (see Annex 2) in their Allocations’ Policies to people with high levels of 
assessed housing need; defined as:



3

 All homeless people as defined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (whether or 
not the applicant is owed a statutory homeless duty and regardless of whether 
such cases have any local connection with Dartford Council).

 People who are owed a duty under s,189B, s.190 (2), 193 (2) or 195 of the 
Housing Act 1996 (or under s.65 (2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who 
are occupying accommodation secured by any Housing Authority under s.192 
(3) People occupying insanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory 
housing.

 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including grounds 
relating to a disability).

 People who need to move to a particular locality within the district to avoid 
hardship to themselves or others.

 People serving in the armed forces and suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s service.

 People who have formerly served in the armed forces, where the 
application is made within five years of discharge.

 People who have recently ceased, or will cease, to be entitled to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death of that 
person’s spouse or civil partner who has served in the armed forces and whose 
death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service, or

 People serving or have served in the reserve forces and are suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the 
person’s service.

2.4. The Housing Act 1996 also requires local authorities to state within their Allocations’ 
Policy what its position is on offering applicants a choice of housing accommodation, 
or offering them the opportunity to express preference about the housing 
accommodation to be allocated to them. Our policy on choice is described below in 
Section 5 (Kent Homechoice).

2.5. This Policy complies with the requirements of:

 Housing Act 1996 (as amended)
 Choice Based Lettings Code of Guidance for Housing Authorities 2008
 Fair and Flexible: Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local 

authorities in England 2009
 Localism Act 2011
 Allocation of Accommodation Code of Guidance 2012
 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
 Immigration Act 2016

2.6 The Policy also complies with the following statutory regulations:

 Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483
 Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264
 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 

2006, SI 2006/1294
 Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 

Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869
 Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 



4

Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989
 The Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) Order 2012 (as amended 

by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017)
 The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 

Regulations 2015
 The Homeless (Review Procedure etc.) Regulations 2018
 In formulating the Council’s Allocations’ Policy, we have also had regard to the 

Council’s Homelessness Strategy, Tenancy Strategy and Tenancy Policy. 

2.7 The Policy is subject to the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 and the Equality Act 
2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 (SI 2017/353); and 
specifically, s.149 which states that the Council has a duty to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity, and to foster good relations between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not. The 
Council has undertaken an Equality Impact Assessment and has due regard to the 
protected characteristics as defined in Section 4 of the Equality Act 2010, which are 
age, race, disability, sex, pregnancy and maternity, sexual orientation, religion or 
belief and gender reassignment.

2.8 This Policy has considered:

 The Council’s statutory obligation (strengthened by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017) to provide homelessness services to all eligible 
housing applicants affected by homelessness, not just those who have a 
“priority need”, these include:

(a) An enhanced prevention duty extending the period a household is 
threatened with homelessness from 28 days to 56 days, meaning that 
housing authorities are required to work with people to prevent 
homelessness at an earlier stage (“the prevention duty”); and

(b) A duty for those who are already homeless so that the housing authorities will 
support households for 56 days to relieve their homelessness by helping them 
to secure accommodation (“the relief duty”).

 The Council’s statutory obligation to carry out an assessment in all cases 
where an eligible applicant is homeless or threatened with homelessness 
and following this assessment the duty to develop a personalised housing 
plan which will include actions (or ‘reasonable steps’)’ to be taken by the 
authority and the applicant to try and prevent or relieve homelessness;

 The Council’s statutory obligations and discretion as to who is eligible for 
housing allocation;

 The Council’s statutory obligation to provide Reasonable Preference to 
certain categories of applicants set down by law; 

 The Council’s statutory discretion to grant “additional preference” and/or to 
determine priority between applicants with Reasonable Preference;

 The Council also recognises its discretion to give additional preference to 
particular descriptions of people with urgent housing needs.

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted


5

2.9 Tenancies for council homes are managed according to the Council’s Tenancy Policy 
as required under the Localism Act 2011. Other housing providers have to take 
account of the Council’s Tenancy Policy when setting their own policies.

3. GENERAL RULES AND CONDITIONS

Decisions

3.1. All decisions taken under this Policy will be made by a member of the Housing 
Solutions & Private Sector Team within the Council’s Housing Service. 

Persons Eligible for Assistance

3.2. Persons entitled for assistance must be a partner or a member of the applicant’s 
immediate family who normally reside with the applicant. Any other person or persons 
will only be considered as entitled if the Council is satisfied that it is reasonable for 
that person to reside with the applicant. This will normally exclude lodgers or anyone 
sub-letting from the applicant.

3.3. In cases where parents share the residency of children, and wish to include those 
children as part of their housing application, the housing arrangements of both 
parents will be considered. If one parent has adequate accommodation for the 
children, the children will not be taken into account on the other parent’s application. 
Where a formal residence agreement is not in place, the council will consider:

 Who the children usually live with; and
 Who has financial responsibility for the children; and
 The length of time any arrangement has been in place; and
 Where the children go to school; and 
 Any other relevant information, for example, from social services or health 

care professionals.

3.4.  Only one application per person or household will be considered. 

Evidence of Identity and Housing Circumstances

3.5. Qualifying applicants must provide satisfactory evidence of identity and past and 
current residences for themselves and all household members and proof of income 
(see 3.6). The Council will request documentary evidence from each applicant and 
will conduct such further enquiries as are reasonable in the circumstances, including 
a home visit if necessary. If an applicant fails to provide documentary evidence or 
other information reasonably required by the Council in order to validate the 
application within 56 days, this may affect the priority date awarded to the application.  
An offer of accommodation can only be made once ALL documentary evidence has 
been provided and validated.



6

Income and Savings

3.6. All prospective new tenants will be required to supply evidence of their financial 
income and resources upon application and to declare any significant changes in 
financial or household circumstance where applicable. Where applicants are not able 
to show current entitlement to Income Support or Universal Credit, verification of 
income and savings will be required prior to applicants being offered accommodation. 
 Household income criteria is set out in the Council’s Tenancy Policy according to 
household earnings and size of property required.  Any household with an income 
level exceeding the thresholds set out in the Tenancy Policy, will not be considered 
eligible for social housing.  Similarly where applicants have other resources above 
the level set by the Council in the Tenancy Policy they will also not be classed as 
eligible for social housing.  Households with incomes or assets below these limits will 
be banded according to the criteria set out in this Policy.

Homeowners

3.7 Homeowners will not be eligible for social housing if they already own a 
residential property in the UK or abroad, or part own a property under a shared 
ownership or other subsidised scheme.  This includes applicants who own a property 
but have chosen to rent it out.  Applicants who own a residential caravan, mobile 
home or houseboat are also considered homeowners. In exceptional circumstances 
and, at our discretion, homeowners may qualify for social housing if it can be shown:

 That occupying the home could lead to abuse or endanger the health of the occupant

 That  the applicant has a serious medical condition and is no longer able to remain in 
their property as they have a need for adapted or specialised housing and they do 
not have sufficient funds or access to a grant to make it suitable, and/or are unable 
to afford suitable alternative accommodation.

Such cases will be assessed by the Council on a case by case basis.

Former owner occupiers may be asked to provide proof that they no longer own the property.

Changes of Circumstances

3.8. Once placed in a priority band, applicants should notify the Council, of any material 
change in their circumstances that will affect their priority for housing, for example:

 a change of address, for themselves or any other person on the application;
 any additions to the family or any other person joining the application;
 any member of the family or any other person on the application who has left 

the accommodation;
 any significant change in income or savings;
 a change in employment or volunteering status or any change which may affect 

the community contribution criteria.



7

3.9. Applications may be temporarily suspended while the Council assesses the 
information provided by the applicant and completes further enquiries that may be 
necessary. Further documentation may be required.

3.10. The Council will carry out an assessment of each applicant’s entitlement to and 
priority for re-housing on the basis of information which has been provided by the 
applicant or otherwise received in connection with the applicant.

Investigation of Fraud

3.11. The Council recognises its duty to protect the public resources it administers. Detailed 
enquiries about applications will therefore be made in order to guard against 
misrepresentation and fraud as set out in the Council’s Tenancy Fraud Policy.  
Applications will be immediately suspended if there is evidence of misrepresentation 
or fraud until enquiries are completed.

3.12. Any applicant seeking to obtain accommodation by making a false or misleading 
statement or by withholding relevant information or by failing to inform the Council of 
any material change in circumstances, is liable to have his/her application cancelled. 
Prosecution will be considered where it appears to the Council that a criminal offence 
has been committed. Proceedings for possession will be taken to recover any tenancy 
granted as a consequence of a fraudulent application for housing.

Members of the Council, Staff Members and their Relations

3.13. In order to ensure that the Council is seen to be treating all applicants fairly, any 
application for housing or rehousing from Members of the Council, employees of the 
Council or associated persons must be disclosed. These applications will be 
assessed in the normal way but any allocation of housing will require approval by the 
Head of Housing.

4. ELIGIBILITY AND ASSESSMENT

4.1. The Council operates a housing banding system to determine who will be prioritised 
for housing in the borough and who will not be eligible. The housing bands are set 
out in Annex 1.

4.2. Applicants must be over the age of eighteen to join the housing register, with some 
exceptions. 

4.3. Anyone can approach the Council for housing advice and assistance, however, as 
social housing in Dartford is very limited, the Council can only assist qualifying 
households. 

4.4. People subject to immigration control and certain other people from abroad, excluded 
by law or regulation, are not eligible for social housing.

4.5. The exception to this being those transferred under section 67 of the Immigration Act 
2016 who qualify for refugee status or humanitarian protection.  



8

4.6. These persons will be eligible for social housing and homelessness assistance under 
regulations 3 and 5 of the Eligibility Regulations. Under the new Section 67 of the 
Immigration Act 2016 leave will be granted to those transferred under section 67 who, 
following an assessment of their asylum claim, do not qualify for international 
protection.

4.7. The Council will disregard as members of the household those who are restricted 
such as: 

 those who are subject to immigration control
 those with no leave to enter or remain in the UK
 those with leave but subject to a condition of no recourse to public funds.
 Any other restrictions that may apply as set out by Government 

4.8.  The following classes of person will not normally qualify to join the housing register 
and will be placed into Band E.  There is discretion to waive these classes in 
exceptional circumstances, as approved by an appropriate manager:

a) Applicants who have not resided in the borough continually for the last two years at 
the point of application;

b) Applicants who have been convicted of housing or welfare benefits related;
fraud where that conviction is unspent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders
Act 1974 (any person may re-apply once this conviction is spent);

c) Applicants whose income or assets exceed the limits set by the Council, as set out in 
the Council’s Tenancy Policy;

d) Applicants who owe arrears of rent or other accommodation charges to the
Council, or other social landlord, in respect of the current tenancy or former 
accommodation. In assessing the application for registration, the Council will take 
into account the size of the debt, the means to pay and the degree of need;

e) Applicants who owe money to the Council in any other capacity;
f) Applicants in serious breach of their Tenancy Agreement as defined in the Council’s 

Tenancy Policy;
g) Persons who are regarded as homeowners, with some exceptions (please refer to 

3.8).  

4.9. In all other cases, the Council will have regard to the Government’s Code of Guidance 
on the Allocation of Accommodation 2012.

Local Connection

4.10. Local connection within the terms of this Policy will normally mean that an applicant 
has lived continuously in this borough for a minimum of 2 years up to and including 
the date of their application, unless local connection is determined by current 
homeless legislation or they fall within the category of armed service personnel as 
defined in Annex 4.

4.11. Local connection may also be awarded to people who need to move to a particular 
locality in the borough, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to 
themselves or to others. 



9

4.12. Households placed in the borough of Dartford in temporary accommodation by 
another local authority will not normally be considered to have a local connection.

4.13. Applicants who have been placed in long term temporary accommodation (Dartford 
Private Leasing Scheme) will be placed in Band D until such time as their needs 
change. In such cases, the applicant’s banding will be reviewed. 

4.14. In those cases where an applicant has spent time away from Dartford in an institution, 
e.g. prison, mental health, drug and alcohol treatment centres, the Council will give 
regard to local connection prior to time spent away. 

Medical and Welfare Needs Assessment

4.15. A medical and welfare needs assessment will only be carried out if an applicant has 
an application on the housing register and provided a medical and welfare needs 
assessment form with supporting evidence. In some instances, an independent 
assessment will be carried out by the Council’s approved medical practitioner.

4.16. Any medical and/or Welfare needs assessment will be carried out in line with the 
Council’s current welfare and medical assessment procedures.  

4.17. Band D applicants from outside the borough will not progress to a higher band under 
a medical and welfare needs assessment but identified medical needs will be taken 
into account upon any allocation of a property, for example wheelchair accessibility.

Housing Scheme Accommodation for over 55’s

4.18 Applicants who apply for Housing Scheme Accommodation, will be subject to a 
Needs & Risk Assessment.  Whereby consideration will be given to the following;

 Whether the applicant has a need for this specific type of accommodation with 
enhanced housing management; 

 That the applicant has an understanding of the support provided and will engage 
with the service;

 That they will not present a risk to the vulnerable group of individuals who are 
already living there.

5. HOW THE COUNCIL ALLOCATES PROPERTIES

Kent Homechoice

5.1. Dartford Borough Council is a member of Kent Homechoice, a Kent-wide choice based 
lettings scheme. This means that the Council will advertise properties that are available 
to let to applicants who fall into one of the housing bands described in Annex 1. This 
will include council and housing association properties.

5.2. As permitted under current legislation, the Council will exercise its right to suspend 
choice based lettings where business needs dictate this is necessary.  



10

5.3. Priority for council and housing association properties will be determined by housing 
band, with those applicants in Band A having a greater priority than those in bands B 
and those in Band B having greater priority than those in Band C and so on.  

5.4. Within bands, priority will be determined by date order; that is the date of application.  
However, if a household’s circumstances change and they are placed in a higher 
banding, the effective date will be reset.  An applicant moving down within the banding 
system, will always retain their effective date from their original band.  This is to ensure 
that other applicant’s waiting times are not unfairly compromised.

5.5. In considering priority for re-housing between applicants with a similar priority, the 
Council will also take account of the immediacy of need of each applicant. This means, 
for example, that where two applicants in the same band are interested in the same 
property and they have equal waiting time, preference may be given where one of the 
applicants is facing a more immediate loss of their existing home than the other.

5.6. If an applicant has multiple needs this will NOT increase their priority.  In each case, 
the most urgent housing need will apply and the applicant will be placed in the banding 
most suitable for their needs.

5.7. In some circumstances a direct offer will be made to applicants in Band A as detailed 
in Annex 1. 

5.8. The circumstances of Band A applicants will be regularly reviewed to ensure the 
household still meets the banding criteria.  Failure to bid will be taken into consideration 
when reviewing an applicant’s circumstances.

5.9. All applicants in Band A will only be made one offer of accommodation (including 
through successful bidding on Kent Homechoice).  This is to ensure that a household’s 
urgent housing needs are met as quickly as possible.  A refusal of a direct offer or a 
refusal following a successful bid will be considered by an appropriate senior manager.

5.10. Adverts may state if a property is targeted at certain applicants, e.g. over a certain age 
or at households with a specific medical need (for example, ground floor 
accommodation). They may also be targeted towards specific application groups such 
as those that are downsizing. 

Allocations outside of Kent Homechoice

5.11. The Council reserves the right to restrict the operation of Kent Homechoice to certain 
groups of applicants or to make direct offers of accommodation to households waiting 
for re-housing in order to fulfil its housing management duties and responsibilities.  
Decisions to allocate properties outside of Kent Homechoice will be authorised by the 
Head of Housing. 

5.12. A statutory homelessness criterion applies to applicants who are owed a 
homelessness duty to secure accommodation under S.193 Housing Act 1996. In some 
cases, a direct and final suitable offer may be made to households owed a homeless 
duty. 



11

5.13. The Council considers a property to be suitable if it is the correct bedroom size for the 
household and meets any medical needs that have already been predetermined.

5.14. Where an applicant wishes to appeal the suitability of an offer of Council owned 
accommodation, the property will be held available whilst the appeal is considered. 

5.15. Applicants are still able to bid for a property under Kent Homechoice up until the point 
a direct offer is made.  If an applicant successfully bids for a property, this will count as 
a final offer of accommodation made under homeless legislation.

Suitability of accommodation 

5.16. Where accommodation is offered outside of Kent Homechoice, an applicant will 
normally be expected to accept an offer of a suitable property that meets their needs 
(housing and medical). 

5.17. The Council will seek to take into account an applicant’s particular or special needs but 
it will not always be possible to ensure that these needs are met. In considering what 
is reasonable, the Council will have regard to the overall supply of council 
accommodation and the demands placed upon it by all priority groups.

5.18. As a guideline and subject to the individual circumstances of each application, the 
Council will normally consider that a property is suitable if:

 It is in an area that the Council considers to be reasonable for the applicant to 
reside in.  This will include; 

 If it is in an area that is to be safe for them to reside in.
 It is sized in accordance with the criteria in Annex 3.
 It complies with any recommendation made by a Medical or other relevant 

advisor.

5.19. An offer of accommodation which is arranged by way of a nomination to a housing 
association or private sector property will be considered to be as reasonable as an 
offer of a council tenancy and will discharge the Council’s homelessness duty (as 
prescribed in the Localism Act 2011).

Move on from supported accommodation 

5.20. Priority may be given to applicants that are moving on from supported accommodation 
which has been agreed by Dartford Borough Council in one of the following ways;

 Move on from supported accommodation where Dartford Borough Council has 
discharged the functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been 
identified and confirmed in the Personalised Housing Plan (this can be for 
accommodation that falls outside of the borough); 

 Move on from supported accommodation provided as part of the duties under 
Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 prior to April 3rd 2018 and as determined by 
Dartford Council; 

 Where a priority referral has been accepted by the local authority under the Kent 
Agency Assessment Procedure (Joint Stock referrals);



12

 Move on from any other supported accommodation as agreed by Dartford 
Borough Council. 

5.21. In some circumstances a direct offer will be made to applicants where a move on 
has been agreed.  

5.22. Only one offer of accommodation (including through successful bidding on Kent 
Homechoice) will be made.  This is to ensure that a household’s urgent housing 
needs are met as quickly as possible.  A refusal of a direct offer or a refusal following 
a successful bid will be considered by an appropriate senior manager.

5.23. In some circumstances, move on cases may be escalated to Band A.  This would 
be at the discretion of the Council and would be agreed by the Head of Housing.  

6. TRANSFERS AND TENANCY SUCCESSIONS

6.1. Applications for a transfer may be made jointly by separate tenants of the Council 
who wish to apply for housing together, on the condition that both tenancies will be 
relinquished if the Council makes an acceptable offer of a transfer to a third property.

6.2. On occasion it may be necessary for a council tenant to move out of their existing 
home to allow major works to be carried out or because their home is due to be 
demolished. In these circumstances, the Council will use its discretion to prioritise a 
move to a suitable alternative home by placing the tenant in Band A at an appropriate 
time.

6.3. Council tenants who have to move because major works are required to their home 
will have the option of moving back to their original home once the works have been 
completed in accordance with the Council’s Decant Policy 2018.

6.4. Tenants with Introductory Tenancies will not be eligible to apply for a transfer. Unless 
exceptional circumstances apply.  

Housing Association tenants

6.5. Dartford housing association tenants are eligible to apply to join the Council’s transfer 
list with the agreement of their current landlord.

Mutual Exchanges

6.6. Lifetime Secure and flexible tenants have certain rights in relation to exchanging their 
tenancies with other tenants. These do not fall within the scope of this Policy, and full 
details of how these schemes operate can be found in the Council’s Mutual Exchange 
Policy.

6.7. In some cases, a local lettings policy may be in place which may restrict a mutual 
exchange if the tenant has not held a secure tenancy for at least 12 months.



13

Discretionary Succession

6.8. Housing law means that certain household members are entitled to succeed to a 
council tenancy when the tenant dies. This statutory right only applies to the first time 
that a succession occurs, but beyond this, the Council will use its discretion to allow 
additional successions to take place in the following circumstances:  

 The person applying for succession has lived continuously in the property as 
their principle home for twelve months before the death of the tenant and:

 They are the spouse or civil partner of the tenant
 The property is suitable for their needs. 

6.9. Where a property is not suitable for the person applying to succeed, for example 
because it is too large, the Council will provide assistance to find alternative 
accommodation.  This could include an offer of accommodation in the private rented 
sector. Where a discretionary succession is agreed, the tenancy will be treated as a 
new tenancy which means that in most cases a flexible tenancy will be granted, 
unless the applicant falls within a category of people who will still be granted a lifetime 
tenancy (full details can be found in the Council’s Tenancy Policy 2013). 

7. CONDITION AND SIZE OF ACCOMMODATION

7.1. All accommodation offered will be habitable and in reasonable repair, in accordance 
with the Council’s Void Policy.

7.2. The size of accommodation offered will depend upon the size and composition of the 
applicant’s household. The requirements for each size of household are set out in 
Annex 3.

7.3. Larger accommodation than specified in Annex 3 may be considered in exceptional 
circumstances in accordance with current Housing Benefit/Universal Credit 
regulations or any such regulations that may be introduced.

7.4. In calculating the number of bedrooms available within properties, the Council will 
treat every habitable room as a bedroom except kitchens, bathrooms and one room 
for use as a living room. The Council will normally consider additional downstairs 
rooms in houses for use as bedrooms in accordance with Housing Benefit 
regulations.

7.5. Management transfers which have been agreed due to extreme circumstances such 
as violent assault, harassment etc. will be able to move to alternative accommodation 
if it is the only viable resolution to their current difficulties. Moves will only be agreed 
where the alternative accommodation is the same size and type as they currently 
occupy unless there are exceptional circumstances or they need smaller 
accommodation.  This decision will be made by the Head of Housing according to the 
management transfer process and procedure. 



14

Types of Property
7.6. Some properties or blocks of properties are designated for allocation only to applicants 

sharing a common characteristic or need, for example:
 Properties in blocks of flats for people aged over 40, or aged over 50
 Properties in housing schemes for people over 55
 Properties in housing schemes offering special services
 Individual properties which are adapted or otherwise particularly suitable for 

applicants who use a wheelchair
Kent Homechoice will specify what type of property is being offered in the advert.

8.  PROCEDURE FOR APPEALS AND REVIEWS

8.1. All applicants have the right to request general information about their application.  
Applicants will be notified of this in writing where requested. 

8.2. If an applicant wishes to request a review of the banding decision, they must make this 
within 21 days.  Any request for a review must be made in writing and clearly set out 
the reasons why an applicant does not agree with the Council’s decision.   The Council 
will seek any further information it requires, including advice from medical and other 
specialist advisors. Formal reviews will be conducted by a team leader or manager 
within the Council’s Housing Service with no previous involvement in the case who will 
notify the applicant of the outcome of the review, including the reasons for their 
decision, within 56 days from the date of the review request.

9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND MONITORING

9.1. The Council is committed to the principle of equal opportunities in the delivery of all its 
services.

9.2. Applicants will be invited to indicate if they wish to make use of the Council’s translation 
and interpretation services, or if they require other special services as a result of visual 
impairment, hearing difficulties or other disability.

9.3. The Council will only offer an advocacy service to applicants who can demonstrate that 
they are unable to successfully place a bid, including on-line, or by post or telephone 
and where there is no other person who can do this for them

9.4. Confidential interview facilities are provided at the Council offices and there is full 
access for people who use a wheelchair.  Home interview services are available for 
applicants who are elderly or who experience mobility difficulties.

9.5. This Policy is being operated in a manner that is fair to all sections of the community. 
The information provided will be kept confidential and treated with respect in 
accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018.

9.6. All applicants for housing or rehousing will be asked to provide details such as ethnic 
origin and disability. This is not however, a requirement for acceptance of an 
application. Equalities’ records will be kept and monitored on a regular and systematic 
basis to ensure properties are being offered and allocated fairly and in line with The  
Equality Act 2010 and data protection provisions.

9.7. The Allocations’ Policy will be reviewed regularly to ensure it does not operate in ways 
that discriminate against or disadvantage any particular group



15

10. CONFIDENTIALITY

10.1. The disclosure of information about any housing application to a third party is prohibited 
unless the applicant has agreed to the disclosure or if the information is required  on a 
“need to know” basis in the following circumstances:

 to plan and provide assistance jointly with health and social services
agencies in appropriate cases;

 for the purpose of fraud detection, the prevention of crime, and the
promotion of community safety;

 to enable efficient administration of offers of rehousing, lettings, housing
association nominations, and rent and benefit accountancy etc. where 
disclosure is a legal requirement.

11. ACCESS TO PERSONAL DATA

11.1. The Data Protection Act 2018 (applying the General Data Protection Regulation) 
provides individuals with a right to request access to any of their personal data held by 
the Council, and a right to know where the data came from, how it is used and why it 
is held. Such a request is called a “subject access request” (SAR) and applies to 
personal data in housing files.

11.2. Subject access requests should be made in writing to the Council and must describe 
the information sought. Applications must state their name and provide proof of their 
identity, such as a copy of a passport, driving licence, or recent utility bill.

11.3. Any applications made by third parties on behalf of an applicant (for example by a 
lawyer acting for a client) must be accompanied by written evidence of authority to act. 
If this is not possible by reason of disability then the Council should be contacted in 
order to make alternative arrangements.

11.4. Once the Council has received the information it must begin processing the request 
and respond within 30 days. There is a limited range of exemptions from the right of 
subject access.

11.5. Housing files may contain information about other people (third parties), such as details 
of complaints made by other tenants, or comments made by housing staff. If the 
Council cannot respond to a request without giving information about other people, it 
is not obliged to include this information in its response unless they consent, or unless 
it thinks it is reasonable in all the circumstances to disclose this information without 
their consent.

11.6. Under the DPA, applicants also have inter alia, the right to challenge the accuracy of 
information held on them and may request the correction of records which they believe 
to be inaccurate. Data subject rights are explained in the Council’s Corporate Privacy 
Notice www.dartford.gov.uk and service specific privacy notices. The exercise of these 
rights by data subjects is in accordance with the Council’s data protection policies and 
procedures.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


16

12. ACCESS TO OTHER INFORMATION

12.1. Anyone has the right to request access to recorded information held by the Council, 
either under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) or, for environmental 
information, the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIRs). 

12.2. Requests under the FOIA must be made in writing, must include the applicant’s name 
and a correspondence address and must specifically describe the information 
requested. Requests under the EIRs must also comply with these regulations except 
that they can be made verbally. Please address requests under the FOIA or EIRs to 
the “FOI Officer” at the Council’s postal address or to foi@Dartford.gov.uk.

12.3. Once a valid request has been received the Council must respond within 20 working 
days unless an extension of time has been agreed.

12.4. Requests made by individuals under FOIA for their own personal data will be treated 
as “subject access requests” under the DPA.

ANNEX 1 – DARTFORD HOUSING BANDS

Band A – Urgent Housing Needs

Applications from persons who meet the following criteria:

a. Urgent (high) medical or welfare needs in accordance with the Council’s Medical 
Assessment process.  

b. Where a high priority referral has been accepted by the local authority under the Kent 
Agency Assessment Procedure (Joint Stock referrals).  

c. Management transfers or reciprocal arrangements where the social landlord requires 
the tenant to move or the tenant needs to move due to violence, harassment, 
intimidation or threats of violence likely to be carried out.  

d. Major works to the Council’s property have to be carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s Decant Policy 2018. 

e. Households who are under-occupying their social housing property.
f. Other urgent management reason agreed by the Head of Housing.
g. Escalation of move on cases as agreed by the Head of Housing 

Band B – Serious Housing Needs

Applications from persons where none of the above in Band A applies but who meet the 
following criteria:

a. Eligible households who have reasonable preference (band C) and who qualify under 
the Community Contribution category as defined in Annex 4.

mailto:foi@barnet.gov.uk


17

b. Medium medical or welfare needs in accordance with the Council’s Medical 
Assessment process.

c. Where a medium priority referral has been accepted by the local authority under the 
Kent Agency Assessment Procedure (Joint Stock referrals).  

d. Households occupying a majorly adapted property where that property is no longer 
required (to be agreed by Dartford Borough Council).

e. Where a household is suffering from the following:

 Major overcrowding, that is lacking two or more bedrooms. See      Annex Three.
 Living in a housing scheme with support and needs to move as support is no 

longer required.
 Where a Category One hazard exists under the Housing Health and Safety 

Hazard Rating System which cannot be resolved within a reasonable time.

Band C – Reasonable Preference

Applications from persons where none of the above in band A or band B applies but who 
meet the following criteria:

a. Low medical or welfare needs in accordance with the Council’s Medical Assessment 
process.

b. Armed forces personnel who fulfill the criteria.
c. Move on from accommodation where Dartford Borough Council has discharged the 

functions under the HRA 2017 and where this has been identified and confirmed in 
the Personalised Housing Plan (FYI this could be supported, PRS, family etc.) Or;

d. Discretion has been given to applicants under the HRA 2017 where it has been 
assessed that social housing is the only/most appropriate solution and are likely to 
be in priority need. 

e. Applicants with no fixed abode where proof of local connection can be established 
through for example doctors, dental, Job Centre or council held records or any other 
records that may be available.

f. Applicants leaving prison where a local connection, under the terms of this policy, 
prior to incarceration, can be established.

g. People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions.  This would apply, for example, if a person was 
lacking basic facilities, or was overcrowded.

h. People who need to move to Dartford, where failure to meet that need would cause 
hardship to themselves or to others. For example, to give or receive care that is 
substantial and ongoing. 

The full criterion for assessing Reasonable Preference can be found in Annex Two.



18

Band D – Reduced Priority 

Applications from persons where none of the above in Band A, band B or band C applies, 
or: 

 People who are intentionally homeless where a decision has been made by the local 
authority under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) or, where a person 
has deliberately worsened their housing circumstances (such as deliberate 
overcrowding) and would have been found to be intentionally homeless if an 
application under Part VII had been made.  

 Applicants owed Reasonable Preference but who have been given reduced priority 
but are owed, or are likely to be owed, a duty under s.193 (2) or 195 (2) of the Housing 
Act 1996 (or unders.65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985). Those households owed 
a full homeless duty in suitable long term temporary accommodation will be allocated 
Band D

 People who are homeless by another local authority.  This applies where a duty is 
owed by another local authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the Housing 
Act 1996, or who are occupying accommodation secured by another local authority 
under section 192(3)

 Applicants who have been placed in long term temporary accommodation by the 
Council (see 3.9.) including Dartford Private Leasing Scheme properties.

 Applicants who have no local connection with the Borough but are aged over 55 and 
who qualify for housing in a scheme for older persons, following a completed needs 
and risk assessment.  

Deliberately worsening of circumstances (see Annex 5) 

Band E – general without priority 

 Applications from persons where none of the above in band A, band B, C or D applies, 
and;

 They have no local connection with the district as defined by this Policy, and/or;
 They meet or exceed the financial threshold set out in the Council’s Tenancy Policy 

and/or;
 They do not have urgent medical or welfare need. 

ANNEX TWO – CRITERIA FOR REASONABLE PREFERENCE 

Insanitary, overcrowded and unsatisfactory housing conditions, for example:

a. Living in insecure housing, for example on a licence agreement or non-secure 
tenancy, excluding owner occupiers

b. Lacking bathroom or kitchen
c. Lacking inside WC
d. Lacking cold or hot water supplies, electricity, gas, or adequate heating
e. Overcrowding (see Appendix Three)
f. Property in disrepair, with a Category 1 hazard
g. Property unfit as defined by the Housing and Regeneration Act



19

People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (criteria may apply to any 
member of the household):

Medical or welfare priority is awarded where the current housing is adversely affecting the 
health or wellbeing of an applicant, or member of their household, and whereby a move 
would positively improve their health or wellbeing. Below are examples of where priority 
would be awarded (not applicable to Band D applicants).

Band A – Urgent medical or welfare needs

a. Any life threatening illness being made worse by housing conditions
b. A person who is housebound due to stairs or steps (e.g. using a wheelchair in an 

upstairs property) 
c. Any person who requires specifically adapted accommodation which they are lacking.  

d. Any person who cannot be released from hospital until alternative accommodation is 
secured.

Band C – People needing to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds 
relating to a disability

a. Severe mental health problems affected by current accommodation.
b. Elderly persons with moderate to severe arthritis which significantly affects mobility 

living in accommodation that is unsuitable for their needs (e.g. living upstairs or on a 
steep hill).  

c. Conditions requiring on going medical treatment, being very severely exacerbated by 
living conditions.  

d. Conditions causing a reduction in mobility when combined with stairs or poor location.  

ANNEX 3 – SIZES OF HOMES

When considering whether a household is suffering from overcrowding, a local authority will 
take into account both the number of bedrooms and number of bed spaces available to the 
household.

Kitchens and living rooms are not bedrooms for the purpose of the assessment. The 
intended function of the room will be considered rather than its current use, although for 
example in the case of a dwelling that has two separate reasonable sized living/dining 
rooms, it may be that one of these rooms will be considered as bedroom accommodation, 
as long as there remains sufficient living space for the household.

For the purposes of this assessment the Council considers that for the people below the 
following bedrooms will be required:

a) A single person of working age would be entitled to one beds pace in one bedroom.  
This could include a bedsit or shared accommodation



20

b) a person living together with another as husband and wife (whether that other person 
is of the same sex or the opposite sex) would be entitled to a bedroom with two bed 
spaces in one bedroom.

c) a person aged 21 years or more would be entitled to one beds pace in one bedroom 
within the family home.

d) two persons of the same sex aged 0 years to 20 years would be entitled to one 
bedroom with two bed spaces.

e) two persons (whether of the same sex or not) aged less than 10 years would be 
entitled to one bedroom with two bed spaces.

f) two persons of opposite sexes where one person is aged 10 or over would be entitled 
to one bedroom each with one beds space each.

Bed spaces refers to the number of beds that can reasonably be accommodated in each 
room.

.
ANNEX 4 - COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTION

If a household or person in housing need qualifies for ‘reasonable preference’ under a 
community contribution award they will be placed in Band B.  This includes the following 
groups:

1. Working Households

This Policy aims to support the economic growth of Dartford. The Council wants to 
encourage people who can, to work and to raise their levels of aspiration and ambition. The 
Council will offer increased priority to applicants who are working but are on a low income 
and will therefore find difficulty in accessing outright home ownership, low cost home 
ownership or private rented accommodation. 

Definition of Working Households

Households where at least one adult household member is in employment. For the purposes 
of this Allocations Policy employment is described as having a permanent contract, working 
as a temporary member of staff or being self-employed.

Applicants will only qualify if the worker has been employed for 6 out of the last 12 months. 
Verification will be sought at point of application as well as point of offer under the same 
terms. Applicants must provide payslips, P60, bank statements or a verifying letter on 
headed paper in order to qualify.

2. Volunteering

Volunteers must have been volunteering for a continuous period of at least 6 months up to 
the point of application and the same at point of offer. Volunteering must be for a minimum 
of 10 hours per month.  

Evidence required for voluntary work.



21

A letter on the organisations’ headed paper from the manager responsible for volunteers 
confirming the applicant volunteers for a minimum of 10 hours per month for at least 6 
months.  This person must not be related to the applicant in any way.

3.  Service and ex service personnel

The following applicants will qualify for a community contribution if they fall within a statutory 
reasonable preference category.  

a) Serving members of the regular forces who are suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service

b) Former members of the regular forces who have been discharged within the 
past 10 years, who have a housing need and can demonstrate a local link1

c) Bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular forces where: 
(i) the bereaved spouse or civil partner has recently ceased, or will cease to 

be entitled, to reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation following the 
death of their service spouse or civil partner, and 

(ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their service

d) Existing or former members of the reserve forces who are suffering from a serious 
injury, illness, or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service

Service with the armed forces may be confirmed with the Royal British Legion.

4. Prospective Foster Carers or Adopters

The Council recognises the contribution that Dartford foster carers and adopters make 
towards ensuring that children in care receive a good service in the Dartford area. In order 
to qualify for a community contribution award under this policy, applicants will require a letter 
from Kent County Council Children’s Service confirming that they have been approved as a 
Dartford foster carer or adopter and that they are in a position to take one or more 
placements.

5. Carers

a) Carers qualify for the community contribution award under this Policy and are 
identified as the following;

 Applicants who undertake formal care of dependents and are in receipt of carers 
allowance or care element of a current disability benefit. Or;

 A carer is someone who with or without payment provides help and support to a 
partner, relative, friend or neighbour, who would not manage without their help. This 
could be due to age, physical or mental health, addiction, or disability. In all cases 
the carer must have been identified by the applicant as the person who is primarily 
responsible for providing them with care, and the need to live with them or near them.

1 This will not be the local connection as set out in section 4.7. However, applicant must have a demonstrable link to 
the borough such as previous residence, family or employment 



22

b) Even if a carer is in receipt of Carer’s Allowance this does not necessarily mean that 
it is necessary for them to reside with the person who is being cared for. An 
application to include a carer in a housing application will be considered if the carer 
has been assessed by Social Care and Health as needing to provide overnight 
support. In these circumstances the applicant must provide supporting evidence from 
other agencies e.g. Social Care or a Health professional.

In all cases above, full contact details must be provided which will be verified by the Council.

ANNEX 5 – DELIBERATE WORSENING OF CIRCUMSTANCES

Where there is evidence that a customer has deliberately made their housing situation worse 
in order to gain a higher priority on the register, the assessment of their needs will be based 
on the circumstances before their situation changed through their deliberate worsening of 
their circumstances. 

Examples of this are:

 Customers who have allowed family members or others to move into their property, who 
previously had suitable accommodation or the financial means to secure their own 
accommodation, and this has resulted in the property being overcrowded.

 Customers who have moved from previously suitable or more suitable accommodation 
which it were reasonable for them to continue to occupy, into a less suitable property.

 Homeowners who have transferred their property to another family member within the 
last 5 years from the date they make their application to the Register. 

 Giving up affordable and suitable private rented accommodation which they are able to 
maintain, to move in with other relatives or friends, creating a situation of overcrowding 
and/or sharing of bathroom/kitchen and/or a split household;

 Requesting or colluding with a landlord or family member to issue them with a Notice to 
Quit

These are examples only. There will be other circumstances considered to decide whether 
an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances





CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

DRAFT PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ENFORCEMENT AND 
LICENSING POLICY 2018 

1. Summary
1.1. The Council’s current Enforcement Policy has been operational since June 2014.  

Since then, operational and legislative changes have been introduced and as a 
consequence, the Policy has been revised and updated to reflect these changes; 
including extended powers in respect of the licencing of houses in multiple 
occupation and those contained in the Housing and Planning Act 2016.

1.2. This report sets out the major changes to the Policy and presents an updated version.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That Cabinet approve the draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement and 
Licensing Policy attached at Appendix A to the report. 

2.2. That the Strategic Director (External Services)  be granted delegated authority 
to approve any minor revisions to the Policy as required.  

3. Background and Discussion.

3.1. The Council’s existing Enforcement Policy relating to Private Sector Housing was 
last reviewed and updated in 2014.  Over the last few years there have been 
significant changes to the context in which the Council’s Private Sector Housing 
service operates and as a result the Policy is in need of updating. Changes 
include: 
 an increase in the proportion of housing in the Borough that is privately rented, 

reflecting national trends; 
 changes to national legislation relating to the private rented sector, with an 

increasing emphasis on statutory regulation.

3.2. A new Enforcement and Licensing Policy has now been produced that relates 
solely to the Council’s Private Sector Housing functions, including the licensing of 
houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) (see 3.18 and Annex 2 of the Policy for full 
details).  The Policy sets out how Officers will carry out enforcement activities and 
ensure that service users are fully aware of what to expect from the Council.  

3.3. The Policy’s  primary purpose is to ensure that: 
 Tenants of private landlords live in homes that are free of unacceptable 

hazards and risks to their health and safety; 
 All HMOs are safe and well managed and all relevant management 

regulations are adhered to; 
 All licensable properties are licensed and all licensing conditions are met; 
 Private Landlords comply with their statutory obligations in relation to 

housing standards and management

3.4. The Policy is designed to provide comprehensive details of the principles, 
processes and penalties with which the Council will seek to comply when taking 
action to ensure that all private sector housing in the Borough is healthy, well 
managed and safe.



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

3.5. Civil Penalties, Rent Repayment Orders and Banning Orders.

3.6. The Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides new powers for local housing 
authorities to issue ‘Civil Penalties’. The use of these new powers will support and 
complement the current housing enforcement work undertaken, including HMO 
licensing.  They add a new powerful deterrent to criminal landlord behaviour 
through the levying of significant financial penalties of up to £30,000 for each 
offence committed without the need for formal prosecution proceedings.  Full 
details of Civil Penalties can be found in Annex 1 of the Policy.

3.7. If these proposals are agreed, the Council can impose a Civil Penalty as an 
alternative to prosecution for the following offences under the Housing Act 2004.

 Failure to comply with an improvement notice (section 30); 
 Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs (section 72); 
 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (section 95) 

(selective licensing scheme); 
 Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139); 
 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs (section 234) 

(for example those involving household waste control); 
 Breaching a banning order (Housing and Planning Act, section 23) 

3.8. The Housing and Planning Act 2016 (the Act) introduced a power for the First-tier 
Tribunal to serve a Banning Order on a landlord or property agent. Banning Orders 
came into force on 1 October 2017 and can prevent any person/subject from letting 
housing, engaging in letting agency or management work and from holding a property 
licence in England. Banning order offences include failing to comply with an 
Improvement Notice/Prohibition Order/HMO Licensing breaches /Unlawful eviction 
and harassment of occupier. For full details of Banning Orders see Annex 3 of the 
Policy. 

3.9. The penalty for breaching a Banning Order, upon summary conviction, is either a fine, 
or possible imprisonment for a period not exceeding 51 weeks, or both. 

3.10. The Housing Act 2004 introduced ‘Rent Repayment Orders’ (RROs) to recover 
housing benefit/universal credit paid to landlords who are running unlicensed 
properties (see Section 10 of the Policy for further details). A RRO is made by the 
First-tier Tribunal requiring a landlord to repay a specified amount of rent.   RROs 
have now been extended through the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to cover a 
much wider range of offences. The new grounds for seeking a RRO are:- 
 Failure to comply with an improvement notice under section 30 of the Housing 

Act 2004 
 Failure to comply with a prohibition order under section 32 of the Housing Act 

2004; 
 Breach of a Banning Order made under section 21 of the Housing & Planning Act 

2016; 
 Using violence to secure entry to a property under section 6 of the Criminal Law 

Act 1977; and 
 Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers of a property under section 1 of 

the Protection from Eviction Act 1977. 



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018


3.11. Officers will assess each case carefully to decide whether to issue a Civil Penalty or 

undertake other enforcement interventions in line with this Policy. If a Civil Penalty is 
imposed, a prosecution cannot be sought subsequently. Banning Orders would be 
reserved for the worst offenders, therefore Civil Penalties would potentially form the 
bulk of the enforcement action for any relevant breaches of the Housing Act 2004. 

3.12. It should also be noted that civil penalties cannot be issued unless the evidence has 
met the criminal standard of proof (i.e. ‘beyond reasonable doubt). 

3.13. Civil Penalties are subject to appeal to the First Tier Tribunal (FTT), so it is important 
that the Council sets penalties at a reasonable level, which it can successfully defend 
upon appeal. 

3.14. The 2017 Department of Communities & Local Government Guidance ‘Civil penalties 
under the Housing and Planning Act 2016’ has been used to develop a methodology 
to assess the circumstances of each case. This is with a view to determining the most 
appropriate penalty which can be imposed, up to a maximum of £30,000 for each 
offence committed. This methodology will be used to offer transparency and aid 
consistency in the enforcement process and will assist in defending appeals against 
either the imposition of a Civil Penalty and the penalty amount. This methodology will 
be kept under review and will be revised as necessary to take account of any relevant 
regulations or guidance released by the Secretary of State. 

3.15. The Council will be required by law to input details of Banning Orders into the Rogue 
Landlord Database under section 29 of the Act. The database enables all local 
authorities to record information about, and target enforcement action against, any 
landlord or property agent who has: received a banning order; been convicted of a 
banning order offence; received 2 or more Civil Penalties over a 12 month period. 
There will be a small additional cost to the Service to comply with this requirement. 

The above powers are not retrospective and will not apply to offences committed 
before the official date of implementation which was 6 April 2018.

3.16. The Council has a statutory duty and powers to deal with poor housing conditions in 
privately rented accommodation. The role of the Private Sector Housing team is to 
raise standards and ensure compliance with legislation. This is mostly done through 
advice and support but, where required, the new enforcement powers will be used 
and the new Policy at Appendix A provides a clear framework in which to conduct 
this.

3.17. Extension of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing.

3.18. A full definition of what constitutes an HMO is contained in sections 254 and 258 of 
the Housing Act 2004.  With effect from 1 October 2018 this scheme will apply to all 
HMOs that meet the following criteria:

 Is occupied by five or more persons
 Is occupied by persons living in two or more separate households and

meets:



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

(i) The standard test under section 254(2) of the Act; any building in which two or more 
families/individuals share basic amenities

(ii) The self-contained flat test under section 254(3) of the Act but is not a purpose-built 
flat situated in a block comprising three or more self-contained flats; or

(iii) The converted building test under section 254(4) of the Act. any converted building 
which comprises of one or more units of accommodation that are not self-contained

3.19. Some new additional licensing conditions have also been introduced relating to 
minimum sleeping room sizes and to storage and disposal of refuse.

3.20. The scheme will apply to the whole of the Borough of Dartford currently administered 
by Dartford Borough Council.  Full details of HMO Licensing can be found in Annex 
2 of the Policy.

3.21. Energy Efficiency Standards.

3.22. The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2015 (amended 2016) requires that landlords:

 Have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) and provide a copy to tenants 
whenever they rent their properties out and

 Ensure all rented homes have at least an E rating on the EPC 

3.23. Since 1 April 2016 tenants can request energy efficiency measures and landlords    
may not unreasonably refuse consent.  From 1 April 2018, all tenancies starting 
new or renewing after this date MUST have at least an E-rating on the property's 
EPC by law.  From 1 April 2020, all other privately rented homes (i.e. those on 
continued tenancies) MUST have at least an E-rating on the EPC to be lawfully let 
out.  The Regulations apply to all properties that are:
 Legally required to have an EPC, and 
 On an assured, regulated or agricultural tenancy type

 
3.24. Full details of these standards and their enforcement can be found in Annex 4 of the 

Policy.

3.25. Consultation.

No formal consultation is required as a result of the policy proposal set out in this 
report. The penalty charges and conditions will however be clearly advertised on the 
relevant pages of the Council’s website. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan.

4.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, choice and 
diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant communities and 
deliver high quality services to service users’.



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing & other administrative implications & risk assessments;

Financial Implications The Government has published regulations that state the 
income from Civil Penalties and Rent Repayment Orders 
can be retained by the Local Authority. The income must 
be used to cover the administration and legal costs and the 
expenses incurred in carrying out its private rented sector 
enforcement functions. Any amount outside of that has to 
be paid in to the Consolidated Fund. 

Legal Implications The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a new 
financial penalty regime which took effect from 6 April 
2017. This enables the Council to impose a civil penalty up 
to £30,000. 
The legal basis for these powers is contained in section 
126 and Schedule 9of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, 
which allows financial penalties to be given as an 
alternative to prosecution.

Staffing Implications Resource and staffing issues to be agreed.

Admin Implications As set out in this report.

Risk Assessment Failure to ensure compliance with legislation and relevant 
standards may compromise the health and safety of the 
residents of, and visitors to, private sector residential 
properties. An updated policy is required to reflect current 
legislation and reduces the risk of any challenge. 
Another risk will be an inability to collect the income from 
the penalties imposed. This risk will be mitigated by 
obtaining legal and financial resources as required in order 
to deliver the appropriate options for debt recovery for 
each case. 
The main legal risk from the adoption of these new powers 
will be successful appeals from landlords. This risk will be 
mitigated by taking legal advice upon the processes to be 
adopted and a comparison of best practice with other local 
authorities. Officers will receive necessary training and 
instruction and will be guided by procedures that will be 
regularly reviewed and updated. 

Public Sector Equality 
Duty

A Customer Access review has been completed.

7. Appendices
Appendix A – Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement and Licensing Policy.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report 
Author

          

Section and
Directorate 

Exempt
Information 
Category

Jackie Pye Housing, Strategic





1

Draft Private Sector 
Housing 

Enforcement and 
Licensing Policy.

September 2018



2

CONTENTS

Section No; Title; Page number;
1 The Council’s framework & 

enforcement policy.
3

2 General Principals. 4
3 Legislation. 4
4 Scope & Service Standards. 6
5 Level of Enforcement Action. 8
6 Enforcement powers under the 

Housing Act 2014.
9

7 Civil Penalties. 18
8 Banning Orders. 18
9 Rogue Landlord Database. 19
10 Rent Repayment Orders. 20
11 Redress scheme for letting agency 

work & work property management 
work.

21

12 Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards.

21

13 The Smoke & Carbon Monoxide 
Alarm Regs 2015.

21

14 Illegal Eviction & Harassment & 
retaliatory evictions.

21

15 Mobile Homes. 22
16 Complaints Procedure. 25
17 How to contact us. 25

Appendix 1. 26
Appendix 2. 27
Appendix 3. 28
Appendix 4. 32
Appendix 5. 33
Annex 1. 35
Annex 2. 46
Annex 2 Appendix 1. 54
Annex 2 Appendix 1.1 54
Annex 2 Appendix 2. 55
Annex 2 Appendix 3. 56
Annex 2 Appendix 4. 57
Annex 2 Appendix 5. 59
Annex 3. 60
Annex 3 Appendix 1. 63
Annex 4. 65
Annex 4 Appendix 1. 69



3

THE COUNCIL’S FRAMEWORK FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION

1.1. This Policy sets out the general principles, relevant legislation and guidance 
which will be applied in relation to enforcement action taken by the Council in 
respect of private housing in the borough of Dartford. Its implementation and 
effectiveness will be monitored and reviewed as and when there are changes to 
the legislation or the environment in which the service is operating.

1.2. The Policy is designed to:
 Set out the legal requirements and the Council’s approach to enforcement, 

including charges that may be imposed for enforcement
 Enable the Council to make reasoned and consistent decisions regarding   

enforcement
 Inform the public of the principles by which enforcement action is determined 

and subsequently taken

1.3. The Council operates with due regard to legislation and statutory guidance 
issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) 
and any enforcement action taken will be compliant with statutory guidance.

1.4. All enforcement action follows four key principles:
 Proportionality in the application of the law and in securing compliance
 Consistency of approach
 Transparency about how the Council operates and what those regulated 

may expect
 Targeting of enforcement action

1.5. All investigations into alleged breaches of legislation will follow best professional 
practice and the requirements of the:

 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
 Criminal Procedure and Investigation Act 1996
 Data Protection Act 2018 (applying the General Data Protection 

Regulation)
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
 Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
 Criminal Justice Act 2003
 Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
 Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008
 Equalities Act 2010

1.6. It is recognised that there may be circumstances where shared or co-ordinated 
enforcement action may be taken with other agencies. In these cases, the 
Council will liaise with the other body to ensure that: 

 Any action is effectively co-ordinated; 
 Proceedings instituted are for the most appropriate offence; and
 Duplication and inconsistencies are avoided.  



4

1.7. Other bodies may include the Police, the Health and Safety Executive, Kent 
County Council, Immigration Services and the Council’s internal departments 
such as planning, building control and the Community Safety Unit.  The Council 
benefits from close working arrangements with the local office of the Kent & 
Medway Fire & Rescue Service and follows the principals embodied in the  
“Protocol between Local Housing Authorities in Kent and the Kent & Medway 
Fire & Rescue Authority ”formally adopted in 2013.  

1.8. The Housing Act 2004 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
places duties on both the Council and the local Fire Safety Unit to enforce fire 
safety provisions within housing in the borough. This protocol document assists 
in this by providing a framework of property types and guidance on which the 
enforcing authority should take the lead.  In cases of ‘means of escape’ and ‘fire 
detection’ in Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs), the Council will consult with 
the fire authority as far as practicable.

2. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

2.1. The Council’s aim is to improve the housing conditions in the private sector by 
use of advice and education. However, there are occasions where these 
methods are not successful in improving conditions and it may be necessary to 
consider enforcement action.  All remedial work that is required must be 
sufficient to adequately remove or reduce risks but, subject to having achieved 
these ends, not so excessive as to be burdensome.

2.2. In carrying out its duties, the Council will follow the framework outlined in Section 
1 of this document and will aim for transparency in any decision making and will 
keep clear and up to date records. 

2.3. Officers will use their skill, knowledge, experience and judgement to decide how 
individual cases should be dealt with and whether a situation should be resolved 
by informal means or by formal proceedings.  Officers will take advice and 
guidance from managers where appropriate.

2.4. Enforcement will be carried out with due regard to the circumstances of the 
individual or business and to ensure that the rights of individuals and 
organisations are safeguarded.  

2.5. The Council is committed to the promotion of equal opportunities in all of its 
activities. Every effort will be made to ensure that everyone is treated equitably 
and fairly, regardless of sex, colour, race, nationality, ethnic group, regional or 
national origin, age, marital status, disability, political or religious belief, sexuality 
or class, as identified in the Council’s Comprehensive Equality Policy.

3. LEGISLATION

3.1. The Council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of statutory provisions 
relating to housing standards and environmental conditions affecting health and 
safety.  The relevant legislation under which the Council will enforce is:



5

 Public Health Act 1936 (as amended)
 Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960
 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
 Protection from Eviction Act 1977
 Building Act 1984
 Housing Act 1985
 Landlord & Tenant Act 1985
 Environmental Protection Act 1990
 Housing Act 2004
 The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regs 2006
 The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007
 Mobile Homes Act 2013
 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015
 The Redress Schemes for lettings Agency work and Property management 

Work (Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc.) (England) Order
 Housing And Planning Act 2016
 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) 

Regulations 2016 (Amended) 
 Regulator’s Code of Practice 2014
 Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regs Deregulation Act 2015
 The Housing & Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order Offences) Regs 2017
 De-Regulation Act 2015
 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of 

Licenses) (England) Regulations 2018
 Housing, England The Licensing Of Houses In Multiple Occupation 

(Prescribed Description) (England) Order 2018

3.2. Relevant guidance underpinning legislation includes:
 DCLG Guidance for Local Housing Authorities “Civil Penalties under the 

Housing and Planning Act 2016”
  DCLG Guidance for Local Housing Authorities “Rent repayment orders 

under the Housing and Planning Act 2016”
 DCLG document “Housing Health & Safety Rating System; Enforcement 

Guidance”.
 Retaliatory Eviction and the Deregulation Act 2015: guidance note
 Banning Order Offences under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 

Guidance for Local Housing Authorities 
 Database of rogue landlords and property agents under the Housing and 

Planning Act 2016 Statutory guidance for Local Housing Authorities
 Houses in multiple occupation (HMO) and residential property licensing 

reform: guidance for local housing authorities
 The Domestic Private Rented Property Minimum Standard - Guidance for 

landlords and Local Authorities on the minimum level of energy efficiency 
required to let domestic property under the Energy Efficiency (Private 
Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 October

  Retaliatory Eviction and the Deregulation Act 2015 - A guidance note
 Mobile Homes Act 2013- A Best Practice Guide for Local Authorities on 

Enforcement of the New Site Licensing Regime



6

4. SCOPE & SERVICE STANDARDS

4.1. The types of properties dealt with by the Council include HMOs, single dwellings, 
empty properties and caravans.  Cases are assessed and prioritised using 
professional judgement and knowledge and assigned an appropriate action 
which may be in the form of advice, information being sent or a visit being made. 

4.2. In the case of a complaint, where the Council deems that there is an imminent 
risk of harm to the health and safety of the occupiers then more immediate action 
may be taken.  Issues falling into this category could include electrical, gas, 
water and structural issues.

4.3. Non urgent single family accommodation; complainants are initially advised to 
inform their landlord in writing of any defects and ask for these to be rectified 
within a reasonable period from the date of the letter. Should the landlord fail to 
carry out repairs or offer an acceptable response, or the complainant has already 
followed this process, then the case will be passed to a Private Sector Housing 
Officer. Informal action may be taken; this could include via telephone or written 
communication or a full formal Housing Health & Safety Rating System 
inspection of the property. 

4.4. In prioritising demand for action, if the Council, on reviewing housing conditions 
within the Borough (or following a complaint or for any other reason), considers 
it appropriate to determine that a Category 1 or 2 hazard exists under the 
HHSRS, an inspection will be undertaken.  Formal enforcement by way of 
serving of a notice will not be undertaken where only Category 2 (low bands F – 
J) is evident; with the exception of Hazard Awareness Notices.

4.5. Registered social landlord complaints: The Council often receives complaints 
from housing association (HA) tenants requesting action against their landlord. 
Enforcement action will be limited to cases where the tenant is able to show that 
the internal complaints process of the HA has been exhausted and it would be 
inappropriate to refer the matter to the Housing Ombudsman because of 
outstanding health and safety concerns without a timely plan of action being 
provided by the HA.

In all other situations e.g. dissatisfaction with the HA’s timescales, the tenant will 
be redirected to;

The Housing Ombudsman Service – Exchange Tower, Harbour Exchange 
Square, London E14 9GE. Tel: 0300 111 3000, email: info@housing-
ombudsman.org.uk

4.6. Leaseholder complaints
The Council often receives complaints from leaseholders requesting assistance 
in taking action against other leaseholders or freeholders. Enforcement action 
will be limited to failure to licence enforcement, Category 1 hazards and high 
Category 2 hazards, where the leasehold flat is tenanted.



7

4.7. In all other situations e.g. civil disputes between freeholder and leaseholder, the 
leaseholder will be redirected to; The Leasehold Advisory Service - 31 Worship 
Street, London E2CA 2DX, telephone 020 7374 5380 info@lease-advice.org.uk.

4.8. Owner Occupiers
HHSRS does apply to owner occupiers, however, the Council may choose to 
take informal action or serve a Hazard Awareness Notice in these cases.  
However, in circumstances where a hazard has implications for neighbouring 
properties/area and visitors to the dwelling, formal enforcement action may also 
be suitable.

4.9. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)
A mandatory licence is currently required for HMOs with three or more storeys 
with five or more occupiers living in two or more households sharing some 
facilities. However with effect from 1 October 2018, the scope will be widened to 
include any HMO regardless of number of storeys (not a purpose-built flat 
situated in a block comprising three or more self-contained flats). Full details of 
the Council’s Licensing Policy can be found in the Council’s Policy Guide 
to Mandatory Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation at Annex 2.

4.10 Regardless of whether they require to be licensed, HMOs are a priority, because 
of the increased risk of health and safety issues, and the Council will investigate 
any information received relating to the condition or management of an HMO 
that the Council is not aware of.

4.11 Information received regarding an HMO can come from a variety of sources such 
as other internal departments including Council Tax, Housing Benefit, Planning 
Enforcement, Housing Solutions, or externally via members of the public, 
tenants, landlords, agents, Kent Fire & Rescue Service, Immigration Service etc. 
In the case of an unknown HMO, further desktop investigations will be made 
which may include:

 Examining historic information held 
 Internet resources 
 Information provided on a Housing Act 2004 HHSRS Questionnaire 
 Information gathered by an Officer whilst conducting an initial external 

visit/site inspection of a property to verify occupancy/property type etc. 
(Housing Act 2004 allows access without prior notification where suspected 
HMO Licensing of Management Regulations offences may have occurred) 

 The issuing of a Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1974 
Section 16 Requisition for Information form requiring the owner to declare 
their interests and occupation of the property

4.11 Where a new HMO is confirmed, a risk assessment will be completed to 
establish when an inspection will be made. In cases where an immediate 
inspection does not take place, a letter will be sent to the landlord advising of 
their responsibilities and standards required in an HMO. It will confirm that an 
inspection will take place to ensure that all relevant standards are being met and 
if non-compliant, formal enforcement action may follow. 

mailto:info@lease-advice.org.uk


8

4.12 After the inspection/enforcement action as outlined in paragraph 4.11, the 
Council may conduct periodic ‘desk top’ reviews of an HMO by requesting 
submission of required certification such as annual Gas Safety Certification, fire 
detection servicing documents and electrical condition reports etc. Any non-
compliance of such requests will be dealt with accordingly.

4.13 In the case of complaints received, with regard to a known and established HMO, 
a similar process to that outlined in paragraph 4.2 to 4.3 is followed. Issues 
relevant to paragraph 4.3 where imminent risk of harm requires immediate action 
would include those relating to fire detection and safe route of escape.

4.14  Licensed HMOs will be inspected at least once every 5 years from the date of 
application and the Council will carry out an annual desk top review to ensure 
compliance with Licence conditions.  

5. LEVELS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTION – GENERAL PRINCIPLES    

5.1. Whilst formal enforcement action is a necessary and important part of the 
enforcement process, it is generally viewed as a last resort.  The Council   will  
comply  with  legislation  by  one  or  more  of  the following methods: 

5.2. Provision of advice  and  guidance 
Advice and guidance will be given to individuals, existing and prospective 
businesses and other organisations to comply with their legal obligations.   This 
will be achieved by providing appropriate information, leaflets and may include 
face-to-face contact to discuss and help resolve potential problems. 

5.3. Informal enforcement
In most cases, the Council will endeavour to seek the desired improvements or 
protection of the public’s health and safety by working initially on an informal 
basis with those involved. Informal action may take a variety of forms, for 
example: 

 verbal requests 
 letters or e-mails 
 schedules of work

The advice will make clear what is expected to be done to meet a legal 
requirement. It will be made clear that formal action could follow if there is a 
failure to meet informal requests to carry out works to meet legal requirements. 

5.4. Enforcement will normally progress from advice to formal enforcement.  In 
serious  cases,  for  example where  the  offence  involves  a  significant  breach  
of the  law  such  that  the  residents’  health,  safety,  environment  or well-being  
is or has  been  put  at  risk,  it may  be  appropriate  to  commence  formal  
enforcement immediately. It may also commence immediately where HMOs 
owners/landlords/agents have already received guidance via a ‘compliance 
letter’.



9

5.5. Formal enforcement
Formal action may be taken where:

 informal action has failed
 there is a Category 1 hazard
 there is an actionable hazard which puts at risk a person’s health & safety
 there are multiple hazards creating a more serious situation or overall 

lack of repair/maintenance of a property
 there is a history of non-compliance/poor management

This is not an exhaustive list; each case will be considered individually. 

Formal Action includes:
 the use of statutory (legal) notices
 formal cautions 
 financial penalties (See Annex 1)
 prosecution 

 
5.6. Immediate action

This includes the power to take emergency action by entry to premises (with a 
warrant if necessary) and making safe areas or articles which cause imminent 
danger or serious harm.

5.7. Interim Measures
In the case of both HMOs and single households, the Council may request that 
short term interim measures are taken by the appropriate person to improve 
health and safety at the premises.  Types of works may include the installation 
of battery operated smoke/heat detectors, clearance of escape routes or 
provision of a 30 minute fire door on a kitchen.  

Circumstances where these measures may be requested include when the 
HMO occupancy is likely to cease within a short period of time (such as 28 days) 
or whilst a planning application is being considered for a change of use of the 
premises.  These requests are at the discretion of a  Manager and may not be 
appropriate for all HMOs or single households.  

6. ENFORCEMENT POWERS UNDER THE HOUSING ACT 2004

6.1. The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) is an evidence based 
risk assessment system utilising statistical data on the impact of housing 
conditions on health and safety. The system assesses the likelihood of an 
occurrence that could cause harm and the probable severity of the outcome of 
such an occurrence within a 12 month period. The first part of the process 
involves the inspection of a dwelling and identifying whether there are any of 29 
hazards present. Each identified hazard is then scored and this score (the 
hazard rating) places the hazard in one of 10 bands A to J. Any hazards scoring 
within a band A, B or C are classed as Category 1 hazards, whilst those falling 
in bands D to J are known as Category 2 hazards.

6.2. In the case of a Category 1 hazard, the Council has a duty to act. For hazards 
classed as Category 2, the Council has discretion to act.



10

6.3. There are a number of enforcement tools available to deal with Category 1 and 
2 Hazards in privately rented properties.  The Council can:   

 Serve a Hazard Awareness Notice 
 Serve an improvement notice 
 Make a prohibition order 
 Take emergency remedial action (category 1 only)
 Make an emergency prohibition order (category 1 only)
 Make a demolition order 
 Declare a clearance area 
 Require the production of documentation

 
6.4. The Council cannot take more than one of these actions (unless it is an 

emergency action) at any one time but can vary the action required if one of the 
actions taken has proved unsuccessful. 

6.5. Section 8 of the Act requires that all Notices and Orders should have a statement 
of reason attached to them. The statement should include why one type of 
enforcement action was taken over another. A copy of the statement must 
accompany the notice or order. 

6.6. When an Improvement Notice is served and there is a change in ownership of 
the property, the Notice can be enforced on the new owner or recipient. However 
any outstanding liabilities such as fines will remain with the original owner or 
recipient of the notice.

6.7. It is likely that Improvement Notices, Hazard Awareness Notices and Emergency 
Remedial Action will be the most frequently used courses of action. With the 
exception of a Hazard Awareness Notice, other notices/orders are registered as 
a local land charge.

6.8. If an enforcement notice is served on an HMO and it reverts to a single 
occupation, the Council will consider whether the impact of the hazard has 
diminished and take appropriate action i.e. to withdraw the Notice or amend.

6.9. See Appendix 1 for a flowchart of the enforcement procedure.

6.10. Level of remedial works required  
As a minimum, Category 1 hazards must be reduced to a low Category 2.  Where 
this is not possible, all reasonable steps must be taken to reduce the hazards as 
far as reasonably practicable. In some cases, such as listed buildings, Category 
1 hazards may remain. This scenario will have been considered when deciding 
which course of action is most appropriate and may influence the Council’s 
decision as to which type of enforcement action to take.  

When deciding on the remedial works, regard must be given to the seriousness 
of the hazard, the ideal that the property should achieve, and the level of work 
required that is reasonable to reduce the hazard significantly without incurring 
excessive cost.  For the hazard of fire, where the property is an HMO, the Council 



11

will consult with the Fire Authority before taking any action as required under 
section 10 of the Housing Act 2004.
  

6.11. Category 1 and Category 2 hazards – Risk Assessment 
Where a Category 1 hazard exists the Council has a duty to take action. The 
Council aims to prioritise cases in order of greatest risk and taking account of 
the vulnerability of the occupant. Appendix 2 illustrates prioritisation of hazards 
and options for action.

In the case of Category 2 hazards regard will be made to: 
 The number of individual Category 2 hazards at the property which would 

appear to create a more serious situation when looked at together   
 Whether the Council is already taking action to deal with Category 1 hazards 

in which case moderate Category 2 (D and E) hazards should be enforced 
at the same time. 

 The potential for the hazard to become a Category 1 hazard within a short 
duration (under 2 years)

6.12. Hazard Awareness Notices 
The Hazard Awareness Notice is discretionary and may be used as a response 
to a minor hazard. There is no appeal and the notice is not registered as a local 
land charge. It may be considered where the landlord has agreed to carry out 
repairs informally. It may also be considered for Category 1 hazards where the 
Council wishes to inform an owner-occupier of a particular hazard. In 
consideration of this the Council will take account of the likelihood of harm to 
people who may visit the property and the vulnerability of the occupants. The 
Council will justify why a more lenient approach was taken.  It may not be 
appropriate to serve a Hazard Awareness Notice where there are risks of falling 
objects such as slates from a roof. This is because it would be a clear risk to 
those visiting the premise as well as the owner-occupier. 

6.13. Improvement Notices 
An Improvement Notice can be served on all Category 1 and 2 hazards. It must, 
as a minimum, remove all Category 1 hazards and the hazard should not reoccur 
within 12 months of the notice. A Notice can contain more than one hazard and 
it is the Council’s policy to deal with all Category 1 and Category 2 hazards at 
the same time. 

Timescales for remedial works to start must be 28 days or more from the date 
of service of a notice. Different deadlines may be set for different hazards; these 
will be assessed on an individual basis by the Council and consideration will be 
given to the urgency, complexity and quantity of works required.  

In general, minor works will be classed as those costing up to £1000 to be 
completed by a professional tradesperson, and the landlord will be given 28 days 
for the works to be completed.  Intermediate works will be classed as those 
costing up to £5000 to be completed by a professional tradesperson, and the 
landlord will be given 2 months for the works to be completed.  Major works will 
be classed as those costing over £5000 to be completed by a professional 
tradesperson, and the landlord will be given 3 months for the works to be 
completed. Once the work has been completed the Notice will be revoked 



12

formally in writing. Improvement Notices are registered as local land charges 
and any appeal must be made within 21 days of the service of a Notice. 

6.14. Prohibition Orders 
 A Prohibition Order can be served for both Category 1 and Category 2 hazards 

and is effective 28 days after it has been served (if no appeal has been 
submitted). It may prohibit the use of part or all of the premises for some or all 
purposes or occupation by a particular number of households or individuals. For 
example:

 Where remedial action is unreasonable or impractical and conditions 
present a high risk 

 To specify the maximum number of persons that should occupy a dwelling 
 To specify the maximum number of person or households who should 

occupy the dwelling where there are insufficient facilities 
 To prohibit the use of a dwelling to a specific group of people 

In deciding whether a Prohibition Order should be served, regard will be given 
to the risk of social exclusion, whether the premises are listed or in a 
conservation area, whether the owner proposes to consider alternative uses, the 
effects on the community and the effect on the availability of local 
accommodation for re-housing any displaced occupants. 

Prohibition Orders will be registered as local land charges and any appeal 
against an Order must be made within 28 days.

Compensation may be available in certain cases, for example if an appeal is 
successful.

6.15. Suspending a Notice or Order
The Council may suspend the action specified in an Improvement Notice or 
Prohibition Order. The notice to suspend may specify certain trigger points such 
as non-compliance of an undertaking given to the Council or a change in 
occupancy. The trigger points will be clearly stated in the Notice.   The Council 
needs to consider the likely tenants who, in the next 12 months, could potentially 
occupy a premise, before deciding to suspend a Notice. 

6.16. Emergency Measures 
Where the Council is satisfied that a hazard presents an imminent risk to the 
occupants of a premises emergency measures can be taken. It is for the Council 
to determine what constitutes an imminent risk.   Emergency measures include 
emergency remedial action or an emergency prohibition order. Any appeal must 
be made within 28 days. An appeal will not prevent emergency action from being 
taken. 

6.17. Emergency Remedial Action 
Where a Category 1 hazard exists and there is an imminent risk of harm to the 
occupier, the Council may enter a premise to take remedial action to remove the 
imminent risk of serious harm. The Council will serve a Notice within 7 days of 
remedial action. 



13

6.18. Emergency Prohibition Orders 
If, in the view of the Council, the hazard involves a serious risk of harm to the 
occupant, the Council may enter a premise to prohibit its use. The Order will 
take effect immediately. It is for the Council to consider whether the action 
carried out gives grounds to revoke or vary the order. 

6.19. Demolition Orders 
This is a possible response to a Category 1 hazard. In deciding whether to issue 
an Order, the Council will: 

 Take into account the availability of replacement housing for the occupants
 Take into account the demand for and sustainability of the accommodation 

if the hazard was remedied
 Consider the prospective use of the cleared site
 Consider the local environment and the impact of a cleared site on the 

appearance and character of the neighbourhood. 

6.20. Clearance Area 
The Council will declare an area a Clearance Area if it is satisfied that each of 
the residential buildings in the area contains one or more Category 1 hazards 
(or these buildings are dangerous/harmful to the health and safety of the 
occupants as a result of bad arrangements), and any other buildings in the area 
that are dangerous or harmful to the health of the inhabitants.  Significant 
statutory public consultation forms part of this process.

6.21. Overcrowding Notices for non-licensable HMOs
The Council may serve an Overcrowding Notice on one or more of the relevant 
persons if it considers that an excessive number of persons are, or are likely to 
be, accommodated in the HMO.

6.22. Service of formal Notices or Orders 
Notices and Orders will comply with and be served in accordance with the 
requirements of the relevant legislation and guidance. The person on whom the 
Notice or Order is served will be informed of the reason that this action is being 
taken, the timescale for completion of any works, the works that are legally 
required, representations that may be made, relevant appeal periods, details of 
any charges (see 6.28) and the consequences of non-compliance. Contact 
details will be provided so that the detail and requirements of the Notice can be 
explained.

6.23. Powers of Entry 
The Council has the power of entry to properties to carry out its duties under the 
Housing Act 2004 provided that: 

 Council officers have written authority stating the purpose for which entry is 
authorised.

 The Council has given 24 hours’ notice to the owner or occupier of the 
premises that they intend to enter (Section 239).



14

6.24. Failure to gain entry to the premises after all the above steps have been taken, 
may lead to the Council obtaining a warrant from a Justice of the Peace to 
include the power of entry by force if necessary. 

6.25. If prior warning of entry is likely to defeat the purpose of the entry e.g. to establish 
whether an offence has been committed, then a warrant can also be obtained.

6.26. Appeals
All recipients of notices and orders made by the Council will be informed of their 
right to appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential 
Property)if they believe the Notice or Order has been served in error or if the 
recipient believes the proposed course of action is unjustified.

6.27. Documents /Information
The Council also has the power, by Notice, to require documentation to be 
produced in connection with its enforcement for example Gas Safety Certificates 
or Fire Detection Installation Certificates under Parts 1–4 of the Housing Act 
2004, Section 235. The Notice will specify the consequences of not complying. 

The Council may serve Section 16 Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 Notices requiring information relating to ownership, 
occupancy, rents etc.

6.28. Power to Charge for Enforcement Action
The Council will make a reasonable charge as specified in Section 49 of the 
Housing Act 2004, to recover certain administrative and other expenses incurred 
in taking enforcement action. This charge is currently £400 plus VAT flat rate’ 
however an extra charge may be made for any additional works. Charges are 
reviewed annually.   Please note however, additional costs may also be payable 
if external specialist advice is needed e.g. a structural report. Enforcement action 
which can incur a charge includes:

 Serving an Improvement Notice
 Making a Prohibition Order
 Taking Emergency Remedial Action
 Making an Emergency Prohibition Order
 Making a Demolition Order

The Council will charge for taking enforcement action unless there are 
extenuating circumstances.  Where this occurs the Head of Housing Services 
will make the final decision.

Examples of extenuating circumstances are where the Landlords providing 
accommodation for others and is:

 Vulnerable due to their personal circumstances.  
 Financially vulnerable i.e. in receipt of a means tested benefit.



15

6.29. Non-Compliance 
If a Notice is complied with, no further action will be necessary and it will be 
revoked. However if the Notice is not complied with the Council will consider the 
following options: 

 Prosecution 
 Carry out the works in default 
 Carry out the works in default and prosecute 
 Consider whether a formal caution is appropriate 
 Consider a Civil Penalty (see Annex 1) 
 Rent repayment Order (see section 10)

The Council’s aim is to ensure that instructions to commence legal proceedings 
are with the Council’s legal service within 8 weeks of the expiry of the time period 
for complying with a formal Notice, unless an extension is granted. 

6.30. Prosecution
When there is failure to comply with an Improvement Notice without reasonable 
excuse, this constitutes an offence and the responsible person may be liable to 
prosecution. On summary conviction, persons can be fined up to level 5 on the 
standard scale. The obligation to carry out the remedial works continues despite 
the fact that the period for completion has expired. 

When there is failure to comply with a Prohibition Order, this also constitutes an 
offence if the premises is used in contravention to the Order, or permission is 
given for the premises to be used in contravention to the Order. Conviction fines 
up to level 5 on the standard scale may be levied. In addition there is a further 
fine of up to £20 per day for every day or part day after conviction that the 
property is used in contravention.

6.31. Works in Default 
The Housing Act 2004 makes provisions for the Council to carry out the works 
to a property where the person responsible has failed to comply with a Notice.   
Works in default can be carried out instead of a prosecution or in addition to a 
prosecution. This is a discretionary power. Decisions to carry out works in default 
will be made in consultation with an appropriate manager. The cost of works 
plus administration charges will be recovered either as a civil debt or by virtue 
of a ‘charge’ being placed on the property records.   Interest is added to 
outstanding charges at 4.5% above the current bank rate calculated on a daily 
basis.  

Generally works in default are used where there is an imminent risk to health 
and safety and where the remedy is relatively easy to achieve. If it is to be used 
in other circumstances, full justification based on the merits of the case will be 
required. 

It may also be used in conjunction with prosecution where it is appropriate to do 
so. This will depend on the nature of the hazard but will be considered due to 
the delays often experienced during the prosecution procedure. The delays 
often result in the remedial action being postponed leaving the occupier living in 
unacceptable conditions. 



16

In deciding whether works in default is an option, the Council will consider the 
imminent risk to health and safety and whether undue delay would put the 
occupier(s), visitors or the public at increased risk. The Council will also consider 
what the minimum works required would be to remove the risk. Works in default 
cannot be carried out if, as a result of the action a second, different hazard will 
result. Any remedial works must be extensive enough to remove the Category 1 
hazard and reduce the level of Category 2 hazards to an acceptable level. 

6.32. Action by Agreement  
The Housing Act 2004 also makes provision for remedial works to be carried out 
by agreement. The Council will arrange for the works to be carried out at the 
request of the person responsible.  The person will be charged the full cost 
(including administration charges).   

If the above action is taken, the Council will aim to ensure that the cost of the 
works will be repaid in full once the work is complete. If the costs incurred cannot 
be paid they will be placed as a charge against the property. The Enforced Sale 
Procedure may then be used if considered appropriate (see paragraph 7).

6.33. Management Orders
Orders can be varied or revoked in accordance with the provisions of Part 4 of 
the Housing Act 2004. If a property is a licensable HMO, but, for whatever 
reason(s), there is no reasonable prospect of granting a licence, the Council will 
introduce a Management Order. The Council also has a duty to make an Order 
where the health and safety conditions (as described in Section 104 of the Act) 
are met. 

Management Orders effectively mean that the Council (or its Agent) will take 
over the running of the property as if it were the landlord, including collecting 
rents, forming tenancies, carrying out repairs and other management matters. 
Duties can vary between different Orders, however, the owner retains certain 
rights depending on the type of Order including receipt of surplus rental income. 
Relevant costs are recoverable by the Council. 

6.34. Interim Management Orders (IMO) 
The Council will make an IMO if it is anticipated that the HMO will be licensed in 
the near future or because the Council has revoked the license. An IMO lasts no 
longer than 12 months and the expiry date of the IMO will be determined by the 
Council when it is made.

6.35. Final Management Orders (FMO) 
FMOs will last for no longer than 5 years and will be made on expiry of the IMO 
where a licence cannot be granted. When a FMO expires a new one may be 
issued if necessary.

6.36. Special Interim Management Orders (SIMO) 
SIMOs are Orders authorised after a successful application to a First-Tier 
Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property). Where circumstances fall 
within a category prescribed by the national authority and it is necessary to 
protect the health, safety and welfare of occupants, visitors or neighbours. A 
FMO can follow a SIMO to protect persons on a long-term basis.



17

6.37. Empty Property Management Orders
Similarly, the Council can decide to take over the management of some empty 
properties in order to bring them back into use (see the Council’s Empty Property 
Strategy).  

6.38. Interim Empty Dwelling Management Orders (interim EDMO) 
These are authorised after a successful application to a First-Tier Tribunal 
Property Chamber (Residential Property). The dwelling must have been wholly 
unoccupied for at least six months and there is no reasonable prospect that the 
dwelling will become occupied in the near future. An interim EDMO enables the 
Council to take steps to ensure, with the consent of the proprietor, an empty 
dwelling becomes occupied. An interim EDMO lasts no longer than 12 months.

6.39. Final Empty Dwelling Management Orders (Final EDMO) 
These may replace an Interim EDMO if the Council believes that, the dwelling 
will become or remain empty and all appropriate steps have been taken under 
the Interim Order.  A final EDMO lasts for 7 years. Once a Final EDMO expires 
a new one may be issued if necessary. The Council has a duty to issue Interim 
and Final Management Orders where necessary but only as a last resort. 

6.40. Other Actions for Empty Properties
In addition to actions available under the Housing Act 2004 the following actions 
may be considered when dealing with empty properties and these may be 
instigated by other Departments within the Council:

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 215. Notices can be served 
where a property is said to be “detrimental to the amenities of the 
neighbourhood”. 

 Building Act 1984, Sections 76 – 79 provides powers to tackle “dangerous 
and ruinous structures”. 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, Section 29 gives 
power to the local Council to secure empty properties against access, where 
there is considered to be a danger to public health. 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990, Sections 79 – 82 gives power to enforce 
remedy of a condition prejudicial to health or that constitutes a 
statutory nuisance. 

 Housing Act 1985, Sections 17, 289, and Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989, Section 93 provide the basis for the commencement of a 
compulsory purchase order.

 Law of Property Act 1925, Section 101 – enforced sales can be used when 
costs incurred as part of enforcement action cannot be paid and have been 
placed as a charge against the property. It can be an effective way of dealing 
with long term empty properties where the owner cannot be traced or is 
unwilling to work with the Council to bring the property back into occupation. 



18

An enforced sale can only be carried out when the Council has placed a local land 
charge on the property. This would be carried out if the Council has undertaken 
Works in Default action (where the Council has paid for works to be done in lieu 
of the owner who is unwilling to act or is untraceable), or other debts to the Council 
such as non- payment of Council Tax. 

The owner is given the opportunity to repay the debt prior to sale. If the monies 
are not paid within a specified period of time the Council can effectively act as a 
mortgagee and bring the property to sale on the open market at an auction or to 
a preferred buyer. All charges would be cleared from the proceeds of the sale, 
allowing the council to recover the cost of the works previously carried out and 
the remainder would be paid to the owner.

7. CIVIL PENALTIES

7.1. Under the Housing Act 2004 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the Council 
may impose a Civil Penalty, as an alternative to prosecution, up to a maximum of 
£30,000 in respect of the following offences:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (Housing Act 2004).

 Failure to license or other licensing offences relating to HMOs (Housing 
Act 2004), which applies to both mandatory and additional HMO 
Licensing Schemes. 

 Failure to comply with an Overcrowding Notice (Housing Act 2004).

 Failure to comply with a regulation in respect of an HMO (Housing Act 
2004).

 Breaching a Banning Order (Housing and Planning Act 2016) (see 
section 8).

7.2 In setting the amount for the Civil Penalty the Council will have regard to relevant 
statutory guidance.   
Full details of the Council’s statement of principles for the issuing of Civil 
Penalties can be found in Annex 1.

8. BANNING ORDERS 

8.1 Banning Orders
Section 15(1) of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides for local authorities 
to apply for a Banning Order against a person who has been convicted of a 
Banning Order offence. 

8.2 A Banning Order  First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential 
Property)bans a landlord from: 

 Letting housing in England 
 Engaging in English letting agency work
 Engaging in English property management work or 
 Doing two or more of those things 



19

8.3 A landlord subject to a Banning Order is also unable to hold a licence for a HMO) 
and their property may also be subject to a Management Order.

Full details of Banning Orders can be found in Annex 3.  

9 ROGUE LANDLORD DATABASE

9.1 The Rogue Landlord Database records landlords and agents that are subject 
to a Banning Order or have committed a Banning Order offence. Only local 
authorities can make entries to the database.

9.2 Under the Housing and Planning Act 2016, local authorities have a mandatory 
duty to make an entry on the database where a landlord or property agent has 
received a Banning Order. They have the discretion to make entries where a 
landlord or property agent has been convicted of a Banning Order offence or 
has received 2 or more Civil Penalties within a 12 month period.

9.3 When considering its discretionary powers to make an entry, the Council will 
have regard to the following factors: 

 The severity of the offence
 Any mitigating factors
 Culpability and serial offending 
 How it may act as a deterrent for repeat offending 

 
9.4 The final decision on these issues will be made by the Head of Housing.

9.5 Before making an entry on the database, the Council must issue the person 
with a decision notice of at least 21 days before making an entry, specifying 
the period for which the entry will be maintained.

9.6 When deciding the length of time the entry will be maintained, the Council will 
have regard to all the above factors. 

9.7 All entries in the database are subject to variation or removal by the Council. 

9.8 The Council will remove an entry if it was made on the basis of one or more 
convictions for a Banning Order offence, all of which have been overturned on 
appeal. 

9.9 The Council may also remove an entry or reduce the period it is on the 
database, if:

 One or more convictions for a Banning Order offence, but not all, have 
been overturned on appeal.

 One or more convictions for a Banning Order offence are spent.
 At least a year has elapsed since an entry was made because the 

landlord/agent received two or more Civil Penalties in a 12-month 
period. 



20

9.10 Appeals
A landlord or agent has no right to appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) when an entry has been made after a Banning 
Order has been obtained. 

A landlord or agent has the right to appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) against the Council's decision to make an 
entry on the database under its discretionary powers. The appeal must be 
made before the end of the period in the Council’s notice. An entry must not be 
made until the appeal is decided or withdrawn.

10. RENT REPAYMENT ORDERS

10.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 revised the powers local authorities 
have in respect of Rent Repayment Orders (RRO).  A RRO requires a landlord 
to repay a specified amount of rent (up to 12 months) in certain circumstances.

10.2 The Council can make an application to the  First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) for a RRO to recover benefit payments related 
to housing, where the landlord has:

 Failed to comply with an Improvement Notice under the Housing Act 2004.

 Failed to license a property requiring a license under the Housing Act 2004.

 Failed to comply with a Prohibition Order under the Housing Act 2004.

 Breached a Banning Order under the Housing and Planning Act 2016.

 Used violence to secure entry to premises under the Criminal Law Act 1977.

 Illegally evicted or harassed occupiers under the Protection of Eviction Act 
1977.(see section 14)

10.3 The Council will consider making an application for a RRO when investigating 
the above offences.  An application to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber 
(Residential Property) for a RRO can be made if a conviction has been secured 
or a Civil Penalty issued or where there is no prior conviction.  

10.4 Where there is a prior conviction, or a Civil Penalty has been issued (where 
there is no prospect of appeal), the full amount of rent (up to a maximum of 12 
months) will be applied for and the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber 
(Residential Property) is compelled by law to make an Order for that amount (if 
it has been correctly calculated). 

10.5 Where a conviction hasn’t been secured the First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) will determine whether the Council has met 
the criminal standard in relation to the relevant offence.  The Council will have 
regard to government statutory guidance and will consider the following before 
deciding to make an application:

 Punishment of the offender – the Council will consider if making an 
application for an RRO will have a real economic impact on the offender.  
Where this is unlikely, i.e. where the amount of rent paid over the 
preceding 12 months is minimal and doesn’t reflect the severity of the 
offence, the Council will consider prosecution or the issue of a Civil 
Penalty (where it can do so) as well as applying for an RRO.



21

 Deterrence – The Council will consider whether the impact of a RRO is 
just financial or whether it will substantially deter and dissuade the 
offender and others from committing similar or repeat offences by making 
the RRO publicly available. Where this is unlikely, the Council will 
consider prosecution or the issuing of a Civil Penalty (where it can do so) 
as well as applying for an RRO.

 Removal of financial benefit – The Council will only consider making an 
application for a RRO where the impact of such an Order will reflect any 
benefit gained from not being a responsible landlord.  E.g. not carrying 
out necessary works to improve standards.   Where it is unlikely that the 
amount recoverable is sufficient to mitigate the benefit, the Council will 
consider prosecution or the issue of a Civil Penalty (where it can do so) 
as well as applying for an RRO. 

10.6 Before making an application, the Council will serve a Notice of its intention to 
make an application, which will state the reasons for doing so. This will cover 
the above issues (where a conviction hasn’t already been secured), the amount 
being sought and invite representations to be made within 28 days.  The 
Council will consider any representations before making an application to the 
First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property). 

10.7 A tenant of a property, where a relevant offence has been committed by their 
landlord, can also make an application to the First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) for a RRO.  The Council will inform tenants of 
this right and will assist tenants in preparing an application if necessary. 

10.8 Failure to pay the amount required by an RRO will result in the Council pursuing 
recovery of the debt through the county court.

11. RE-DRESS SCHEME FOR LETTINGS AGENCY WORK AND    PROPERTY 
MANAGEMENT WORK 

11.1 Introduced in October 2014, it is a legal requirement for all lettings agents & 
property managers to belong to a Government approved Redress Scheme.

11.2 The 2 approved Redress Schemes are:
 Property Redress Scheme  
 The Property Ombudsman

11.3 The Council is the enforcing authority for this requirement and government 
guidance states a £5,000 penalty for contravention should be the norm. A lower 
penalty will only be charged if the Council is satisfied that there are extenuating 
circumstances.

11.4 Any representations the lettings agent or property manager makes during the 
28 day period following the Council’s notice of intention to issue a fine will be 
taken into account, including whether the penalty would be disproportionate to 
the turnover/scale of the business or would lead to an organisation going out 
of business. 



22

11.5 The decision as to whether a fine should be reduced and by how much will be 
made by the Head of Housing.  A final appeal can be made by the landlord to 
the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property).

11.6 Appendix 3 outlines the enforcement process in more detail.

12 MINIMUM ENERGY EFFICIENCY STANDARDS

12.1 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2015 (as amended  requires that landlords:
 Have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) and provide a copy to 

tenants whenever they rent their properties out; and
 Ensure all rented homes have at least an E rating on the EPC.  

Full details of the Standards can be found at Annex 4. 

13 THE SMOKE & CARBON MONOXIDE ALARM (ENGLAND)   REGULATIONS 
2015

13.1 Private sector landlords are required to have:
 At least one smoke alarm installed on every storey of their properties
 A carbon monoxide alarm in any room containing a solid fuel burning 

appliance (e.g. a coal fire, wood burning stove).
 Landlords must make sure the alarms are in working order at the start of 

each new tenancy.

13.2 The Council can impose a fine of up to £5,000 where a landlord fails to comply 
with a Remedial Notice. 

13.3 As required by Regulation 13, the Council has issued a ‘Statement of Principles 
for Determining Financial Penalties as prescribed under the Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015’ (see Appendix 4).

13.4 Where the Council undertakes remedial action, the type of smoke detection fitted 
will, if reasonable and practical, meet the ideal standard. Normally the ideal 
standard would meet the minimum requirements contained in British Standard 
5839 part 6:2013

14 ILLEGAL EVICTION & HARASSMENT & RETALIATORY EVICTIONS

14.1 The Council has the legal power to investigate and prosecute under the 
provisions of the Protection from Eviction Act 1977.

14.2 The law makes it an offence to:
 Act in a manner likely to interfere with the peace or comfort of a tenant or 

anyone living with him or her;
 Persistently withdraw or withhold services for which the tenant has a 

reasonable need to live in the premises as a home;
Take someone’s home away from them without following the due process 
of the law.



23

14.3 The Council has a staged approach to enforcement wherever possible to ensure 
solutions are initially sought through education, co-operation and agreement. 

14.4 Where mediation/negotiation is not successful, formal action will be necessary, 
which may ultimately lead to the issuing of a formal caution, prosecution or other 
summary action. The decision to prosecute will be made by the Head of Housing. 

14.5 Retaliatory eviction was introduced by the Deregulation Act 2015 and applies to 
all new assured shorthold tenancies that started on or after 1 October 2015. 
Retaliatory eviction is where a tenant makes a legitimate complaint to their 
landlord about the condition of their property and, in response, instead of making 
the repair, their landlord serves them with an eviction notice (Section 21).

14.6 If the tenant receives a section 21 notice, a court will refuse to order an eviction 
if:

 The tenant contacted their landlord or letting agent in writing before they 
received a section 21 notice

 The tenant complained to the Council because the landlord didn't take 
steps to fix the problem

 the Council sent the landlord a notice telling them to make improvements 
or saying it will do emergency work

14.7 A Section 21 notice served between the time of the written complaint, and the 
Council issuing an improvement or emergency work notice, will also be treated 
as invalid.

14.8 In these circumstances, the Council will support the tenant with relevant 
evidence to support their claim of retaliatory eviction.

15 MOBILE HOMES

15.1 The Mobile Homes Act 2013 amends the Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960 (CSCD), the Caravan Sites Act 1968 and the Mobile 
Homes Act 1983.

15.2 All relevant sites must have a licence to operate and the Mobile Homes Act 2013 
legislates for a site licensing regime for relevant protected sites, giving councils 
more effective control of conditions. In appropriate cases, it provides councils 
with the tools required to take enforcement action including the power to serve 
Compliance Notices in relation to breaches of site licence conditions, emergency 
action powers, and the ability to carry out works in default and recover expenses.

15.3 The Act gives the Council powers to enforce site licence conditions against 
owners.  If an owner is in breach of any of its site licence conditions, the Council 
may serve a Compliance Notice on the owner. A Compliance Notice must:

 Set out the condition which, in the opinion of the Council, has been 
breached and the details of the failure;

 Detail the steps the site operator must take to remedy the   breach of 
the site licence condition(s); and

 Specify a time scale for completion and



24

 Explain the right of appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber 
(Residential Property) against the Notice.

15.4 Failure to comply with a Compliance Notice within the period specified in the 
Notice is an offence which on summary conviction carries a level 5 fine.

15.5 As a last resort, and where the licence holder has been convicted on two or more 
previous occasions of failing to comply with a Compliance Notice, the Council 
may apply to the court for revocation of the site licence.

15.6 Following a successful prosecution for breaching a Compliance Notice the 
Council may enter the site and carry out the necessary works and recharge the 
owner. Unpaid charges can be placed as a charge against the site owner’s land. 

15.7 The Council may take emergency action where the site operator has failed or is 
failing to comply with a site licence condition and, as a result of such failure, 
there is an imminent risk of serious harm to the health or safety of any person 
who is or may be on the land. 

15.8 Where the Council proposes to take emergency action a notice must be served, 
giving the site operator reasonable notice of intended entry. 

15.9 The emergency works carried out by the Council should be those works 
necessary to remove the imminent risk. It is possible that these works fall short 
of the standard required to comply with the site licence conditions. In those cases 
the emergency action would need to be followed up by a Compliance Notice.

15.10 Within seven days of any emergency action being started the Council must serve 
another notice on the site operator.

15.11 The site operator has the right of appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) on the grounds there was no imminent risk of 
serious harm or the action taken was not necessary to remove the imminent risk.

15.12 Subject to any appeal decision, the Council is entitled to recover, from the site 
operator, expenses incurred, including interest. 

15.13 Expenses include the cost incurred in:
 deciding whether to take the action
 preparing and serving any notice or a demand for expenses and taking 

the action

15.14 The debt will be registered as a local land charge from the time it becomes 
payable (after the end of the period for appealing the demand, if no appeal is 
brought) and removed on payment.

15.15 Fees and charges



25

The Council can charge for functions associated with licensing and enforcement. 
The Council’s fee setting policy can be found on the Council’s website 
www.dartford.gov.uk Fees and Charges are updated annually.

16 COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE

Dissatisfaction with any actions or decisions must in the first instance be dealt 
with through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure www.dartford.gov.uk

17 HOW TO CONTACT US

For all enquiries relating to this document and for general enquiries please call 
01322 343152 or write to: Dartford Borough Council, Private Sector Housing Team, 
Civic Centre, Dartford DA1 1DR.

Email: privatesectorhousing@dartford.gov.uk

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:privatesectorhousing@dartford.gov.uk


26

APPENDIX 1 
ENFORCEMENT  PROCEDURE

INSPECTION OF PROPERTY

For adequate amenities - fire precautions
compliance with the Housing Health & Safety
standard and satisfactory management 

Assessment of risk to tenants
Housing Health and Safety Rating System

Property meets the 
required standard or 

property assessed

as low risk

Category 1 or 2
hazards are identified

No further action at
present. Property is
programmed for re-
visit dependent on

score

Authority considers
appropriate action

L A Consults with the
landlord regarding the
scope of the works and

a time frame 

Landlord ignores the 
recommendation

If this is ignored
formal notice is
issued for which
there is a charge.
Right of appeal to

RPT

If this is ignored
landlord is 

prosecuted and
work may be 

carried out in default

Discussions
with the 

Landlord
through the

whole 
process

Letter detailing the
works and timeframe

sent to landlord

Landlord carries out

the works

LA checks the works
If works satisfactory
-- no further action

If works not 
satisfactory -- further

action taken



27

APPENDIX 2

Prioritisation of Hazards and Options for Action
Priority (P) Main options for 

Action 
Other options 
available for 
consideration 

Category one 
Immediate 
action 

P1 - Highest band A+ 
Imminent risk to health 
and safety. 

Emergency 
Remedial Action

Emergency 
Prohibition Order

Prohibition Order

Demolition Order

Clearance Order

Suspended action 

Hazard 
Awareness Notice 

High Priority P2 – Hazard Bands
A – C 

As Above Clearance Order

Suspended action 

Hazard 
Awareness Notice 

Category 
two 
Medium 
Priority 

P3 - Hazard Bands 
High bands D - E 

Improvement 
Notice 

Suspended action 

Hazard Awareness 
Notice 

Prohibition Order 

Low Priority P4 – Hazard Bands
Low bands 
F - J 

Hazard Awareness 
Notice 

 Suspended action 

Improvement 
Notice 

 Prohibition Order



28

APPENDIX 3

Dartford Borough Council - Statement of principles for determining 
financial penalties

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

1. Introduction 
1.1 This statement sets out the principles that Dartford Borough Council (the Council) 

will apply in exercising its powers to require a landlord to pay a financial penalty for 
non-compliance with the Regulations.

2 Purpose of the Statement of Principles 
2.1 The Council is required under these Regulations to prepare and publish a 

statement of principles and it must follow these principles when deciding on the 
amount of a penalty charge.

2.2 The Council may revise its statement of principles at any time, but where it does 
so, it must publish a revised statement.

2.3 When deciding on the amount for the penalty charge, the Council will have regard 
to the statement of principles published at the time when the breach in question 
occurred. 

3 The legal framework
3.1 The Council’s powers are derived from the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 

(England) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations), which came into force on 1 October 
2015. 

3.2 The Regulations place a duty on landlords, which include freeholders or 
leaseholders who have created a tenancy, lease, licence, sub-lease or sub-licence. 
The Regulations exclude registered providers of social housing.

3.3 The duty requires that landlords ensure:

 A smoke alarm is installed on each storey of premises where there is living 
accommodation

 A carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room of premises used as living 
accommodation, which contains a solid fuel burning appliance.

AND for tenancies starting from 1 October 2015:



29

 That checks are made by the landlord, or someone acting on his/her behalf, 
that the alarm(s) is/are in proper working order on the day the tenancy starts. 

3.4 Landlords need to take steps to demonstrate that they have met the testing 
requirements at the start of the tenancy. This can be achieved for example by 
supplying dated photographs of alarms, together with installation records and by 
tenants signing an inventory form confirming that the alarm was tested and in 
working order at the start of the tenancy. 

3.5 Tenancy agreements can specify the frequency that a tenant should test the alarm 
to ensure it is in proper working order.

3.6 Where the Council believes that a landlord is in breach of one or more of the duties 
referred to in paragraph 3.3 above, the Council must serve a Remedial Notice on 
the landlord under Regulation 5 of the Regulations.

3.7 If the landlord then fails to take the remedial action specified in the notice within the 
specified timescale, the Council can require the landlord to pay a penalty charge 
under Regulation 8 of the Regulations.

3.8 A landlord will not be considered to be in breach of their duty to comply with the 
Remedial Notice, if they can demonstrate they have taken all reasonable steps to 
comply. This can be done by making written representations to the Council at the 
address given at the bottom of this document, within 28 days of the date the 
Remedial Notice is served.  

3.9 The Council will impose a penalty charge where it is satisfied, on the balance of 
probabilities, that the landlord has not complied with the requirements specified in 
the Remedial Notice within the specified timescale. 

4 The purpose of imposing a financial penalty
4.1 The purpose of the Council exercising its regulatory powers is to protect the 

interests of the public. 

4.2 The aim of financial penalties on landlords is to:
 Lower the risk to tenant’s health and safety
 Reimburse the costs incurred by the Council in arranging remedial action in 

default of the landlord 
 Change the behaviour of the landlord and aim to prevent future non-compliance
 Penalise the landlord for not installing alarms after being required to so, under 

notice
 Eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance with the Regulations
 Be proportionate to potential harm outcomes, the nature of the breach, and the 

cost benefit to comply with these legal requirements. 

5. Criteria for the imposition of a financial penalty
5.1 A failure to comply with the requirements of a Remedial Notice allows the Council 

to require payment of a penalty charge. 



30

5.2 In considering the imposition of a penalty, the Council will look at the evidence 
concerning non-compliance with the requirements of the Remedial Notice. This 
could be obtained from a property inspection, or from information provided by the 
tenant or agent that no remedial action has been undertaken by the landlord.

5.3 For example, landlords can demonstrate compliance with the Regulations by 
supplying dated photographs of alarms, together with installation records or 
confirmation by the tenant that a system is in proper working order. 

5.4 In deciding whether it would be appropriate to impose a penalty, the Council will 
take full account of the particular facts and circumstances of the breach under 
consideration.

6. Criteria for determining the amount of a financial penalty
6.1 The Regulations state the amount of the penalty charge must not exceed £5,000. 

6.2 The penalty charge comprises two parts, a punitive element for failure to comply 
with the absolute requirement to comply with a Remedial Notice and a cost element 
relating to the investigative costs, Council officer time, administration and any 
remedial works arranged and carried out by the Council’s contractors.

6.3 The penalty charge is payable within 29 days beginning with the day on which the 
penalty charge notice is served. 

6.4 The Council has discretion to offer an early payment reduction if a landlord pays 
the penalty charge within 14 days beginning with the day the penalty charge notice 
is served. 

The charges are as follows:

Penalty Charge Early payment reduction (50%)
if paid within 14 days

1st breach £2500 £1250
Subsequent 
breaches

£5000    
per breach

£2500

7. Procedural matters for Penalty Charge Notices
7.1 The Regulations impose a number of procedural steps which must be taken before 

the Council can impose a requirement on a landlord to pay a penalty charge.

7.2 When the Council is satisfied that the landlord has failed to comply with the 
requirements of the Remedial Notice, the penalty charge notice must be served 
within 6 weeks. 

7.3 Where the landlord requests a review of the Council’s decision within 29 days from 
when the penalty charge notice is served, the Council must consider any 
representations made by the landlord. All representations are to be sent to the 
address at the bottom of this document. The Council will notify the landlord of its 
decision by notice, which will be either to confirm, vary or withdraw the penalty 
charge notice. 



31

7.4 A landlord who has requested a review of a penalty charge notice and has been 
served with a notice confirming or varying the penalty charge notice, may appeal 
to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) against the 
Council’s review decision. Appeals should be made within 28 days from the date 
the notice is served.

7.5 Where a landlord appeals to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential 
Property), the operation of the penalty charge notice is suspended until the appeal 
is finally determined or withdrawn. The First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber 
(Residential Property) may quash, confirm or vary the penalty charge notice, but 
may not increase the amount of the penalty charge.

7.6 If the penalty charge notice is not paid, then the Council may recover the penalty 
charge by an order of the court. Proceedings for recovery will not commence earlier 
than 31 days from the date the penalty charge notice is served. 

7.7 However, in cases where a landlord has requested a review of the penalty charge 
notice, recovery will not commence earlier than 30 days from the date the notice 
giving the Council’s decision to vary or confirm the penalty charge notice is served. 
Where landlords appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential 
Property), recovery will not commence earlier than 30 days from when the appeal 
is finally determined or withdrawn.

8. Remedial Action taken in default of the landlord
 Where the Council is satisfied that a landlord has not complied with the 

requirements of the Remedial Notice within the required timescale and consent is 
given by the tenant, the Council is required by law to arrange for remedial works to 
be undertaken in default of the landlord. This work in default will be undertaken 
within 28 days of the Council being satisfied of the breach.  In these circumstances, 
battery operated alarms will be installed as a quick and immediate response. 

8.1 Smoke Alarms – In order to comply with the Regulations, where the property is 
considered to be high risk because of:
 its mode of occupancy such as a house in multiple occupation or building 

converted into one or more flats;
 having an unsafe internal layout where fire escape routes pass through a living 

rooms or kitchens; or 
 is 3 or more storeys high, 

As a temporary measure, smoke alarms will be installed at every storey of 
residential accommodation. 

8.2 A full fire risk assessment will subsequently be undertaken, having regard to the 
Housing Act 2004 (as amended), Housing Health & Safety Rating System and 
LACORS Housing - fire safety guidance. Consultation with Kent Fire and Rescue 
Service will also be undertaken.

8.3 The full fire risk assessment will consider the adequacy of the type and coverage 
of the smoke alarm system, fire escape routes, including escape windows and fire 
separation measures such as fire doors and protected walls and ceilings. Where 
further works required to address serious fire safety hazards in residential property 
cannot be undertaken through informal agreement, the Council will use its 



32

enforcement powers under the Housing Act 2004 (as amended), in accordance 
with its Enforcement Policy

8.4 Carbon Monoxide Alarms – In order to comply with the Regulations, a carbon 
monoxide alarm will be installed in every room containing a solid fuel combusting 
appliance.

9. All communications for representations made against the Remedial Notice 
(Regulation 5) or the Penalty Charge Notice (Regulation 8) are to be sent to:
Marie Gerald.
Housing Solutions and & Private Sector Manager.
Dartford Borough Council, Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, DA1 1DR.
Or by email to: housingprivatesector@dartford.gov.uk

APPENDIX 4

Compliance and Enforcement Flow Chart- MEES



33

APPENDIX 5

Property Redress Scheme

Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work and Property Management Work 
(Requirement to Belong to a Scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014



34

Enforcement Process:

Step 1: Notice of Intent 
The Council must give written notice of their intention to impose a penalty, setting out: 

a. The reasons for the penalty; 
b. The amount of the penalty; and 
c. That there is a 28 day period to make written representations or 

objections, starting from the day after the date on which the notice of 
intent was sent. 

This written notice must be served within 6 months of the date on which the Council is 
in the position to issue the fine (having gathered sufficient evidence and be satisfied 
that a fine is appropriate). 

The Council may withdraw the notice of intent or reduce the amount specified in the 
notice at any time by giving notice in writing. 

Step 2: Representations and Objections 
The person who the notice of intent was served on has 28 days starting from the day 
after the date the notice of intent was sent to make written representations and 
objections to the Council in relation to the proposed fine. 

A lower penalty should only be charged if the Council is satisfied that there are 
extenuating circumstances. It will be up to the Council to decide what such 
circumstances might be, taking into account any representations the lettings agent or 
property manager makes during the 28 day period following the authority’s notice of 
intention to issue a fine.  Guidance states that such matters could include whether a 
£5,000 fine would be disproportionate to the turnover/scale of the business or would 
lead to an organisation going out of business. The decision as to whether a fine should 
be reduced will be made by the Head of Housing.  

Step 3: Final Notice 
At the end of the 28 day period the Council must decide, having taken into account any 
representations received, whether to impose the fine and, if so, must give at least 28 
days for payment to be made. When imposing a fine, the Council must issue a final 
notice in writing which explains: 

a. Why the fine is being imposed; 
b. The amount to be paid; 
c. How payment may be made; 
d. The consequences of failing to pay; 
e. That there is a right to appeal against the penalty to the First-Tier Tribunal 

and that any appeal must be made within 28 days after the imposition of 
the fine. 

The Council may withdraw the final notice or reduce the amount specified in the notice 
at any time by giving notice in writing. 

Step 4: Appeals 
If an appeal is lodged the fine cannot be enforced until the appeal is disposed of. 
Appeals can be made on the grounds that: 



35

a. The decision to impose a fine was based on a factual error or was 
wrong in law; 

b. The amount of the fine is unreasonable; or 
c. That the decision was unreasonable for any other reason. 

The First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) may agree with the 
enforcement authority’s notice to issue a penalty or may decide to quash or vary the 
notice and fine. 

Step 5: Recovery of the penalty 
If the lettings agent or property manager does not pay the fine within the period 
specified the Council can recover the fine with the permission of the court as if payable 
under a court order. Where proceedings are necessary for the recovery of the fine, a 
certificate signed by the Council’s Section 151 Officer stating that the amount due has 
not been received by a date stated on the certificate will be taken as conclusive 
evidence that the fine has not been paid.

ANNEX 1
Statement of Principles for the Issuing of Civil Penalties

1. Purpose



36

This statement sets out the principles that the Council will apply when considering 
the imposition of civil penalties under the following statutes:

 The Housing Act 2004 (as amended)

 The Housing and Planning Act 2016.
The Government has issued statutory and non-statutory guidance, which the Council 
will consider when deciding whether to issue civil penalties. 

2.Overarching Principles for Issuing a Civil Penalty
These principles are: 

 To lower or remove the risk to tenant’s/occupant’s health and safety.

 To remove financial gain or benefit from non-compliance.

 To protect the interests of the public.

 To penalise the perpetrator for the offence(s).

 To change the behaviour of the perpetrator and to prevent future non-
compliance.

 To dissuade others from offending.
[The Council considers points I. and II. to be the most significant and in-line with the 
objectives of the Council in protecting the health, safety and welfare of private 
tenants and improving standards in the private rented sector.]  
The Council may impose a Civil Penalty, as an alternative to prosecution, up to a 
maximum of £30,000 in respect of the following offences:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (Housing Act 2004).
Where there is a successful prosecution the courts can impose an unlimited fine.

 Failure to license or other licensing offences relating to HMOs (Housing Act 
2004), which applies to both mandatory and additional HMO Licensing 
Schemes. 
Where there is a successful prosecution the courts can impose an unlimited fine.

 Failure to comply with an Overcrowding Notice (Housing Act 2004).
Where there is a successful prosecution the courts can impose an unlimited fine.

 Failure to comply with a regulation in respect of an HMO (Housing Act 2004).

 Breaching a Banning Order (Housing and Planning Act 2016).
Where there is a successful prosecution the courts can impose an unlimited fine 
and up to 51 days imprisonment.

In setting the amount of the Civil Penalty the Council will have regard to statutory 
guidance.  
The level of penalty levied will reflect the severity of the offence and the offenders 
previous record of offending.  The factors that guidance requires the Council to 
consider are:
a. Severity of the offence - The more serious the offence, the higher the penalty 

should be.



37

b. Culpability and track record of the offender - A higher penalty will be 
appropriate where the offender has a history of failing to comply with their 
obligations and/or their actions were deliberate, and/or they knew, or ought to 
have known, that they were in breach of their legal responsibilities. Landlords 
are running a business and should be expected to be aware of their legal 
obligations.

c. The harm caused to the tenant - This is a very important factor when 
determining the level of penalty. The greater the harm or the potential for harm 
(this may be as perceived by the tenant), the higher the amount should be when 
imposing a Civil Penalty.

d. Punishment of the offender - A Civil Penalty should not be regarded as an 
easy or lesser option compared to prosecution. While the penalty should be 
proportionate and reflect both the severity of the offence and whether there is a 
pattern of previous offending, it is important that it is set at a high enough level 
to help ensure that it has a real economic impact on the offender and 
demonstrate the consequences of not complying with their responsibilities.

e. Deter the offender from repeating the offence - The goal is to prevent any 
further offending and help ensure that the landlord fully complies with all their 
legal responsibilities in future. The level of the penalty should therefore be set at 
a high enough level such that it is likely to deter the offender from repeating the 
offence.

f. Deter others from committing similar offences - While the fact that someone 
has received a Civil Penalty will not be in the public domain, it is possible that 
other landlords in the local area will become aware through informal channels 
when someone has received a Civil Penalty. An important part of deterrence is 
the realisation that (a) the Council is proactive in levying civil penalties where 
the need to do so exists and (b) that the level of Civil Penalty will be set at a high 
enough level to both punish the offender and deter repeat offending.

g. Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained because of 
committing the offence - The guiding principle here should be to ensure that 
the offender does not benefit because of committing an offence, i.e. it should not 
be cheaper to offend than to ensure a property is well maintained and properly 
managed.

3.Civil Penalties Matrix
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) have 
provided guidance on a methodology for setting the level of Civil Penalty, which the 
Council has had regard to in devising its own methodology for determining the level 
of Civil Penalty to impose.

The Council operates a 9-stage process in determining the level of Civil Penalty:
Stage 1 – The culpability of the offender
For example, was the offence committed deliberately, the length of time the offence 
continued, whether the offence was repeated, whether the offence was pre-
meditated.  
In making this assessment the Council considers that renting is a business activity 
to make a profit and therefore should be treated as any other business and that 



38

ignorance of the law is not an excuse.  However, it expects 
landlords/letting/managing agents with larger portfolios of properties and those that 
are members of professional organisations and/or accredited to have a higher-level 
knowledge and experience and therefore will be considered more culpable in setting 
the level of penalty.  
Stage 2 – The seriousness and level of harm caused by the offence  
The Council will consider: 
a. The legislative level of punishment that can be imposed. All the offences carry 

an unlimited maximum fine. However, breaching a Banning Order can also result 
in a prison sentence of up to 51 weeks.

b. The number of people affected.
c. Whether the impact on the victim(s) (actual or potential) is serious, long-term, 

life-altering or potentially fatal.
d. Whether the victim(s) were vulnerable, e.g. families with children, a vulnerable 

adult, discrimination (protected characteristics under the Equalities Act 2010), 
etc.

e. Whether there was harm (actual or potential) caused to the surrounding area or 
community.

[The Council considers this aspect particularly significant and therefore applies extra 
weighting to this category to reflect its seriousness.]
Stage 3 – Punishment of the offender
The Council will consider:

a. Whether there was any attempt to cover up evidence of the offence, mislead 
officers or harass occupants and witnesses.

b. A landlords/agent’s refusal to accept or respond to the Local Authorities (or other 
enforcement agency) advice and recommendations regarding their 
responsibilities.

c. Did the offence relate to other crime, e.g. illegal eviction, harassment, enviro 
crimes, modern slavery, prostitution or drug production/distribution.

Stage 4 - Remove any financial benefit gained in committing the offence(s) 
The Council considers this aspect particularly significant and will make a financial 
assessment of the costs associated with committing the offence(s).  The level of penalty 
applied will always be higher (subject to the maximum level of £30,000) than the 
financial benefit gained from committing the offence.  Where the financial benefit 
exceeds the maximum amount, the Council will also, where legislatively possible, apply 
to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) for a RRO and/or 
assist a tenant to do so.
Stage 5 - Deter the offender from repeating the offence and from others 
committing similar offences
The Council will consider whether the level of penalty imposed would act as a deterrent 
to the offender and others.  Where this is unlikely the Council will consider prosecution 
and/or the application, where legislatively possible, to the First-Tier Tribunal Property 
Chamber (Residential Property) for a RRO and/or assist a tenant to do so.



39

Stage 6 – Assessment of assets and income
In setting the level of penalty, the Council will take account of the offender’s income 
and assets and adjust accordingly.  The guiding presumption will be that the penalty 
will not automatically be revised downwards simply because an offender has (or claims 
to have) a low income.  The value of an offender’s assets, e.g. their rental portfolio, as 
well as their income, will be considered when determining an appropriate penalty. For 
example, a landlord with a large portfolio where a low-level penalty is initially assessed 
will have the penalty level adjusted upward to reflect the value of their assets. 
Stage 7 – Mitigation 
The Council will consider:

a. Steps voluntarily taken to remedy problem (see the discounts available).
b. The offender is fully co-operative with the investigation.
c. Good record of maintaining property and compliance with legislation, statutory 

standards prior to the offence(s).
d. The offender self-reports (e.g. for failing to license), co-operates with the Council 

and accepts responsibility.
e. The offender has a mental disorder or learning disability, which is linked to the 

commission of the offence.
f. The offender has a serious medical condition(s) requiring urgent, intensive or 

long-term treatment, which was linked to the commission of the offence.
g. Age and/or lack of maturity where it affects the responsibility of the offender.
h. Any further factors that the offender wishes to draw to the Local Authorities 

attention. 
In determining mitigating factors and how they will apply to the level of Civil Penalty the 
Council will consider any that they are aware of as part of the assessment process. 
The offender can also use the ‘Notice of Intent’ stage to inform the Council of any other 
mitigating factor they believe relevant.  The Council will expect any mitigating factors 
pleaded to be accompanied by supporting evidence. 
Stage 8 – Totality principle 
This applies where there is the possibility of imposing more than one Civil Penalty. 
Where there are multiple offences resulting from the same incident/conduct the Council 
will take account of each offence as set out in the previous stages and add up the 
penalties and apply the aggregate total as one Civil Penalty to reflect the most serious 
of the offences found from the incident/conduct (subject to the maximum of £30,000).  
Where aggregate total exceeds the maximum amount, the Council will consider 
prosecution and/or the application, where legislatively possible, to the First-Tier 
Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) RO and/or assist a tenant to do so.
Where there are multiple offences arising from separate incidents/conduct the Council 
will assess each individually as set out in the previous stages and apply separate civil 
penalties, where it is proportionate to do so.
Stage 9 – Review and check
Prior to the issue of a ‘Notice of Intent’ the process and level of penalties will be 
reviewed and checked. The purpose of this is to check the process has been correctly 
applied and that the resulting level penalty/penalties is/are reasonable and 



40

proportionate. The Case Officers Line Manager will be responsible for this review with 
the final decision to proceed taken by the Head of Housing.



41

Quick Guide Flow Chart – Civil Penalties

Case Can’t Proceed

Does the case meet the 
evidential and public 

interest tests?

No

Yes

Legal 
check

Representations?

Prepare Notice of Indented 
Proceedings

Complete Review? 

Send letter setting out 
reasons

Quash

Appeal?

Recovery
Consider Prosecution

Confirm or Vary

NoYes

Manager Check

Serve Notice of Indented 
Proceedings

Prepare Final Notice

Manager Check

Serve Final Notice

Send letter setting out 
reasons

Withdraw

Manager Check
No change

Modify

Complete CP Matrix

No
Yes

Yes



42

Civil Penalty Scoring Matrix

Factors Not Applicable

Score = 1

Minor 

Score = 5

Moderate 

 Score = 10

Serious 

Score = 15

Severe

Score = 20

Total

Breach of a Banning Order? - this offence carries the greatest possible punishment upon a successful prosecution and 
therefore extra weighting is applied to reflect the severity of the offence – additional score of 10
The culpability 
of the offender

Short term offence, 
no premeditation 
and no previous 
history.

First time offence.  
The offence has 
been ongoing for a 
short time. Minor 
prior infractions, 
which may include a 
repeat of the current 
offence 

Second or third time 
offender.  No 
premeditation. The 
offence has been 
ongoing for a 
moderate period of 
time. A case history of 
non-cooperation and 
relevant prior 
offending which may 
include a repeat of the 
current offence

Multiple offender.  
Some premeditation. 
The offence has been 
ongoing for a significant 
period of time. A case 
history of non-
cooperation and 
relevant prior offending 
including a repeat of this 
offence. 

Serial offender (10 + 
times.
Premeditation. The 
offence has been 
ongoing for a 
significant period of 
time. A case history of 
non-cooperation and 
relevant prior 
offending including a 
repeat of this offence.

Portfolio landlord (more than 5 properties) or letting agent? - Multiplier of 2
Level of harm Very little or no harm 

caused.  One victim 
household. No 
vulnerable 
occupants.

Low-level health 
risk(s)/harm(s) 
identified.  One 
victim household. No 
vulnerable 
occupants.

Moderate-level health 
risk(s)/harm(s) 
identified.  Two to four 
victim households.
Vulnerable occupants 
potentially exposed.

Severe-level health 
risk(s)/harm(s) 
identified.  Two to four 
victim households.

Severe-level health 
risk(s)/harm(s) 
identified.  Five or 
more victim 
households.

Weighting multiplier of 2
Punishment of No other crime, no Minor previous Minor previous Significant other crime. Severe harm resulting 



43

the offender perversion and a 
willingness to 
adhere to advice 

infractions, no 
perversion and a 
willingness to adhere 
to advice

infractions, attempts to 
pervert, unwilling to 
cooperate

Offender made 
attempts to pervert and 
hostile to cooperation

from other crime. 
Offender made 
attempts to pervert 
and hostile to the 
Council and others

Financial 
benefit 

Negligible financial 
impact 

Low to moderate 
financial impact.

Medium level financial 
impact. 

Large financial impact. Maximum financial 
impact available

Weighting multiplier of 2
Deter 
the offender & 
others

No or little 
deterrence likely.  
Repeat offending 
possible.

Low level offence, 
unlikely to be 
reported on.  Mild 
deterrence

Some publicity may 
result.  Will act as a 
mid-term deterrent 
from repeating 
offence(s).

Publicity will be sought.  
Large deterrence to 
offender and landlord 
community

Publicity inevitable via 
numerous methods.  
Massive deterrence to 
re-offending and to 
wider landlord 
community.

Assets 
and income

No demonstrable or 
significant assets. 
Doesn’t apply to 
agents  

Low asset value (e.g. 
single property 
landlord). Doesn’t 
apply to agents  

Small portfolio 
landlord/agent (less 
than 5 properties) 
and/or other moderate 
assets/income.  

Small/medium portfolio 
landlord/agent 
(between 3 – 10 
properties) with other 
assets/incomer.  

Large portfolio 
landlord/agent.  Wider 
assets/income 
considered

Mitigating 
factors (score 
inverted, i.e. 
subtracted 
rather than 
addition)

None Minor mitigating 
factor

One major or multiple 
minor mitigating 
factors 

Two or more major 
mitigating factors

Multiple major 
mitigating factors



44

Score Range Fee
1 – 10 £250
11 – 30 £500
31 – 50 £750
51 – 70 £1,000
71 – 90 £2,500
91 – 100 £5,000
101 – 120 £10,000
121 – 140 £15,000
141 – 160 £20,000
161 – 180 £25,000
181 – 200 £30,000

Notes:

I. Each offence will be assessed and then the totality principle applied. 
II. Assessments will be carried out prior to the issue of a ‘Notice of Intent’. A reassessment will then be carried out following any 

representations received by the offender. 



45

Civil Penalties Enforcement Process
The prosecution principle 
The Council will carry out the investigation into the case as it would any other case it considers 
for criminal proceedings.  The Council will satisfy themselves that there would be a 
reasonable expectation of securing a conviction and that the case would be proven ‘beyond 
a reasonable doubt’ (the criminal standard). 
A case file will be developed in line with the Local Authorities internal procedures for criminal 
investigations.  Each case will be required to satisfy:

a. The evidential stage – The Council will be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence 
to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against each suspect on each charge. 
In doing so the Council will also consider any defence there may be, and how it is 
likely to affect the prospects of conviction.

b. The public interest stage – even if the evidential stage is met the Council will also 
consider whether a prosecution would be in the public interest and will consider the 
following factors in determining this; the circumstances of and the harm caused to 
the victim, whether the suspect is under the age of 18 at the time of the offence, 
the impact on the community, whether a prosecution is a proportionate response 
and whether sources of information require protecting (this usually only applies to 
issues of international relations and national security). 

Each case will be presented to the Housing Solutions & Private Sector Manager and the Local 
Authorities Legal Services to review and confirm these stages have been satisfactorily met 
before considering the imposition of a Civil Penalty. 
The Notice process
Before imposing a Civil Penalty, the Council will serve a Notice of Intent.  This will be served 
within 6 months of determining whether an offence(s) has been committed.  The recipient of 
notice may make written representations to the Council.  Any representations must be made 
within a 28-day period and will be fully considered by the Council.  It is recommended that 
that any representations made are accompanied by supporting evidence.  After the end of 
the period for representations the Council will:

a. Decide whether to impose a financial penalty.
b. If it decides to impose a financial penalty, decide the amount of the penalty.
c. In determining whether to impose a financial penalty, and the level of any penalty, 

the Council will consider any representations received.
The Local Authorities expectation is that a landlord/letting agent will also use the ‘Notice of 
Intent’ stage to set out their financial circumstances and supply supporting evidence of this, 
which will then be considered in whether to proceed to a ‘Final Notice’ and the amount of 
penalty to impose.  
If the Council decides to impose a financial penalty a Final Notice will be served.  This will set 
out:

a. The amount of the financial penalty (and any relevant discount),
b. The reasons for imposing the penalty,
c. Information about how to pay the penalty,                                               



46

d. The period for payment of the penalty (28 days),
e. Information about rights of appeal,
f. The consequences of failure to comply with the notice.

Discounts
The Council will apply the following discounted rates to any imposed financial penalty in the 
following circumstances:

a. Compliance Discount - A 20% discount will be applied if the offender complied with 
the identified breach, e.g. carrying out the works required by the Improvement 
Notice, within the 28 days given to make representations at the ‘Notice of Intent’ 
stage. 

b. Early Payment Discount - A 50% discount of the original calculated amount (before 
any compliance discount is applied) should the penalty be paid within 14 days. 

The Council may at any time withdraw a notice of intent or final notice; or reduce the amount 
specified in a notice of intent or final notice.
Appeals
A recipient of a Final Notice may appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber 
(Residential Property) against the decision to impose a penalty, or the amount of the penalty 
within 28 days of receiving the Final Notice. 
If an appeal is lodged the Final Notice is suspended until the appeal is determined or 
withdrawn. 
The First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) has the power to confirm, 
vary (increase or reduce) the size of the Civil Penalty imposed or to cancel the Civil Penalty.
Where an appeal results in the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) 
confirming or varying the Civil Penalty the Council will offer the recipient the early payment 
discount of 50% if the penalty is paid within 14 days of receipt of written confirmation of the 
First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber’s (Residential Property))decision. 
Recovery
Where the Civil Penalty is not paid the Council will seek to recover the amount (and any legal 
costs for doing so) through the County Court.



47

ANNEX 2

Policy Guide to Mandatory Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation in 
Dartford

This document contains the policy and procedural information for the Licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in the Borough of Dartford in accordance with Housing Act 2004 
Part 2.  All applications will be dealt with in accordance with the Act, government guidance 
and this policy.

1. Purpose and Aims of Licensing
The private rented sector has a valuable role to play in meeting demand and offering choice 
and flexibility in the housing market. However, historically, there have been concerns 
regarding the condition, safety and reputation of the sector.  

It is against this backdrop that licensing seeks to ensure that:

• Landlords or their agents are fit and proper persons 
• standards of tenancy relations management and property management employed 

by a landlord or agent are adequate
• Councils have measures available to ensure that landlords are encouraged to 

cooperate with licensing
• Properties of Landlords who are unwilling to or unable to meet the required criteria, 

are managed by Councils
• Vulnerable tenants, in HMOs, are protected

2. Application of the Scheme
A full definition of what constitutes an HMO is contained in sections 254 and 258 of the 
Housing Act 2004 (see Annex 2 - Appendix 1).  With effect from 1 October 2018 this 
scheme will apply to all HMOs that meet the following criteria:

• is occupied by five or more persons
• is occupied by persons living in two or more separate households; and meets:
a. (The standard test under section 254(2) of the Act; any building in which two or 

more families/individuals share basic amenities

b. The self-contained flat test under section 254(3) of the Act but is not a purpose-
built flat situated in a block comprising three or more self-contained flats; or

c. The converted building test under section 254(4) of the Act. any converted building 
which comprises of one or more units of accommodation that are not self-
contained

The scheme will apply to the whole of the Borough of Dartford currently administered by 
Dartford Borough Council (‘the Council’).



48

HMO Declarations
Where it is unclear whether households are occupying the building as their only or main 
residence, the Council can declare the building to be an HMO to remove any doubt.

The Council must serve a notice under section 255 on the landlord or manager of the 
property within 7 days of deciding to make the declaration stating:

• The date of the Council’s decision to serve the notice
• The date on which the notice will come into force (which must be not less than 28 

days from the date the notice is served)
• The recipients right to appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (Property Chamber)(FFT) 

within 28 days of the Council’s decision

If no appeal is made within 28 days, the notice comes into force on the day stated on the 
notice. If an appeal is made in time, the notice does not come into force until the appeal 
procedure has been completed.

3. Revocation of HMO Declaration
An HMO declaration can be revoked if:

The Council determines the declaration no longer applies
OR

The relevant person applies to have declaration revoked and it is granted by the Council

If an application to revoke an HMO declaration is refused the Council must without delay 
serve a notice on the applicant informing them of the:
a. Decision
b. The reasons for it and the date made and,
c. The right to appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) 

within 28 days of date of decision.

4. Exemptions
Certain buildings cannot be defined as HMOs, irrespective of whether they meet the 
definitions above:
• If it is occupied by only two people. 
• If it is occupied by the owner (and their family if any) and one or two lodgers. 
• If it is occupied by a religious community. 
• If the occupiers have their main residence elsewhere 
• If no one in the property is required to pay rent. 
• If the owner or manager is a public body. 
• If the owner or manager is an educational institution. 
• A building of self-contained flats if two thirds or more of the flats are owner-occupied. 
• If the property is part of a guest house or hotel (unless an ‘HMO Declaration’ is made). 

      (Further details are listed in Appendix 1.1)

The Housing Act 2004 gives the Council a general duty to take all reasonable steps to 
secure that those whose properties fall within a licensing scheme apply for a licence.  Every 
property subject to the mandatory licensing must be licensed unless:

• A temporary exemption notice is in force (see appendix 2), or



49

• An interim or final management order is in force (see section 6.33 of the Private 
Sector Housing Enforcement and Licensing Policy)

5. Processing a Licence/Renewal application
A person having control of, or managing a licensable HMO must apply for a licence.

For the purposes of the application, the proposed licence holder will be:

a. the applicant, or
b. some other person, if both he/she and the applicant agree

The proposed licence holder must complete, sign and return, with all relevant
Information, an application form as supplied by the Council. 

6. Valid Applications (new licences)
An application will not be accepted as valid or be processed until the following is received:

a. A fully completed application form
b. All required supporting documentation
c. Current i.e. within last 12 months Gas Safety Certificate
d. Current (i.e. within last 5 years) Electrical Installation Condition Report completed by 

a competent person such as NAPIT,ELECSA, NICEIC contractor
e. Fire Detection systems – for systems less than 12 months old – the design, installation 

and commissioning certificates for the system 
f. Or if older than 12 months, the most recent servicing/maintenance certification for the 

system
g. Emergency lighting – for systems less than 12 months old , the installation certificate
h. For systems older than 12 months, the most recent servicing/maintenance certification
i. Copy of a Tenancy Agreement
j. Proof of address of the applicant
k. Annotated floor plan showing rooms sizes and fire safety measures 
l. Proof of payment of licence fee is provided

7. Licensing Process
The Council aims to process an application within 12 weeks of a valid application being 
received, occasionally, the Council make request a Landlord’s agreement for an 
extension to this processing time.  Each application will be processed in accordance with 
the Licensing Application Flowchart found in Appendix 3.

8. Property Inspection
The Council will assess when an HHSRS inspection of the HMO is required using a risk 
assessment matrix based on information already held and provided within the licence 
application (see appendix 4). 

Those assessed as posing a high risk to occupiers will be inspected as soon as possible 
during the licensing application process.  All licensed HMOs will be inspected during their 
licence period. Any Category 1 Hazards will be dealt with as outlined in this Policy. 

An annual desktop review/risk assessment will be undertaken. The Council will prioritise 
works according to the level of risk. The Council cannot attach conditions to the licence 
on the expectation of the works being carried out. Where applicable, the owner will be 



50

informed by a variation to the initial licence of works required and timescales for 
completion in accordance with these aforementioned policies/legislation.

9. Standards
HMOs should be free of any Category One Hazards, meet the standards outlined in the 
Council’s Amenity Standards found in Appendix 5 and comply with legislation and 
Statutory guidance issued.  With effect from 1 October 2018 additional legislation will 
impose minimum room sizes and requirements relating to the storage and disposal of 
household waste, which will be included in an updated Amenity Standards document. 

A Licence shall be granted for a period of five years unless special circumstances are 
identified where it is appropriate for a licence to be issued for a shorter amount of time, 
or refused.

On or before expiry of the licence, the licence holder must apply to renew the
Licence.  Where a licence has been issued for a period less than 5 years, no additional 
monies will be payable until the expiration of a 5 year period from the date of the first 
instance, except on change of a licence holder where an administration charge would 
apply.

On renewal, the licence holder will complete an application form detailing any
Changes, in respect of the HMO, using a Licence Renewal Application Form; a fee is 
payable.

During any period of the licence, the licence holder shall notify the Council of any changes 
to any particulars relating to the house and/or the licence.

The licence holder or an interested party may request in writing for the licence to be 
revoked or varied at any time.

The Council may also revoke or vary a licence at any time

10. Public Register 
The Council must establish and maintain a public register of all the licences granted by 
them, of all temporary exemption notices served by them and of all Management Orders 
that are in effect. An edited version is available on the Council’s website, whilst an 
unedited version is available on written request.

11. Refusal to Grant a Licence

The Council may refuse to grant a licence if it is not satisfied that the house is reasonably 
suitable for occupation by the maximum number of households or persons specified in 
the application for the licence, and the house cannot be made suitable by the imposition 
of conditions in the licence and/or it fails to provide adequate amenities in accordance 
with the Council’s Amenity Standards Policy found in Appendix 5.

The Council may refuse a licence if:

• The proposed licence holder is not a fit and proper person. (see below)
• The proposed licence holder is not the most appropriate person to hold the licence.



51

• The proposed manager of the house is not a fit and proper person.
• The proposed management arrangements for the house are not satisfactory.

12. Fit and Proper Person Criteria
The Council must consider evidence relating to whether the proposed licence holder or 
the manager is a fit and proper person. They must also consider any evidence regarding 
any person associated or formally (previously) associated with the proposed licence 
holder or manager, whether on a personal, work or other basis if this is relevant.

The Council will consider offences regarding:
• Fraud, or other dishonesty
• Violence
• Drugs
• Sexual Offences Act Schedule 3

(See Appendix 6 for details of spent offences)

The Council will also consider any unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, 
ethnic or national origins or disability in connection with a business.

The Council will consider if there has been a contravention of any provision of housing or 
landlord and tenant law. In particular, within the last five years, whilst in control of any 
property that:

• Has been subject to a control order
• Has been subject to proceedings by a local authority
• Has had to have works in default carried out by any local authority
• Has been subject to a management order under the Housing Act 2004
• Has been refused a licence or breached conditions of a licence.
• Is subject to a banning order – Housing and Planning Act 2016 
• Is listed on the rogue landlord data base -Housing and Planning Act 2016

The final decision as to whether an applicant is unfit will be made by the Head of Housing.

13. Management Orders
Where there is no prospect of an HMO being licensed, the Act requires that the
Council use its Interim Management Order (IMO) powers. This enables the council to take 
over the management of an HMO and become responsible for running the property and 
collecting rent for up to a year. In appropriate cases this can be extended via a Final 
Management Order (FMO) to five years, with the council also having the power to grant 
tenancies.  FMO may be applied beyond the five year period.  

14. Licence Fee
Section 63 (3) of the Act states that the authority may require the application to be 
accompanied by a fee fixed by the authority.

Paragraph (7) of this section allows Local Housing Authorities when fixing fees under this 
section, to take into account all costs incurred  in carrying out their function to grant 
licences for certain HMO’s.

The fees for licensing and re-licensing are calculated using a matrix which includes Officer 
time, as well as administrative costs. The Council will require an application for a licence 



52

to be accompanied by a fee.  Licence fees are reviewed annually and published on the 
Council’s website.

15. Conditions of the Licence
Each licence must contain the following standard conditions:

• The licence holder must supply, for the Councils inspection, a valid current gas-
safety certificate, obtained in regard to the property which is renewed annually

• The licence holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture made available by 
the landlord in the house in a safe condition and to submit, on demand, a 
declaration of their safety

• The licence holder must ensure that smoke alarms are correctly positioned and 
installed in the house, and to keep them in proper working order. They will submit, 
on demand, a declaration of their condition and location in the property.

• To supply to the occupants a written statement of the terms on which they occupy 
it.

Minimum sleeping room sizes: 
a) 6.51 m2 for one person over 10 years of age 

b) 10.22 m2 for two persons over 10 years of age 

c) 4.64 m2 for one child under the age of 10 years 

The license holder must comply with any scheme which is provided by the local housing 
authority to the license holder and which relates to the storage and disposal of household 
waste at the HMO pending collection.

The Council has the power to include further conditions as necessary that regulate the 
management, use and occupation of the house and the condition and contents of the 
house. These conditions will be specific to the circumstances found in each individual 
HMO.

16. Breach of Conditions
Where a person managing or having control of an HMO permits another person to occupy 
the house and this results in the house being occupied by more households or persons 
than is authorised by the licence, the person in control or managing will be liable on 
summary conviction to a fine up to level 5 on the standard scale or a civil penalty (see 
Civil Penalty Procedure at Annex 1).

A person managing or having control of an HMO that is required to be licensed under this 
scheme, will be committing an offence if he/she does not licence the HMO, and will be 
liable, on summary conviction, to a fine up to level 5 on the standard scale  or a civil 
penalty. 

The licence holder or a person, on whom restrictions or obligations under a
licence have been imposed, will have committed an offence if he/she fails to comply with 
any of the conditions on the licence and will be liable on summary conviction to a fine up 
to level 5 on the standard scale  or a civil penalty. 

17. Ending the Licence



53

There are a number of ways in which the licence can be ended. However, if the licensed 
property ceases to require a licence (because it no longer falls within the mandatory, 
discretionary or selective licensing regimes), the licence continues in force. 
This is important because the conditions applicable to the licence will continue and will 
have to be adhered to by the licence holder. The licence can only end in one of the 
following ways:

• Passage of time - The licence expires on the date stated within it, unless a new licence 
is granted following a fresh application.

• Death of the licence holder - The licence ceases to be in force upon the death of the 
licence holder. However, for a period of 3 months from the date of the licence holder’s 
death, the property is to be treated as if, on the date of death, a Temporary Exemption 
Notice (TEN) had been served (see Temporary Exemption Notices see appendix 
2). This ensures that, although the licence is no longer in force, there is no immediate 
threat of enforcement proceedings.

• During the initial 3 months, the personal representatives of the licence holder can 
request the service of a further TEN, to take effect as the first period of exemption 
comes to an end. If the Council refuses to serve a further TEN, they must comply with 
the notice provisions explaining their reasons (see Appendix 2 for further details).

• Sale of the property - If the property is sold and the licence holder is no longer the 
landlord or manager of the property, the licence is no longer effective (since licences 
are non-transferable). The new owner will need to make arrangements to apply for a 
new licence or a Temporary Exemption Notice (see Appendix 2), as the case may be.  

18. Revocation
The Council may revoke a licence (i.e. bring it to an end before it expires by passage of 
time) in the following circumstances:

a. With the agreement of the licence holder
b. There has been serious or repeated breaches of a licence condition
c. The licence holder is no longer a fit and proper person to hold the licence e.g. 

in receipt of a Banning Order
d. The management of the property is no longer being carried out by persons who 

are fit and proper persons to be involved in its management
e. In respect of a property subject to selective licensing, a HMO license has been 

granted (allowing for the selective licence to be revoked)
f. The property ceases to fall within the mandatory, discretionary or selective 

licensing regimes and the Council considers, were a new application to be made 
for a licence, the structure of the property is such that a new licence would not 
be granted

A licence is non-transferable and applies to the named licence holder at the given address 
only.   If the property is sold or transferred or the licence holder changes, a new application 
will be necessary and fees will be charged in accordance with Officer time spent 
processing this.   



54

19. Rights of Appeal
Where the Council has refused an application for a licence the applicant, or any relevant 
person, may appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) 
against the decision within 28 days of the date specified in the appropriate notice.

Where the Council has granted a licence the applicant, or any relevant person, may 
appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) against the 
decision or the conditions that apply, within 28 days of the date specified in the 
appropriate notice.

Where the Council has made a decision to either vary or revoke a licence, or has refused 
to vary or revoke a licence, the licence holder, or any relevant person, may appeal to the 
First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) against the decision within 
28 days of the date specified in the appropriate notice.

The First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property) may allow an appeal 
outside of these periods if it is satisfied there is a good reason.

Contact details: First-tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) Residential Property, Havant 
Justice Centre, The Court House, Elmleigh Road, Havant, Hampshire, PO9 2AL
Telephone No:  01243 779394

20. Unlicensed HMOs
Unlicensed HMOs may be identified during pro-active investigations by the Council or 
brought to the attention of the Council.  Where such premises are identified, formal action 
such as civil penalty/legal proceedings/rent repayment order may be considered and the 
Landlord will be invited to make representations. They will also be encouraged to make 
a Licence application as soon as possible.  Licences will only be issued following receipt 
of a valid application and to ‘fit and proper’ persons.

Landlords who fail to reapply for a licence in properties that require a renewal of their 
licence or fail to provide the required information or the appropriate fee within 28 days 
may also be investigated for failing to licence a licensable property. 

All practical steps will be taken to assist the owner of the property to satisfy the licensing 
requirements

The Council or tenant mayo make an application for a Rent Repayment Order (see 
section 10 of the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy) to the First-Tier Tribunal 
(Property Chamber (Residential Property), where a landlord has failed to license a 
property requiring a licence under the Housing Act 2004. 



55

Annex 2 - Appendices

Appendix 1 

Housing Act 2004 Section 254
Meaning of "house in multiple occupation"

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/254

Appendix 1.1

SCHEDULE 14 Section 254

BUILDINGS WHICH ARE NOT HMOS FOR PURPOSES OF THIS ACT (EXCLUDING PART 
1)

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/schedule/14

Section 258

HMO’s; persons not forming a single household

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/258

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/254
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/schedule/14
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/258


56

Appendix 2

Temporary Exemption Notices

The Council may, if it thinks fit, serve a Temporary Exemption Notice (TEN) where a person 
who is required to be licensed notifies the Council that they propose to take steps to secure 
that the property is no longer required to be licensed. The TEN is served on that person.  A 
TEN may also be used on death of a licensee/sale of a property.

The TEN exempts that property from being licensed for a period of 3 months (from the date 
the notice is served). In exceptional circumstances, the Council may serve a second TEN, 
that last for a further 3 months and that takes effect when the first TEN ends. No further TEN 
can be served after the expiry of the second TEN.

If the Council decide not to serve a TEN, they must serve on the person requesting the TEN 
a notice informing them of:

a. Their decision
b. The reasons for it and the date on which it was made
c. The right to appeal against that decision to the FFT (Property Chamber)
d. The time limit for appealing (28 days from the date the decision was made)

Where a TEN is not served, it is a defence to any enforcement proceedings (see page 28) for 
failing to hold a licence that the time limit for appealing is still running or, as the case may be, 
an appeal is being pursued.



57

Appendix 3
HMO Draft Licence Procedure



58

LETTER 2B CHASE APPLICATIONS

LETTER 2A ACKNOWLEDGE 
RECEIPT OF APPLICATION

CHECK 
FORMS

CRB CHECK

21 DAYS

Letter No. (1)
To all Known 
Landlords

Newspaper
Advert 
Explaining 
Landlords 
Obligations

Receive Requests
for application
forms

7 Days
Send out 
application

+ fee advice
Letter No.2

Receive forms
back complete
with fee

Forms not correct
property appears 
licensable

Return Form 
with 
explanatory 
letter

Receive Form 
correctly 
completed

No.3

Form OK 
property 
licensable

Property does 

not require
a licence

Return form + fee
& explanatory letter

No.5

Check suitability
of landlord or 
manager

Landlord
OK

Landlord 
unsuitable

Issue Notice detailing 
proposed licence 

conditions conditions 

Consultation Period

( 14 Days)

No agreement 
on conditions

Grant licence (with conditions as agreed including 

Issue Licence 

Complied

Non Compliance

Revoke Licence 

Interim & final 
management ordersRegular visits in line 

with risk assessment

Appeal to 
residential 

property tribunal

letter No.4

Letter No. 6 Letter 
No.7

Timescales Letter No. 9

HMO DRAFT LICENCE PROCEDURE

Send Letter confirming date

for future inspection

Full Inspection

No Work Required

N.F.A.

Works Required 
Issue Notice 
Varying Conditions

14 Days Consultation No agreement Serve Notice
intention  to 

14 Days  Consultation

No Agreement

Amend

Complied with 
within agreed

timescale

Visit to Check
Conditions

Serve Notice intention
to revoke

14 Days  ConsultationAgreement reached

No Agreement  reached

Serve Notice
Refusal to licence

14 days Consultation

Agree amended
conditions

Initial inspection
(may not be required
if property known to 
DBC letter no. 4a

Refuse Licence

letter  8a or 8b

Interim & Final
Management Orders

Letter 10

9a

letter 11a 11b

Issue Variance

Revoke 

Agree 
Compromise

Letter 11b

Letter No.10

Letter No. 12
14 days 
Consultation

letter No. 12a
Letter No. 12b

Letter No. 13

letter No. 14

Letter No. 13a

Letter No. 15

Decision Outcome

Appendix 4



59

Risk Assessment Form

   Dartford Borough Council  
  

            H.H.S.R.S. RISK ASSESSMENT FORM 
  

      HMO & SINGLE HOUSEHOLD PROPERTIES

             PROPERTY DETAILS

Address Details             Total Points =  
    481    +   Points           Year 1
  405 - 480 Points Year 2
  330 - 404 Points Year 3
  230 - 329 Points  Year 4
  0 - 229 Points Year 5
    
Date of Assessment :  
  OFFICER :             YEAR VISIT REQUIRED:  

CRITERIA       CONDITIONS                  SCORING 

1) Planning / Building 
Control              No   30 Points
    Consent             Yes/not required    0 Points

2) Storey Heights                                 4+  100 Points
 3     60 Points
 2     20 Points
   1     10 Points

3) Hazard Category 1    100 Points
   2     20 Points

4) Number of Occupants                                    8+   100 Points
  7      80 Points
  6      70 Points 
  5      60 Points
  4      40 Points
  3      30 Points
  2      20 Points
   1        0 Points

5) Property Type HMO  No Resident Landlord     60 Points
 HMO with Resident Landlord     40 Points
 Self Contained Flats      10 Points
  Single Occupation        5 Points

6) Means of Escape   None      60 Points
(Fire Doors) Smoke  Partial      30 Points



60

Seals & Intumescent Strips  Complies        0 Points
 

7) Other Fire Precautions  None      60 Points
    (Fire Alarms etc)  Partial      30 Points
    Complies        0 Points

8) Provision of Amenities Unsatisfactory     40 Points
 Partial      20 Points
   Satisfactory       0 Points

9) Sharing of Amenities All Shared     40 Points
 Partial      20 Points
   Exclusive        0 Points

10) Date of last HHSRS 5+ years     50 Points
      Inspection  4 years     40 Points
  3 years     30 Points 
  2 years     20 Points
  1 year     10 Points
   Less than one year     0 Points

11) Additional Risks      
High Risk     100 Points

 
Medium Risk     50 Points

 
Minor Risk     20 Points

 
 

At the discretion of  PSH 
Officer in Consultation with 
Senior PSH Officer  Example:
 Portable gas /paraffin 
heaters, petrol storage, 
residential occupation above 
commercial premises, history 
of poor management/non 
compliance. None        0 Points

 
Total  

Appendix 5

Guidance to HMO Amenity Standards



61

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/43617/FinalversionGuidancet
oHMOAmenitystandardssept14.pdf

Appendix 6

Information on Disclosure and Spent Offences

Under the Housing Act 2004, licence holders and managers of houses in multiple occupation 
must be fit and proper persons to undertake the responsibilities of running them. In order to 
assist the Council in making proper assessment of your suitability, you are asked to provide 
details about previous convictions for criminal offences. Under the Rehabilitation of Offenders 
Act 1974, you are not required to provide details about previous convictions which are "spent". 
A conviction becomes spent after a certain length of time, which changes depending upon 
the sentence and your age at the time of conviction. (The periods are halved if the conviction 
took place when you were aged 17 or less).

Sentence                                                                   Period of good conduct                 
                                                                                   needed for conviction to

be spent   
                                                                                    
6 months to 2½ years imprisonment                                          10 years
Less than 6 months' imprisonment                                             7 years
Borstal Training                                                                           7 years
A fine or Community Services Order                                           5 years
Probation Order, Conditional Discharge, or Bind Over               1 year
An Absolute Discharge                                                                6 months

Note: 

If a person is sentenced to more than 2½ years in prison, his/her conviction can never become 
"spent". 

ANNEX 3

BANNING ORDERS – POLICY AND PROCEDURE

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/43617/FinalversionGuidancetoHMOAmenitystandardssept14.pdf
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/43617/FinalversionGuidancetoHMOAmenitystandardssept14.pdf


62

Banning Orders
1. Section 15(1) of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides for Councils in England 

to apply for a Banning Order against a person who has been convicted of a Banning 
Order offence. 

2. A Banning Order is an Order by the First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber (Residential 
Property) that bans a landlord from: 

 Letting housing in England 

 Engaging in English letting agency work

 Engaging in English property management work or 

 Doing two or more of those things 

3. A landlord subject to a Banning Order is also unable to hold a licence for a HMO) and 
their property may also be subject to a Management Order.

4. Appendix one outlines banning order offences. 

5. There are some conditions on what constitutes a banning order offence; these  are set 
out in the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order Offences) Regulations 2017:

 If a person has received an absolute and/or conditional discharge for a relevant 
housing offence then that offence cannot be regarded as a Banning Order offence 
(items 1-5 of the Schedule of offences). 

 If a person has committed a serious criminal offence they must have been 
sentenced in the Crown Court in order for that offence to be regarded as a 
Banning Order offence (items 7-14 of the Schedule).

 Certain offences are only Banning Order offences where the offence can be 
linked to the tenant or other occupier or the property owned or rented out by the 
landlord. 

6. Decision to apply for a Banning Order: 
The Council will pursue a Banning Order for the most serious offenders only and the 
decision will be made by the Head of Housing.  Any decision will be made on a case 
by case basis but the following factors will be taken into account: 

7. The seriousness of the offence
The Council will consider the sentence imposed by the Court in respect of the Banning 
Order offence itself. The more severe the sentence imposed by the Court, the more 
appropriate it will be for a Banning Order to be made.  Consideration will be given as 
to whether the offender received a maximum or minimum sentence or received an 
absolute or conditional discharge.

8. Previous convictions/rogue landlord database
The Council will check the Rogue Landlord Database in order to establish whether a 
landlord has committed other Banning Order offences or has received any civil 



63

penalties in relation to Banning Order offences. A Banning Order may be appropriate 
where the offender has a history of failing to comply with their obligations and/or their 
actions were deliberate and/or they knew, or ought to have known, that they were in 
breach of their legal responsibilities. 

9. The Council will also consider the likely effect of the Banning Order on the person and 
anyone else that may be affected by the Banning Order. These factors include; 

 The potential harm that may be caused to the tenant if no Banning Order were 
imposed

 The proportionality of the punishment depending on the severity and previous 
offending 

 The length of the ban to act as a deterrent from future offending

 Deterring others from committing similar offences

10.Section 198 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides that the Council can 
require a landlord to provide information for the purpose of enabling it to decide 
whether to apply for a Banning Order. This could include requiring a landlord to provide 
information on all properties in his/hers ownership. 

11. It is an offence for a landlord not to comply with this request, unless they can provide 
a reasonable excuse. It is also an offence to provide information that is false or 
misleading. Failure to provide information or providing false or misleading information 
is punishable on summary conviction to a fine.

Procedure for making a Banning Order
12.The Council will issue a Notice of Intent within 6 months of conviction of an offence, 

then:

 The landlord has 28 days to make representations

 The Council will consider representations during the Notice period

 The Council will decide whether to issue the Banning Order

13. If the Council proceeds an application will be made to the First-Tier Tribunal.

14.The First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber (Residential Property)will issue a Banning 
Order if it minded to do so and determine the length of the Banning Order.

15.A Banning Order must specify the duration of the Order and it must last for at least 12 
months. A breach of a Banning Order, upon summary conviction, is punishable by 
either a fine, or imprisonment, for a period not exceeding 51 weeks or both. 

16.Only the First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber (Residential Property) can revoke or 
vary a Banning Order- section 20 Housing and Planning Act 2016.

17.A landlord is prevented from transferring the property to certain persons whilst the 
Banning Order is in force including family members, business partners and their 
associates or a corporate body for which the landlord is an officer.



64

18.A Banning Order does not invalidate any tenancy agreement held by occupiers in the 
property, regardless of whether the agreement was issued before or after the Banning 
Order was made. This is to ensure an occupier of the property does not lose their rights 
under the terms and conditions of their tenancy agreement.

19.A landlord may appeal to the Upper Tribunal against the decision of the First-Tier 
Tribunal (Property Chamber (Residential Property) to make the Banning Order under 
Section 53 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. An appeal cannot be made unless 
permission is granted by either the First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber (Residential 
Property) or the Upper Tribunal.

1. The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government ‘ Banning Order Offences 
under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 - Guidance for Local Housing Authorities’  
encourages local housing authorities to publicise successful Banning Orders for 
individual landlords. As recommended in this guidance document, the Council will have 
regard to  Ministry of Justice guidance which  sets out the factors a Council should 
consider when deciding whether to publicise sentencing outcomes. 

2. Breach of Banning Orders 
Breach of a Banning Order is a criminal offence.  Where a landlord or agent breaches 
a Banning Order: 

 S/he can be prosecuted by the Council (using its powers under section 222 Local 
Government Act 1972) or the police. If convicted s/he can be imprisoned for a 
period not exceeding 51 weeks and/or fined

 The Council can impose a civil penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to 
prosecution see Annex 1 of the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy.

 If the breach continues after conviction, the person commits a further offence and 
is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding one-tenth of level 2 on 
the standard scale for each day or part of a day on which the breach continues.

3. The Council can also apply for a Management Order in respect of a HMO, in order to 
protect the health, safety or welfare of residents. 

4. In addition, a Council or a tenant (or licensee of the landlord) can apply to a First-Tier 
Tribunal (Property Chamber (Residential Property) for a Rent Repayment Order where 
a landlord has breached a Banning Order. 

Annex 3 – Appendix 1

Banning Order Offences under Schedule 1 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
(Banning Order Offences) Regulations [2017] 



65

Relevant housing 
offences Protection 
from Eviction Act 1977 

Section 1(2), (3) and 
(3A) 

Unlawful eviction and 
harassment of occupier 

Criminal Law Act 1977 Section 6(1) Violence for securing 
entry 

Housing Act 2004 Section 30(1) Failing to comply with 
an Improvement Notice 

Housing Act 2004 Section 32(1) Failing to comply with a 
prohibition order 

Housing Act 2004 Section 72(1), (2) and 
(3) 

Offences in relation to 
licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation 

Housing Act 2004 Section 95(1) and (2) Offences in relation to 
licensing of houses 
under Part 3 of the Act 

Housing Act 2004 Section 139(7) Contravention of an 
overcrowding notice 

Housing Act 2004 Section 234(3) Failure to comply with 
management 
regulations in respect of 
Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

Housing Act 2004 Section 238(1) False or misleading 
information 

Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 

Article 32 paragraphs 
(1) and (2) 

Fire safety offences 

Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974 

Section 33(1)(c) where 
a person contravenes 
Regulation 36 of the 
Gas Safety (Installation 
and Use) Regulations 
1998(6) 

Gas safety offences- 
duties on landlords 

Immigration Offences 

Letting to someone disqualified from renting as a result of their immigration status, resulting in an 
offence under Part 3 of the Immigration Act 2014 (as amended)

Immigration Act 2014 Section 33A(1) and 
(10) 

Residential tenancies 
– landlord offences 

Immigration Act 2014 Section 33B(2) and (4) Residential tenancies 
– agent offences 

Serious Criminal Offences -
These are serious criminal offences for which an offender may have received a custodial 
sentence upon conviction.

Fraud Act 2006 Section 1(1) 
Section 6(1) 
Section 7(1) 

Fraud offences 



66

Section 9(1) 
Section 11(1) 
Section 12(2) 

Criminal Justice Act 
2003 

Schedule 15 Specified violent and 
sexual offences 

Misuse of Drugs Act 
1971 

Section 8 
Section 9 
Section 9A(1) and (3) 
Section 18(1), (2), (3) 
and (4) 
Section 19 
Section 20 
Section 21 

Offences involving the 
misuse of drugs 

Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 

Section 327 Concealing criminal 
property 

Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 

Section 328 Arrangements 

Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002 

Section 239 Acquisition, use and 
possession 

Protection from 
Harassment Act 1997 

Section 2 Offence of harassment 

Protection from 
Harassment Act 1997 

Section 2A Offence of Stalking 

Anti-social behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 
2014 

Section 30 Breach of criminal 
behaviour order 

Anti-social behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 
2014 

Section 48 Failure to comply with 
Community Protection 
Notice 

Damage Act 1971 Section 1(1) Destroying or damaging 
property 

Criminal Damage Act 
1971 

Section 2 Threats to destroy or 
damage property 

Criminal Damage Act 
1971 

Section 3 Possessing anything 
with intent to destroy or 
damage property 

Theft Act 1968 Section 7 Theft 
Theft Act 1968 Section 9 Burglary 
Theft Act 1968 Section 21 Blackmail 
Theft Act 1968 Section 22 Handling stolen goods

ANNEX 4
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards



67

1. The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 
(amended 2016) requires that landlords:

 Have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) and provide a copy to tenants 
whenever they rent their properties out and

 Ensure all rented homes have at least an E rating on the EPC: 

2. Since 1 April 2016 tenants can request energy efficiency measures and landlords    may 
not unreasonably refuse consent.

3. From 1 April 2018 – all tenancies starting new or renewing after this date MUST have at 
least an E-rating on the property's EPC by law.

4. From 1 April 2020 – all other privately rented homes (i.e. those on continued tenancies) 
MUST have at least an E-rating on the EPC to be lawfully let out.

5. The Regulations apply to all properties that are:

 Legally required to have an EPC, and 
 On an assured, regulated or agricultural tenancy type. 

6. At present, improvements can only be required if they can be made using Green Deal, 
Energy Company Obligation (ECO) or third party grant funding (improvements to non-
domestic property must be made if they meet a 7 year payback test). It is a Landlord’s 
duty to ensure the property complies with the regulations. 

7. Compliance with the Regulations means landlords improving a property to EPC band E 
or registering an exemption where applicable. 

8. Exemptions 
    Exemptions are available where it is not possible or practical to get the property to EPC 

band E. The majority of exemptions are valid for 5 years.
    Exemptions are available where: 

 A recommended measure is not a relevant energy efficiency improvement because 
it cannot be wholly financed at no cost to the landlord 

 All the relevant energy efficiency improvements have been installed and the 
property remains below an E; 

 Wall insulation (cavity wall, external wall or internal wall insulation) is not 
appropriate for the property due to its potential negative impact on the fabric or 
structure of the property; 

 Landlord cannot obtain required consents/permissions for improvement work, or 
consent is provided with unreasonable conditions; 

 The landlord has obtained written advice from a qualified expert that the measures 
will reduce a property’s value by 5%; 

 The landlord has only recently become the landlord (six month exemption). 

9. Appendix 1 shows a Minimum Level of Energy Efficiency Provisions Flow Chart 

10. Enforcement
The Council has the power to check for different forms of non-compliance with the 
Regulations including: 



68

 Whether the property is sub-standard and let in breach of the regulations 
 Where the landlord has registered any false or misleading information on the 

PRS Exemptions Register, 
 Has failed to comply with a Compliance Notice (see section 12 below). 

11.The Exemptions Register 
This enables landlords to register exemptions against relevant exemption types and 
upload supporting evidence.  This:

 Provides access to local authorities to support monitoring and enforcement;
 Allows members of the public to access high level (non-personal) data related 

to exemptions; and
 Enables local authorities to publish (non-personal) information related to 

breaches and penalties. 

12. Compliance Notices
The Council may issue a Compliance Notice where it believes that a landlord may be 
in breach of the Regulations (currently or during past 12 months).  A Compliance 
Notice may request either the original or copies of the following information: 

 The EPC that was valid for the time when the property was let; 
 Any other EPC for the property in the landlord’s possession; 
 The current tenancy agreement used for letting the property; 
 Any Green Deal Advice Report in relation to the property; 
 Any other relevant document that the enforcement authority requires in order to 

carry out its compliance and enforcement functions. 

13.The Compliance Notice may also require the landlord to register copies of the 
requested information on the Private Rented Sector Exemptions Register. 

14.A landlord must comply with the Compliance Notice by sending the requested 
information to the Council and allow copies of any original documents to be taken. 
Failure to provide documents or information requested by a Compliance Notice, or 
failure to register information on the Private Rented Sector Exemptions Register as 
required, may result in a Penalty Notice being served (see section 1.16). 

15.The Council may withdraw or amend the Compliance Notice at any time in writing, for 
example where new information comes to light. The Council may also use the 
documents provided by the landlord or any other information it holds to decide whether 
a landlord is in breach of the Regulations. 

16.Financial Penalty
Where the Council decides to impose a financial penalty, they have the discretion to 
decide on the amount of the penalty, up to maximum limits set by the Regulations. The 
decision as to whether to impose a financial penalty will be made by the Head of 
Housing.

17.The maximum penalties are: 



69

a. Where the landlord has let a sub-standard property in breach of the Regulations 
for a period of less than 3 months, the Council may impose a financial penalty 
of up to £2,000 and may impose the publication penalty. 

b. Where the landlord has let a sub-standard property in breach of the regulations 
for 3 months or more, the Council may impose a financial penalty of up to £4,000 
and may impose the publication penalty. 

c. Where the landlord has registered false or misleading information on the Private 
Rented Sector Exemptions Register, the Council may impose a financial penalty 
of up to £1,000 and may impose the publication penalty. 

d. Where the landlord has failed to comply with Compliance Notice, the Council 
may impose a financial penalty of up to £2,000 and may impose the publication 
penalty. 

18.The Council may not impose a financial penalty under both paragraphs (a) and (b) 
above in relation to the same breach of the Regulations. But they may impose a 
financial penalty under either paragraph (a) or paragraph (b), together with financial 
penalties under paragraphs (c) and (d), in relation to the same breach. Where penalties 
are imposed under more than one of these paragraphs, the total amount of the financial 
penalty may not be more than £5,000. The maximum amount of £5,000 applies per 
property, and per breach of the Regulations (please see table below). 

19. Publication of Penalties
The Council will publish details of the landlord’s breach on a publicly accessible part 
of the Private Rented Sector Exemptions Register. It will also decide how long to leave 
the information on the Register, but it will be available for view by the public for at least 
12 months. Information cannot be published whilst a Penalty Notice is/could be 
reviewed or could/is being appealed. 

20.Penalty Notices
The Council may serve a Penalty Notice (relating to a financial penalty, a publication 
penalty or both) on the landlord where they are satisfied that the landlord is, or has 
been in the last 18 months:



70

 In breach of the prohibition on letting sub-standard property (which may 
include continuing to let the property after 1 April 2020)

 In breach of the requirement to comply with a Compliance Notice 
 Has uploaded false or misleading information to the Exemptions Register

21. The Penalty Notice may include a financial penalty, a publication penalty or both.   A 
further Penalty Notice may be issued if the action required in the Penalty Notice is not 
taken in the time specified. 

22. Appeals & Reviews 
The Council may decide to review its decision to serve a Penalty Notice, for example, 
when new information comes to light. 

23. A landlord also has the right to ask the enforcement authority to review its decision to 
serve a Penalty Notice. This request must be made in writing. The Council will 
consider everything the landlord has said in the request, and decide whether or not 
to withdraw the Penalty Notice. 

24.The Council will withdraw the Penalty Notice if:

 It is satisfied that the landlord has not committed the breach set out in the 
Penalty Notice

 Although the Council believes the landlord committed the breach, it is satisfied 
that the landlord took all reasonable steps, and exercised all due diligence to 
avoid committing the breach, or

 it decides that because of the circumstances of the landlord’s case, it was not 
appropriate for the Penalty Notice to be served

25. If the Council does not decide to withdraw the Penalty Notice, it may decide to 
waive or reduce the penalty to allow the landlord additional time to pay, or modify the 
publication penalty, and will explain the appeals process and how financial 
penalties can be recovered.  

26. If on review, the Council decides to uphold the Penalty Notice, the landlord 
may then appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber (Residential Property)      
against that decision.

Annex 4 - Appendix 1 



71

Compliance and Enforcement Flow Chart





CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

DRAFT LOCAL LETTINGS PLAN FOR COLERIDGE ROAD NEW BUILD 
DEVELOPMENT

1. Summary

1.1. This report seeks approval for a local lettings plan to be implemented for the 
Council’s new build housing  development at Coleridge Road, Temple Hill.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1  That the draft Local Lettings Plan attached at Appendix A to the report be approved.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1. Planning permission for the development at Coleridge Road, Temple Hill was 

granted in March 2015.  The development is due for completion in April 2019; 
providing 51 new homes for rent for local people.  Cabinet approved a local 
lettings plan for the Council’s first new build development at Hill View on 26 
January 2017 (Min No. 107 refers).   This draft lettings plan is very similar to the 
previous one, with some minor amendments.

3.2. Local lettings plans aim to ensure that the Council’s core objectives are met in 
terms of sustainable development and the minimisation of anti-social behaviour 
on estates.

3.3. The draft local lettings plan at Appendix A to the report sets out the reasons for 
implementing a plan, the allocation process, the target household compositions, 
who will receive priority and additional tenancy conditions.

3.4. In summary, the draft local lettings plan aims to give priority to tenants who have 
an identified housing need, and who either wish to transfer from their existing 
property because they are overcrowded or because they wish to downsize.  

3.5. Tenants will be required to fulfil certain criteria before they are allocated one of 
these properties including having a clear rent account and no history of anti-social 
behaviour.

3.6. As well as the above, tenants will have to agree to abide by certain additional 
conditions as part of their tenancy, such as paying rent by direct debit, agreeing 
to regular housing officer visits and to register on the electoral roll. 

3.7. The implementation of a local lettings plan will, it is expected, minimise the risk of 
management issues on the development and surrounding area.  

3.8. Future Stages
The Council will develop individual lettings plans for any future Council 
developments, where necessary, based on the core principles set out in this draft 
local lettings plan.



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
4.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, choice 

and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant communities 
and deliver high quality services to service users’.

5. Financial, legal, staffing & other administrative implications & risk assessments;

Financial 
Implications

None as a direct result of the report.

Legal 
Implications
Public 
Sector 
Equality 
Duty
Crime and 
Disorder 
Duty

None as a direct result of this report.

No adverse impact on any particular group.

As per risk assessment.

Staffing 
Implications

None as a direct result of the report.

Admin 
Implications

None as a direct result of the report.

Risk 
Assessment

There is a risk that not implementing a local lettings plan on the 
council’s new development sites will have a negative impact in 
the long term, if there is not a sustainable mix of tenants to support 
balanced communities.

7. Appendices
Appendix A – Draft Local Lettings Plan for Coleridge Road.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

          

Section and
Directorate 

Exempt
Information 
Category

Jackie Pye Housing Services,
Strategic

No



APPENDIX A

Local Lettings Plan for the Coleridge 
Road, Shaftesbury Lane and Cavell 
Crescent Development at Temple Hill, 
Dartford.



1

Introduction

A choice based lettings scheme based on priority bands currently operates in 
Dartford.  This means that households in greatest housing need are most likely 
to be successful in securing affordable housing for rent when it becomes 
available. 
 
The purpose of developing a (local) lettings plan for the Council’s new build 
affordable housing for rent on the Coleridge Road, Shaftesbury Lane and Cavell 
Crescent (CSC) development at Temple Hill is to try and establish balanced 
and sustainable communities that are integrated successfully in the existing 
area. 

The Council’s new development at CSC has been thoughtfully designed 
utilising excellent materials and making the most use of space; emphasising 
the quality and sustainability of the development and its high specification.  As 
such, the properties are highly desirable and ideal for established tenants who 
can demonstrate their good tenancy record; with priority being given to those 
who are downsizing and those with growing families.  This in turn will free up 
much needed family properties for those on the housing register.

The power to develop local lettings plans is set out in S166A of the Housing Act 
1996 (as amended), which allows local authorities to establish local lettings 
plans to enable them to allocate particular accommodation to people of a 
particular category in order to achieve a housing policy objective.  The ability to 
develop local lettings plans was reinforced in the Government’s ‘Fair and 
Flexible Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local authorities in 
England, published in December 2009.

The CSC Development
There are 51 units on the development comprising of: 

 28 x 1 bedroom maisonettes
 23 x 2 bedroom houses

Household composition
Households will be allocated properties that meet their housing need.  Under 
no circumstances will properties be allocated to households that will under-
occupy or over-occupy the property.

The ages of children may also be considered to ensure an appropriate mix of 
younger and older children to encourage positive socialising and behaviour on 
the development. Family make up may also be taken into account and 
properties may be offered to both couples, and single parent families, and 
households from mixed income sources.

It should be noted that no disabled adaptations can be made due to the 
restraints put in place during the property defects liability period (12 months 
from completion of construction).



2

Allocations Process
The Council will allocate properties in accordance with its policies and 
procedures, this Local Lettings Plan and Choice Based Lettings and will monitor 
this Local Lettings Plan to ensure it remains viable. The details and conditions 
set out in this Local Lettings Plan will be included on the property advert when 
advertised on Locata. 

The Council will mainly advertise the properties via Kent Homechoice although 
direct offers could be made to applicants in some circumstances.  Priority will 
be given to Dartford Borough Council tenants who are: 

 Downsizing from a property that is too large for their needs;
 Overcrowded in their current accommodation or they need to 

move for significant medical or management reasons (whether or 
not this means moving to a larger or smaller property).  

Allocations will not be made to any applicant(s) who:

 Do not have a clear rent account at point of offer and a well-managed 
rent account for at least the preceding 12 months

 Have an outstanding debt to Dartford Borough Council in respect of 
former tenant arrears, Council Tax or sundry debts

 Do not have a high standard of tenancy conduct with no proven issues 
surrounding anti-social behaviour for themselves, members of their 
household, or their visitors for which they are responsible

 Have tenancy breaches, nuisance or reported control issues in relation 
to household pets

 Have not maintained their existing accommodation to a high standard 
with no defects or damage.  (A check will be carried out to assess the 
current condition of the property)

 Do not agree to a fully verified household composition check which must 
match the details on the corresponding housing register application

 Do not agree to participate in an affordability check to ensure the new 
tenancy is sustainable and appropriate to household income.  

However, we will look at all cases individually and where there are extenuating 
circumstances, which would lead to unfairness or inequality, the above criteria 
may be relaxed.

In accordance with the Council’s current Tenancy Policy, tenants who are 
transferring from a council property will retain their current tenancy type.   
Tenants of housing associations who have an existing assured tenancy will be 
given a secure lifetime tenancy.

Tenancy Conditions
Tenants must agree to the following before the allocation of a tenancy; in 
addition to the conditions set out in the tenancy agreement: 

 To pay rent regularly and on time by direct debit only



3

 To allow access to a housing officer to visit on a 6 weekly basis for the 
first six months (to be booked in advance at sign up of tenancy) and at 
reasonable times thereafter.

 To allow access for contractors to inspect the property for any defects    
(This is usually one year after the completion of the build).

 To maintain the property’s fixtures and fittings in good order; in 
accordance with the prescribed list of fixtures

 To ensure that the outside of the property is kept in good order, e.g. 
window cleaning on a regular basis (communal window cleaning will 
remain the Council’s responsibility)

 To maintain all private gardens in good order 
 To keep communal areas free from clutter at all times and ensure that 

refuse is disposed of in a proper manner and in accordance with 
collection times

 To park in marked parking bays only
 Not to carry out any property alterations
 Not to keep pets without the Council’s permission which must be 

obtained prior to any allocation
 To register on the Electoral Register within 3 months of tenancy 

commencement
 To sign a declaration to agree the above tenancy conditions prior to 

tenancy commencement.

In addition to the above, tenants will not be allowed to mutually exchange 
or apply for a transfer to another property until they have tenanted the 
property for at least one year.

Relets
The same conditions, as set out in this Local Lettings Plan, will apply to all 
relets.

Tenant(s) names 

………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………

I/we agree to abide by the above local lettings plan.

Signature one………………………………………….

Signature two…………………………………………..

Date:



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

PMKS/Committee Reports/Ombudsman/Ombudsman Annual Letter 2016

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN – 
ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 2018 

1. Summary

1.1To receive and note the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2018.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 
2018, at Appendix A to the report and the corresponding data tables for the 
Council, at Appendices B and C, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Cabinet is referred to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2018 at Appendix A to the report and more specifically, the 
corresponding data tables at Appendices B and C.

3.2 The Ombudsman’s data may not match the data collected by the Council on 
complaints. Typically, the differences between the Ombudsman’s data and data 
held by the Council reflect that the Ombudsman refers a proportion of recorded 
complaints to the Council for local resolution, but complainants may not always 
pursue the complaint.

3.3 Complaints are managed entirely through Pentana.  The system provides for the 
logging, tracking, monitoring and reporting of complaints.  Having instant access to 
complaints information enables the Corporate Complaints Officer to quickly identify 
issues of concern and pass them immediately to the relevant service area for 
resolution.  The system is working well.

3.4 In practice with how other ombudsman schemes and how many local authorities 
describe their complaints, the Ombudsman’s decisions are described in terms of 
upholding and not upholding complaints. 

3.5 Sixteen new Ombudsman complaints and enquiries were lodged with the 
Ombudsman in the year 2017/18, the same number as  in the previous year.  
During 2017/18, the Ombudsman made decisions in relation to three of these 
complaints, dismissing two and finding that one was outside of his jurisdiction. 
Decisions are pending on two further complaints.

3.6 The Corporate Complaints Officer monitors the effectiveness of the Corporate 
Complaints Procedure, including the Covalent system, to ensure consistency of 
data and any lessons learned about performance and complaint handing 



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018 

arrangements are fed back into service improvement initiatives.  Reports are 
presented annually to the Audit Board and quarterly to Management Team.  

3.7 Training needs on the complaints process are reviewed annually.  Training was last 
provided to Officers by the Ombudsman’s office in March 2017. 

3.8 One of the purposes of the Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter submitted with 
corresponding data tables is to help ensure that learning from complaints informs 
scrutiny at a local level.  

3.9 The Ombudsman has provided guidance on how local authorities should report 
findings of maladministration/fault in regard to routine mistakes and service failures, 
and the authority has agreed to remedy the complaint by implementing the 
recommendations made following an investigation. The duty to report under Section 
5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (the 1989 Act) is satisfactorily 
discharged as follows:

(a) if the Monitoring Officer makes a periodic report to the authority summarising the 
findings on all upheld complaints over a specific period - this may be adequately 
addressed through an annual report on complaints to Members;

(b) where an investigation has wider implications for council policy or exposes a more
significant finding of maladministration, perhaps because of the scale of the fault or
injustice, or the number of people affected, the Ombudsman expects the Monitoring 
Officer to consider whether the implications of that investigation should be 
individually reported to Members;

(c) in the unlikely event that an authority is minded not to comply with the 
Ombudsman’s recommendations following a finding of maladministration, the 
Ombudsman always expects the Monitoring Officer to report this to full council.  
The Ombudsman considers this an exceptional and unusual course of action for 
any authority to take and that this should be considered at the highest tier of the 
authority.

Further, under the Local Government Act 1974, whenever the Ombudsman issues 
a formal, public report to the authority, the authority is obliged to lay that report 
before full council for consideration and respond within three months setting out the 
action that it has taken, or proposes to take, in response to the report.

3.10 The Local Government Act 1974 (S34(1)) defines the authorities that the 
Ombudsman may investigate. Parish and town councils are not included in this 
definition. The Ombudsman may however consider a complaint about a parish or 
town council if it is acting on behalf of another council. So, for example, if the 
Borough Council has arranged that a parish council should maintain the grass 
verges, then the Ombudsman may be able to look at a complaint about this.

In March 2015, the Government consulted on a proposal to extend the jurisdiction 
of the Ombudsman to some town and parish councils. The outcome of the 
consultation is still awaited



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

“…. to create strong and self - reliant communities and deliver high quality services 
to service users”

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial 
Implications

None

Legal 
Implications

None  

Public Sector 
Equality Duty 

The Council has explicit objectives of improving equality of access to 
complaints for vulnerable people, those with language barriers or speech 
problems etc.  The complaint’s form and leaflets are written in plain English. 
Braille, large print, audio and language line (interpretation) facilities are 
available on request. The Council  welcomes calls via NGT Relay.

Staffing 
Implications

None

Administrative 
Implications

None

Risk 
Assessment

No uncertainties and/or constraints 

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2018
Appendix B – Ombudsman Received Complaints
Appendix C - Ombudsman Decisions

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information Category

Marie Kelly-Stone

01322 343634

Legal Services –
Strategic Directorate 
(Internal Services)

N/A





18 July 2018

By email

G J Harris
Managing Director
Dartford Borough Council

Dear G J Harris,

Annual Review letter 2018

I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) about your authority for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries
received about your authority and the decisions we made during the period. I hope this
information will prove helpful in assessing your authority’s performance in handling
complaints.

Complaint statistics
In providing these statistics, I would stress that the volume of complaints does not, in itself,
indicate the quality of the council’s performance. High volumes of complaints can be a sign
of an open, learning organisation, as well as sometimes being an early warning of wider
problems. Low complaint volumes can be a worrying sign that an organisation is not alive to
user feedback, rather than always being an indicator that all is well. So, I would encourage
you to use these figures as the start of a conversation, rather than an absolute measure of
corporate health. One of the most significant statistics attached is the number of upheld
complaints. This shows how frequently we find fault with the council when we investigate.
Equally importantly, we also give a figure for the number of cases where we decided your
authority had offered a satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. Both figures
provide important insights.

I want to emphasise the statistics in this letter reflect the data we hold, and may not
necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include
enquiries from people we signpost back to the authority, some of whom may never contact
you.

In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our
website, alongside an annual review of local government complaints. The aim of this is to be
transparent and provide information that aids the scrutiny of local services.

Appendix A



Future development of annual review letters
Last year, we highlighted our plans to move away from a simplistic focus on complaint
volumes and instead turn focus onto the lessons that can be learned and the wider
improvements we can achieve through our recommendations to improve services for the
many. We have produced a new corporate strategy for 2018-21 which commits us to more
comprehensibly publish information about the outcomes of our investigations and the
occasions our recommendations result in improvements to local services.

We will be providing this broader range of data for the first time in next year’s letters, as well as
creating an interactive map of local authority performance on our website. We believe this
will lead to improved transparency of our work, as well as providing increased recognition to
the improvements councils have agreed to make following our interventions. We will
therefore be seeking views from councils on the future format of our annual letters early next
year.

Supporting local scrutiny
One of the purposes of our annual letters to councils is to help ensure learning from
complaints informs scrutiny at the local level. Sharing the learning from our investigations
and supporting the democratic scrutiny of public services continues to be one of our key
priorities. We have created a dedicated section of our website which contains a host of
information to help scrutiny committees and councillors to hold their authority to account –
complaints data, decision statements, public interest reports, focus reports and scrutiny
questions. This can be found at www.lgo.org.uk/scrutiny I would be grateful if you could
encourage your elected members and scrutiny committees to make use of these resources.

Learning from complaints to improve services
We share the issues we see in our investigations to help councils learn from the issues
others have experienced and avoid making the same mistakes. We do this through the
reports and other resources we publish. Over the last year, we have seen examples of
councils adopting a positive attitude towards complaints and working constructively with us
to remedy injustices and take on board the learning from our cases. In one great example, a
county council has seized the opportunity to entirely redesign how its occupational therapists
work with all of it districts, to improve partnership working and increase transparency for the
public. This originated from a single complaint. This is the sort of culture we all benefit from –
one that takes the learning from complaints and uses it to improve services.

Complaint handling training
We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities
and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. In 2017-18 we
delivered 58 courses, training more than 800 people. We also set up a network of council
link officers to promote and share best practice in complaint handling, and hosted a series of
seminars for that group. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training.

Yours sincerely,

Michael King

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England



Local Authority Report: Dartford Borough Council
For the Period Ending: 31/03/2018

For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website:
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics

Complaints and enquiries received

Adult Care
Services

Benefits and
Tax

Corporate
and Other
Services

Education
and

Children’s
Services

Environment
Services

Highways
and

Transport
Housing

Planning and
Development

Other Total

0 4 0 0 2 1 7 1 0 15

Decisions made Detailed Investigations

Incomplete or
Invalid

Advice Given

Referred
back for

Local
Resolution

Closed After
Initial

Enquiries
Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate Total

0 0 12 1 2 0 0% 15

Notes Complaints Remedied

Our uphold rate is calculated in relation to the total number of detailed investigations.

The number of remedied complaints may not equal the number of upheld complaints.
This is because, while we may uphold a complaint because we find fault, we may not
always find grounds to say that fault caused injustice that ought to be remedied.

by LGO
Satisfactorily by

Authority before LGO
Involvement

0 0













CABINET
6 Sep 2018

STREET  NAMING & NUMBERING – NORTHFLEET WEST SUB 
STATION (EBBSFLEET GREEN) PHASE 3

Greenhithe

1. Summary

1.1 To approve the names for six new roads on Phase 3 of the 
Northfleet West Sub Station development.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the six new road names for Phase 3 of the Northfleet West Sub 
Station development be approved as Adamson, Conybeare, Emmeline, 
Garland, Millicent and Roberts.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The development consists of six new roads and two existing with 205 
properties.  Previous developments have been named after local WW1 
servicemen and local prominent residents.  The proposed names are 
linked to the Suffrage Movement and the centenary of Votes For 
Women. 

3.2. The proposed names (Adamson, Conybeare, Emmeline, Garland, 
Millicent and Roberts) were submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Cabinet and Ward Members, the Emergency 
Services, Royal Mail and the Developer on July 18th 2018.  The names 
comply with Council policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillors Mrs Allen, Lloyd, Coleman, Kite and Mrs Thurlow all 
support the names as do Kent Police, Royal Mail and the Developer.

3.4. There were no other responses.

3.5. Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been 
approved.

3.6. The Developer requires the name as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 



CABINET
6 Sep 2018

developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultation Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18-46
523 - 537

370-398
508 - 522

340-368
493 - 507

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

1-29
610 - 624

 

 

2-24
598 - 609

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
 

 
 

 

 

12
465

 
 

 

9
464

74
446

 
 

 

 

 

64
451

68
449

21
586

30
472

37
456

41
458

3
461

7
463

7
565

18
546

4
469

9
564

72
447

39
457

35
455

28
473

5
462

13
590

70
448

3
567

31-41
625 - 630

5
47633

454

26
474

12
543

11
591

52
644

17
490

66
450

1
460

8
577

5
594

6
468

24
475

1
568

2
650

22
579

43
459 32

471

2
547

3
453

20
597

14
563

4
580

10
466

1
452

8
467

2
470

5
566

11
479

4
552

6
578

46
641

31
581

6
540

19
587

2
551

4
539

2
538

50
643

56
646

10
576

54
645

48
642

12
575

14
557

16
558

15
489

9
478

9
592

3
595

7
477

13
488

15
589

1
596

7
593

17
588

14
544

8
541

42
639

44
640

10
542

16
545

10
569

12
570

16
562
22
561

8
550

19
491

21
492

10
555

12
556

20
560
18
559

8
554

6
553

4
548

6
549

1
480

2
481 7

486
8

487

20
574

18
57360

648
58
647

27
583

29
582

30
633

4
483
3

482

32
634

16
572

14
571

5
484
6

485

23
585

25
584

62
649

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34
635

40
638 38

637
36
636

26
631

28
632

 

 

 

 

 

@ A4°1:1,300

H:
\M

ap
s &

 P
lan

s\M
ap

s b
efo

re 
PD

F'i
ng

\N
W

SS
_P

ha
se

_3
.m

xd
Ma

p P
rod

uc
ed

 B
y: 

se
as

tw
oo

d O
n: 

10
/07

/20
18

 11
:51

 A
M

NWSS Phase 3
Plot to Postal

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2018
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2018

Ackers Drive
Tickner Drive
Road 1
Road 2
Road 3
Road 4
Road 5
Road 6

Appendix A





CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 SEPTEMBER 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 1 of 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the first quarter of 
2018/19.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
6 SEPTEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 SEPTEMBER 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q1 2018/19
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q1 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Bellways have now acquired the site from Meyer Homes and are commencing work 
on site. A stand-alone building on Market Street, to initially be used as a show home, 
is to be complete by the end of October 2018. Bellway have stated they are to 
demolish the whole site within 2 months and progress swiftly with the development.  
They propose to complete the whole development within 2 years.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site Work is continuing to satisfy the title conditions.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

The preliminary design stage continues informed by stakeholder workshops with KCC 
Highways (lighting, maintenance, signals), Kent Police, KFRS, DBC (e.g. Waste & 
Parks, conservation, CCTV, EH), businesses and commercial waste operators.

Technical surveys completed and VisSim model ongoing to programme.

Project progressing as programmed with spend currently below profile.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

The preliminary design stage continues informed by stakeholder workshops with KCC 
Highways (lighting, maintenance, signals), Kent Police, KFRS, DBC (e.g. Waste & 
Parks, conservation, CCTV, EH), businesses and commercial waste operators.

Technical surveys completed and VisSim model ongoing to programme.

Project progressing as programmed with spend currently below profile.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

Eastern quarry has outline permission for up to 6,250 homes. Of this, 528 homes 
have been completed and a further 488 have reserved matters consent. 157 are 
currently under construction.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Fastrack spine across Eastern Quarry and tunnel link 



2

system and its extension to the new developments through to Bluewater projected opening September 2021.

London Road/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane - works ongoing due to 
be completed Spring 2019.

A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Works tendered and about to be let; planning consent due 12 July 2018.

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

We have developed a website which is currently used as a portal for the Dartford 
Business Awards. We are working with the Kent & Medway Growth Hub, and local 
businesses to make the site an active portal for business news and advice.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition

The 2018 Dartford Business Awards, now in its second year, was launched in April 
and has since received a healthy number of entries, with the closing deadline for 
applications on Friday 24th August. The awards will culminate in a celebratory evening 
at Bluewater on Thursday 20th September, where the winners of the 11 different 
categories will be announced and commended for their achievements.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to support town centre improvements and events to improve viability and 
vitality.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q1 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Works tendered and let; site start 20th August.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 1, 19 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 161. 
Attendees were 75.

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 1, 71 Health Walk 



3

sessions ran. The number of attendances were 657. Attendees were 298. There were 
51 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough.  In quarter 1, 29 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 313. 
Attendees were 146.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 1, 78 people registered to start the 
programme. 41 of these completed the course of which 18 achieved a weight loss of 
>5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. 74 families 
have been booked to start the programme.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 1, 
with the support of the Healthy New Town Coordinator, options have been discussed 
on how Ebbsfleet Station can meet the criteria within the Healthy New Town Strategy 
in order to improve the health of employees as well as commuters.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

In quarter 1, there were 4 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme. There 
were no grants awarded under the Community Grant.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer A new extended gym facility has now opened at Fairfield.
Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

A series of exhibitions has been agreed in the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. The Council 
continues to support organisations such as the “What If…? Gallery”.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year The Cinema in the Park, Theatre in the Park, Steam Rally and other events have 
happened or will take place.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Ongoing provision of new green spaces as part of build out of major sites, including 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet Green, The Bridge, St Clements Lakes, Northern Gateway 
East. Stone Lodge to provide improved and more useable green space.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

Discussions are ongoing between the Council, the developers and the CCG on the 
funding options for the hub.



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q1 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. 

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety On track to meet this target. High risk premises always get inspected as a priority.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

DBC licensing have set a new trend in introducing a series of workshops in 
partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent Police. This involves bespoke 
training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road safety 
measures. The scheme is ground breaking and proving very successful.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce anti-social 
behaviour particularly excess drinking in public places. 



5

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q1 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract Procurement will be completed by Christmas 2018.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

DBC led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN (£250 early payment fee) 
and remain one of very few local authorities within Kent to have made best use of 
this, although others are coming on board gradually. We have also supported the 
DEFRA consultation ‘Waste Duty of Care’ which seeks to introduce a new FPN for 
household duty of care offences for fly tipping at a cost of £400 reduced to £250 if 
paid within 10 days. 

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented Scheme is still in development.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards are now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

Highways England progressing east of Gravesend option (Option C).  Public 
consultation on the details of the scheme to take place autumn /winter 2018.  
Expected completion date 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

Air quality continues to be monitored. Hot weather has created high pollution levels.



6

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q1 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. The 
Council’s new build programme is progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 
2 of the Council’s new build programme is close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 Delivery target achieved.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school opened on Eastern Quarry.

Planning application for primary school on Northern Gateway expected December 
2018, with opening 2019/20.

Stone Lodge outline application incorporating secondary school expected August 
2018, with temporary school opening in 2019.

Plans are being progressed for a health hub on former Co-op site.  Planning 
application to be submitted December 2018, with start on site end 2019.

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

In quarter 1, there were 4 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme. There 
were no grants awarded under the Community Grant.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light Dartford Festival has been delivered as has the St Georges Day parade.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

HLF funding arrangements have now been changed and the Council’s approach will 
need to bear this in mind as it looks to make a bid.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote
Annual Canvass has shown an improved early response to the Household Enquiry 
Forms. This hopefully will allow more resources to be directed to the Invitations to 
Register which will increase the number of additions to the register.



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q1 Update
Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Smarter Digital Services (SDS), a team jointly funded by mainly Kent Councils been 
asked to help use their experience to improve and increase digital and online 
services, realise efficiency savings and enhance the customer experience.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working continues to be trialled in two departments within the Council for a 
period of six months (one in internal services and one in external services).  
Feedback on successes and concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling 
out further. Costs are being obtained from IT for various levels of support.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget New 2019/20 budget review exercise to be commenced in early Autumn 2018.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 2017/18 Programme delivered on time and within budget.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Quarterly monitoring to be shared shortly. Agreed with partners to use growth funds 
on local town centres.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

The LGBCE’s final recommendations have now been published and were presented 
to the GAC on 16th July. These recommendations will come into effect from the May 
2019 elections. Work is continuing on the Community Governance Review. The draft 
recommendations were approved by the GAC on 16th July and are now out for public 
consultation. Meetings are being held with the parishes to discuss the draft proposals. 
The final recommendations will be agreed by GAC in September and will also come 
into effect from the May 2019 elections.

 





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £794,057 £779,600     

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible 
development since April 2014. During quarter 1 of 2018/19, several 
payments have been made. One payment represents the first instalment 
for a scheme that is liable for over £100k. Payments can rise or fall from 
quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement of 
consented development. 15% of the revenue generated from CIL liable 
developments in a local area, will be passed to town/parish councils and 
applied to projects in local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of 
the total CIL revenue will be used for administrative costs. In December 
2017 Cabinet resolved that no CIL allocations would be made during the 
financial year 2018/19, due to identified potential infrastructure project 
plans not being sufficiently advanced. However, this situation will be kept 
under review.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Overall business birth rate 740 N/A Not measured 
for Quarters  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business registrations 
as business births. Latest available figures show that there were 740 
business births in 2016 which is up 0.68% from the previous year. In 



2

Kent overall (KCC area), the business birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This 
is an annual indicator and the next update for 2017 is due at the end of 
November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495 N/A Not measured 
for Quarters

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that have 
ceased to trade (identified through de-registration of the administrative 
units, that is, VAT and PAYE) as business deaths. Latest available 
figures show that there were 495 business deaths in 2016, which is up 
25.31% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business 
death rate in 2016 was 7,325. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due at the end of November 2018.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.1%

There were 745 unemployed people in the Borough in June 2018, which 
represents an unemployment rate of 1.1%. This has decreased since the 
previous month (30 fewer unemployed people in June than in May). In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in June 2018 was 1.9%.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured 

for Quarters Housing delivery continues to be strong.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Total 
Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 504,916 132,174  Membership has reached highest levels since opening.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run Users 146 161 168  

There is a continued increase in participants for the Central Park 
Parkrun despite a new Parkrun starting on Dartford Heath, which itself 
has average numbers of 126 runners.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park Run 
Users

37 35 39  
Junior Park Run celebrated their first year in June. The number of 
participants has increased for this quarter and they were boosted by a 
visit from Olympian and local legend, Adam Gemili in July.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 191 38  

Usage for this quarter is down compared to quarter 4 of 2017/18 due to 
the regular teams finishing training until August/September. Although it 
is slightly up from this time last year.

Number of local groups supported 
through Community Grant and other 
grant schemes

34 38 4  
In quarter 1, there were 4 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth 
Scheme. There were no grants awarded under the DBC Community 
Fund and Community Grant.



3

Percentage attendance at the Orchard 
Theatre (% of total seats available 
which are used)

61.33% 59.42% 64%  There has been another increase in attendance helped by the variety of 
shows in quarter 4.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A

Not measured 
for Quarters  

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life expectancy is 9.1 
years lower for men in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the 
least deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.8 
years lower for men. This is an annual indicator and the next update is 
due in July 2019.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note

N/A
Not measured 
for Quarters

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life expectancy is 4.4 
years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the 
least deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.7 
years lower for women. This is an annual indicator and the next update 
is due in July 2019.

Percentage of obese children in Year 6 21.9%
N/A

Not measured 
for Quarters

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 21.9% of children in Year 
6 (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. This is 
slightly higher than the previous year where 21.1% of children in Year 6 
were classified as obese. In Kent overall (KCC area) for 2016/17, the 
figure is 18.5%. This is an annual indicator and the next update is due in 
2019.

Percentage of adults achieving at least 
150 minutes of physical exercise per 
week

63.9% N/A Not measured 
for Quarters

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 63.9% of adults were 
physically active in the Borough. This is slightly up from the 2015/16 
figure of 63.1%. This indicator is defined as the percentage of adults 
(aged 19+) that meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for 
physical activity (150+ moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week).



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated by 
CCTV this month 72 78 27  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last year.

Total number of arrests supported by 
CCTV this month 59 58 21  Outcomes have remained generally consistent.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 209 436 100  Membership has remained stable.

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions against 
persistent offenders

22 14 3  Continuing to use Community Protection Warnings instead of DTAC 
exclusions which are non-enforceable.

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator for 
2017/18

379 50  This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling anti-social 
behaviour across the district.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New indicator for 
2017/18 46 13  The low numbers of CPN's reflects the effectiveness of Community 

Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space Protection 
Order Enforcement Notices issued

New indicator for 
2017/18 0 1  The performance reflects the vulnerability of the enforcement principally 

laying with another agency (Police).

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator for 
2017/18 27 3  The replacement of the JFMP PCSO (post has been vacant) is 

reinvigorating this process.

Percentage of High risk (categories A 
& B) food hygiene inspections due and 
completed (cumulative)

100% 100% 100% 100% All high risk premises were inspected in time and in accordance with 
Food Standards Agency Guidelines.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the Borough by 
the Police

2,982 2,135 461  

The difference between crimes reported to the Police and statistics 
gathered by the British Crime Survey are markedly different. A full 
explanation has been submitted to both the DBC Community Safety 
Partnership and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.



5

Total number of crimes reported in the 
Borough 10,098 12,060 3,537  

The counting rules for crime pattern analysis have been changed by the 
Home Office; therefore comparisons cannot be made until further notice 
from the Police.

Number of criminal damage offences 
reported in the Borough 1,652 1,445 380  

The difference between crimes reported to the Police and statistics 
gathered by the British Crime Survey are markedly different.  A full 
explanation has been submitted to both the DBC Community Safety 
Partnership and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations in the 
Borough (micrograms per m2)

New indicator for 
2017/18 43.1 33.1  Air quality continues to be monitored. Hot weather has created high 

pollution levels.

Number of households taking part in 
energy efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough

571 241 60  Positive start to the year, last year’s total is likely to be exceeded in 
2018/19.

Number of households taking part in 
green bin service 6,141 5,740 5,881 6,000 The number of customers remains around the 6,000 mark.

Number of fly tipping incidents 159 2,560 835 The number of fly tipping incidents remains high but should decrease 
when the Pepperhill tip reopens.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 58 14 The amount of reported graffiti remains very low.

Percentage of household waste going 
to landfill 1.7% 0.6% 0.6%  The amount of waste going to landfill remains consistently low.



6

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,134 1,137  The number of applicants on the housing register is relatively unchanged.

No of households living in temporary 
accommodation 107 108 93  

The number of families in temporary accommodation has fallen due to 
new initiatives introduced after Homeless Reduction Act went live. 
Housing management are monitoring the situation.

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 50 78 61  There is a large increase in the number of homeless cases prevented.

Number of service requests completed 
for Private Sector Housing 429 234 72 62 On target.

Percentage of repairs completed in 
time 90.92% 87.62% 89.82% 98.00%

Despite failing to hit target performance is improving with June 2018 
performance being at 94.59%. Further improvement expected as 2018/19 
progresses and it is anticipated the end of year position will be close to 
target.

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar days) 
(EXCL major works)

20.41 21.02 24.35 20

During the 1st quarter of 2018/19 (particularly in April and June) the Void 
team dealt with an unprecedented amount of voids that required 
extensive works with the average key to key date rising to 26 and 29 
days respectively for each month. Mays average was 19 days. This has 
resulted in the performance for quarter 1 being over target. Management 
action has focused on dealing with the issues raised and performance is 
now back on target and it is anticipated that the end of year average 
target will be achieved,

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Number of affordable homes delivered 
(gross) 239 173 52 35 Affordable housing completions for this quarter have exceeded target 

profile.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured 

for Quarters Housing delivery continues to be strong.



7

Number of service requests raised for 
Private Sector Housing

New indicator for 
2017/18 272 70  The number of service requests raised remain at a consistent level.

No of private sector vacant dwellings 
that are returned into occupation or 
demolished

101 100 Please see note Please see 
note Verified data for quarter 1 has not been received yet.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 2018/19
Performance Indicator

Value Status Value Status Value Status
Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business Rates 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 98.9% 32.0% 31.2% The in-year collection rate currently is well ahead of the profiled target.

Number of phone calls received by the 
Council 577,329 518,358 134,073  

There has been a slight increase in calls received by the Council 
compared to the same quarter of 2017/18 which may be due, in part, to 
the increase in calls regarding waste collections. Despite the fact that 
these issues can be reported through the DBC website if the customer 
doesn't receive a satisfactory resolution within the expected time frame 
they will follow their online report with a telephone call.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 97% 29.2% 29.4%

Despite in-year collection being 0.2% down compared to the end of 
quarter 1 in 2017/18, the amount of money collected is £1.4million more. 
Factors influencing the current position are:

1. Overall, the collectable debit for 2018/19 has so far increased by 
£4.8million.

2. At the end of March 2018, the number of properties registered for 
Council Tax was 44,446. This figure has risen by 1,100 in the first 
quarter of this year to 45,546 and this is the primary reason why the 
collectable debit has increased significantly.

3. There continues to be an increase in the number of customers 
wanting to pay their instalments over 12 months instead of 10. This 
means less money is collected between April and January but more 
money will be collected in February and March.   

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to short term (<4 weeks) 
illness per employee

4.39 3.18 1.08 1 In quarter 1, the average number of working days lost due to short term 
sickness absence is slightly higher than target.



8

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to long term (>4 weeks) illness 
per employee

2.38 3.15 2.1 1

There has been an increase in long term sickness absence. An 
Employee Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been drafted with key 
actions to support employees with mental ill health and reduce absence 
levels.

Percentage of supplier payments made 
within 30 days of receipt of invoice 99.02% 99.35% 99.01%  99% Solid first months performance.

Average time taken to process a new 
claim for Housing Benefit (cumulative)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 22 28 23

In order to address the deterioration in performance, primarily caused by 
a significant increase in the number of changes in circumstances being 
reported, we have engaged with Capita's off-site processing resilience 
service. The focus of their attention will be on clearing the backlog of 
new claims outstanding and administering new claims on our behalf until 
further notice (there is no additional cost to the authority as this service is 
being funded by DWP grants). As the year progresses it is anticipated 
that performance will start to steadily improve.

Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery - 
rents collected as a proportion of rents 
owed.

97.67% 97.8% 91.9% 90% On track to achieve end of year target.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 829,677 226,842  The number of visits is in line with usual levels.

 



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 12 
June 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D Page (Shadow Chairman)
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor J Burrell
Councillor B Garden
Councillor R Lees
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

John O’Sullivan

Patricia Chapman

– Kent Local Pharmaceutical 
Committee (KLPC)

– Dartford Tenants’ & Leaseholders’ 
Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager
Nick Chapman – Assist. Manager Environmental 

Health (Environment & Protection)
James Fox – Scientific Officer, Environmental 

Health

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Burrell, B Garden 
and R Lees. No Substitutes were nominated.

The Chairman welcomed Members and Officers to the meeting and thanked 
Mr John O’Sullivan (Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee) for agreeing to 
return and update Members following his last presentation to the Committee 
in September 2017.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

2

The Chairman asked that his thanks to Alan Stoneham, as a valued and long-
standing Clerk to the Committee, be recorded in the Minutes. He wished Alan 
a long and happy retirement, sentiments which Members endorsed.   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were declarations of interest.

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 20 MARCH 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 20 
March 2018 be confirmed.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman advised that there were no urgent items for consideration by 
Members.

5. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE AND 
PROTOCOL 

The report asked Members to formally note the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference and Protocol documents as agreed at the Annual Meeting on 9 
May 2018 (attached to the report as Appendix A and B respectively).

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the Terms of Reference for the Policy Overview 
Committee attached at Appendix A to the report;

2. That Members note the Committee’s Protocol attached at Appendix B 
to the report. 

 

6. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees to consider.

7. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 May 
2018 to 30 September 2018 be noted.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

3

8. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 20 MARCH 2018 

This standard report from the Committee Clerk asked Members to note the list 
of Action Points arising from the Committee’s last meeting held on 20 March 
2018.

Members were advised of the following further developments/proposed 
action:

Item 1: Health Funding

Officers remained in ongoing discussions with representatives of the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) and the 
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust over the scope and content of a further 
letter to the Secretary of State for Health, expressing continued Member 
concern over the inadequacy of Government funding for the Trust and the 
CCG. The Strategic Director (ES) undertook to speak to Mike Gilbert at the 
CCG and Gerard Sammon at the Trust to progress matters.

Item 2: GP charges for Referral Letters

The Vice-Chairman advised Members that she had been in contact with three 
separate GP Practices in Dartford over this vexed issue, with some success.  
The Elmdene Surgery had ceased charging following her representations, but 
The Orchard Practice continued to charge a £10 fee for non-clinical referrals. 
However, the practice in Joydens Wood which had first been reported to 
Members continued to charge £25 for all referral letters. The Vice-Chairman 
undertook to continue with her representations and report back to the 
Committee.

Item 3: Update from Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust and Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group

The Chairman advised that this would take place in March 2019 not 2018 as 
advised in the report.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of Action Points arising from the Committee’s meeting on 
20 March 2018 be noted, together with the further action agreed by 
Members on 12 June 2018, as set out above.

9. PHARMACY SERVICES 

At its meeting on 19 September 2017 the Committee were briefed by Cheryl 
Clennett, Pharmacy Advisor to Kent Public Health and John O’Sullivan, Kent 
Local Pharmaceutical Committee (KLPC) member, on the services that were 
provided by pharmacies and the progress of the ongoing Kent Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment (PNA) review [Min. No. 20 refers].



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

4

At the request of the Committee John O’Sullivan (KLPC) had agreed to return 
and update the Committee on the outcomes of the PNA review and changes 
to pharmacy services since that initial presentation to Members in September 
2017. The Chairman thanked Mr, O’Sullivan for agreeing to return and update 
Members, and invited him to address the Committee.

Members had been provided with copies of the Kent PNA for Dartford, 
Gravesham & Swanley CCG (and accompanying maps) dated March 2018 in 
the agenda papers [Item 9 Appendices A and B pages 43-104 refer]. In his 
update address to the Committee, John O’Sullivan drew on the contents of a 
Dartford specific speaking note ‘Community Pharmacy in Dartford’ 
(subsequently copied to Members) from which he highlighted the following 
key points and statistics for consideration by the Committee:

 Since February/March 2017 Government cuts to the funding of 
community pharmacy had totalled some £140M with a consequent 
severe impact on revenue streams for pharmacies and a grim outlook 
for the future of community pharmacy;

 Core costs for pharmacies were rising (salaries) whilst the NHS 
contract for core services had been eroded over the previous 18 month 
period;

 In this climate of fiscal regression pharmacies could only undertake a 
bare recruitment campaign to replace staff on a like for like basis 
[pharmacists train to a Master’s degree level over 5 years, inclusive of 
a minimum 1 year’s practice with professional examinations, plus a 
commitment to Continued Professional Development (CPD)];

 Pharmacists now had to increasingly multi-task, which increased the 
opportunity for mistakes [due to pressure of work] and increased 
litigation arising from those mistakes;

 Pharmacists were ‘over-skilled’ but underutilised in the present system 
particularly in terms of their introduction into hospitals and 1 on 1 
emergency care;

 Little had changed in terms of pharmacy provision for Dartford since 
the PNA review conducted by Cheryl Clennett [Consultant Pharmacist 
for Kent Public Health] in 2017. One new pharmacist had opened at the 
Bridge Development, but growth in Dartford was a concern, with few 
commercially viable new contracts if any, available;

 A particular concern was Kent’s 200+ GP vacancies against a 
backdrop of the highest number of GPs over the age of 55 across the 
UK excluding Wales. The challenging primary care infrastructure meant 
that new GPs were not coming through the system with NHS England 
experiencing a shortfall in GP and all clinician grades across the UK;

 The shortfall in GP provision in Kent in particular, could provide 
increased and more diversified roles for pharmacists in the provision of 
locally commissioned services (LCSs) but this was not being reflected 
in the funding provisions made by Kent’s eight CCGs to community 
pharmacies. The Dartford, Gravesend and Swanley (DGS) CCG in 
particular had only spent £3K on LCSs from Community Pharmacy 
Services since June 2017 - the lowest in Kent - compared to £2.8M on 
LCSs from GP Services;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

5

 Funding for LCSs had been transferred from NHS England to CCGs in 
June 2017 to give greater accountability at the local level. Some Kent 
CCGs had met that challenge with good specialised services being 
provided in East and West Kent and Thanet by Community Pharmacies 
but DGS CCG was not commissioning local services from Community 
Pharmacies - with the lowest % of pharmacies implanted into GP 
Surgeries in Kent, a proven practice for saving medicine waste and 
over-prescribing;

 Nor had the DGS CCG allocated funds to support the drive for over the 
counter medicines purchased direct by members of the public.

In concluding his presentation, John O’Sullivan suggested that the Committee 
may wish to challenge the DGS CCG on these funding anomalies in both a 
Kent & Medway and national context. 

The Chairman thanked Mr O’Sullivan for a very informative presentation and 
noted his suggestions with regard to questioning the DGS CCG over their 
policies regarding spending on locally commissioned services (LCSs) from 
Community Pharmacies. 

He reminded Members that representatives from the DGS CCG had attended 
the Committee’s proceedings in the past [March 2017 Min. No. 17 refers] and 
that he had written to NHS England over Members’ continued concerns 
regarding the current level of Government funding of the DGS CCG and that 
for the Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust, and that a further letter to Ministers 
was proposed on the issue. He recalled that the CCG had raised their own 
concerns, in the past, over wasted medicines prescribed by GP practices, 
particularly paracetamol and that the CCG were a keen advocate of members 
of the public buying low cost non-prescription medicines over the counter to 
avoid continued waste. His view was that the DGS CCG had taken a positive 
stance on this and other issues and were trying their best to balance the 
books and that the Committee should continue to support the CCG over 
requests for increased funding from Government.  

In response to a specific question from the Chairman, Mr O’Sullivan [KPLC] 
advised that the DGS CCG’s spending patterns; in particular the relative 
disbursement of funds between GP practices and Community Pharmacy 
Services for locally commissioned services (LCSs); was one for the CCG to 
answer. He advised that there was no little or no traction between the KPLC 
and the DGS CCG on this vexed issue. However, co-operation with the CCG 
over the update of the existing 111 and 999 emergency response services 
was better.

A Member expressed his concern over the figure of 10.8% quoted in the Kent 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment document [App. A Item 9 - agenda p. 47] 
for Group M Families in Dartford within the DGS CCG - “Families with limited 
resources who have to budget to make ends meet”- in the specific context of 
the drive towards members of the public buying non-prescription medicines 
over the counter. For such families even paracetamol and other over-the-
counter medicines could pose a significant fiscal outlay.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

6

Mr O’Sullivan [KLPC] noted the Member’s concern over pricing issues for 
Group M families that had to purchase simple over the counter remedies for 
non-prescription medicines and advised that the policy had other deeper fiscal 
implications. More expensive non-prescription items e.g. for the treatment of 
head-lice were simply beyond their means and not purchased in his 
experience. This could lead [worst case scenario] to a head lice outbreak 
resulting in multiple GP visits and a greater drain on CCG resources as a 
consequence and prevent funds being channelled to e.g. 111 and 999 service 
improvements.

He advised Members of a related revenue loss for Community Pharmacies, 
the POD (Prescriptions Ordered Direct) scheme, which had been piloted in 
December 2016 but now stopped by most CCG’s nationally. The continued 
operation of a POD scheme by the DGS CCG in a surgery in Swanscombe 
was, he suggested, open to question and would benefit from a quality impact 
assessment to establish any fiscal benefits or savings and whether the POD 
operation remained viable and beneficial to the community. The Committee 
might wish to make such a proposal to the CCG.

In response to a specific question from a Member, Mr. O’Sullivan advised that 
POD schemes did not include on-line provision, except for controlled drugs, 
but that KLPC members were concerned with the lack of direct customer 
contact between pharmacists and other clinicians inherent in a POD scheme.

In response to a further specific question from a Member, Mr O’Sullivan was 
unable to provide figures for the exact number of prescriptions collected in 
Dartford compared to Kent as a whole, but referred Members to the Kent 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment and the table on page 51. In response to 
a further question from the same Member as to how the Committee could help 
Community Pharmacies in the present climate of reduced funding since 
December 2106 as set out on page 51 he advised that that was a question 
the Committee could most usefully address direct to the DGS CCG.

The Deputy Shadow Leader of the Council acknowledged the cultural change 
driven by patients going to pharmacies direct for non-prescription items and 
through the POD scheme but also expressed his concern over the proposals 
by the DGS CCG to combine 5 (five) GP practices in the Borough and asked 
whether the proposal would mean pharmacies ‘going to the wall’. 

Mr O’Sullivan advised the Committee that ‘Uber’ GP practises where a good 
model for CCG’s to pursue but held draw-backs for both patients and 
pharmacists [unspecified] but were part of the Government’s aim of post-
hospital care in the community. He confirmed that no pharmacies in Dartford 
had ‘gone to the wall’ in the previous 12 month period, but he feared that 
pharmacies would eventually become ‘Amazonised’ with an ever widening 
gap developing between pharmacists and individual patients and their  care.

The Chairman thanked Mr O’Sullivan for his further responses to Members’ 
questions and his suggestion that the Committee may wish to address some 
of their concerns over the continued funding of Community Pharmacy 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

7

services and other related local service provision issues, direct to the DGS 
CCG.

The Chairman addressed the need for the Committee to maintain balanced 
and positive working relationships with both the CCG and KPLC and Kent 
Public Health and that representatives from the CCG were not due to appear 
before the Committee again until March 2019. 

He reminded Members that the Minutes of the Committee’s meetings were 
circulated by the Clerk in draft form for joint agreement by the Chairman, Vice-
Chairman and Shadow Chairman and proposed that, once agreed and 
published the Minutes recording the Committee’s discussion that evening, be 
forwarded by the Clerk to the CCG for written response to the specific issues 
raised in relation to the present and future role for Community Pharmacies in 
the DGS CCG. 

RESOLVED:

1. That Members agree the proposal that the published Minutes of the 
Committee’s discussion of Community Pharmacies in the context of the 
Kent Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment of the Dartford, Gravesend, 
Swanley and surrounding areas co-terminus with Dartford, Gravesham 
& Swanley CCG, be forwarded to the CCG for written response.

   

10. UPDATE ON GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT CLEAN 
AIR STRATEGY 2018 

The Chairman confirmed that all Members had received a printed copy of the 
report [marked as to ‘To-Follow’ in the agenda] from the Council’s Scientific 
Officer which enclosed as Appendix A the Government’s draft Clean Air 
Strategy 2018 document, recently published by the Department for 
Environment Food & Rural Affairs (Defra) for public consultation.

Members were asked to note the content of the report and to offer any 
comments for inclusion by Officers in a final report to Cabinet, which would 
form the basis of the Council’s formal response to the questions posed by 
Defra in their draft 2018 Clean Air Strategy to meet the consultation deadline 
of August 2018. 

The report from the Scientific Officer advised Members that Defra’s draft 2018 
Strategy did not consider air pollution from road traffic. Such pollution would 
continue to be considered by Defra via their ‘UK plan for tackling roadside 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations’ published in July 2017, and discussed by the 
Committee in September 2017 in the context of his Air Quality Review update 
report to the Committee [Min. No. 21 refers].  

Members were advised that Defra’s UK Plan to tackle roadside pollution had 
subsequently been made subject to legal challenge by Client Earth, and that 
in February 2018 the High Court had confirmed that the measures in the UK 
Plan were insufficient and ordered Defra to make changes. Of particular 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

8

concern to the Council had been an apparent divergence between NO2 levels 
predicted by the modelling within Defra’s UK Plan, and NO2 levels measured 
by the Council in Dartford. It had now been determined that those apparent 
discrepancies had resulted from the method of modelling and prediction used 
by Defra, but that the High Court had now ruled that Defra’s methodology did 
comply with the relevant European directive.  Following these developments, 
a further Annual Air Quality report would now be submitted to the Committee 
in September 2018 (formerly July 2018) updating Members more fully.

The Council’s Assistant Environmental Health Manager (Environment & 
Protection) highlighted the following key points for Members in relation to the 
draft 2018 Clean Air Strategy consultation document and the Council’s 
proposed response via Cabinet:

 Whilst the 2018 Strategy consultation document mentioned roadside 
NOx [Chapter 5 – Action to reduce emissions from transport]: it stated 
that the Government intended to primarily deal with this issue via the 
already published ‘UK Plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations’ and a future strategy document entitled ‘Road to Zero’ 
which would look at changing vehicles to greener alternatives;

 Officers intended to respond to the questions raised in the consultation 
about transport emissions (as they fell within their areas of expertise) 
but considered that the consultation document contained very little 
additional information on these issues to that already published 
elsewhere by the Government [see above];

 The Strategy proposed changes to, and the strengthening of, existing 
regimes to control PM2.5 emissions (resulting from the burning of 
fossil fuels within homes) currently controlled by the Clean Air Act and 
enforced by the Council’s Environmental Health Officers. Proposed 
measures included restricting the sale of fuels to only the cleanest 
varieties, and appliances to those which met the emission standards 
for Smoke Control Areas, to reduce pollutant levels as appliances 
were replaced/renewed. The changes were welcome and long 
overdue, but short on detail;

 The draft Strategy judged current controls for industrial emissions as 
effective, but proposed legislation to build on the current framework of 
annual inspections of premises to assess installation, emission 
monitoring and results. These proposed measures were welcomed, 
but had potential to impact on the work currently undertaken by 
Officers from the Environmental Health Team (in conjunction with the 
Environment Agency);

 Areas in the consultation which fell outside Council Officers’ areas of 
expertise and would not be commented upon, or commented on in 
general terms only, included NOx from Aircraft/Rail/Shipping, Non-
Methane Volatile Organic Compounds (NMVOCs) and Farming NBs. 

The Chairman thanked the Scientific Officer for his report and the Assistant 
Environmental Health & Protection Manager for his further verbal explanation 
of specific points. He asked Members for their comments, for possible 
incorporation by Officers in their final report to CAP A and Cabinet.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

9

The Shadow Chairman welcomed Defra’s draft Clean Air Strategy 2018 
consultation document but expressed her concern and disappointment over 
the following specific points:

 It was disappointing that ‘Clean Air Zones (CAZ)’ were not specifically 
included in the 2018 Strategy’s Executive Summary, and that Chapter 
5 of the Strategy stated that  the Government’s ‘UK Plan for Tackling 
Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide’ and the soon to be published ‘Road to Zero 
Strategy’ document would continue to set the standards and govern the 
strategic direction for transport going forward, not the 2018 Clean Air 
Strategy;

 The Government should be going further in terms of a Clean Air Plan, 
scrapping polluting vehicles, retro-fitting of older vehicles, greater 
devolved powers to local authorities, and greater incentives and infra-
structure changes to actively promote more walking and cycling by the 
population – particularly for short journeys.

She also sought an update from Officers regarding the recommendation that 
they write to Defra official’s concerning discrepancies between the 
Department and the Council, concerning the measurement of NO2 levels in 
the Borough.

The Scientific Officer confirmed that Officers had written to Defra over the 
differing levels and methodology for measuring NO2 emissions in the Borough 
[report para 3.1]; but were bound by the decision of the High Court that 
Defra’s methodology and modelling was EU compliant.

The Shadow Chairman referred Members to Chapter 9.4 – page 74 of the 
2018 Strategy, which addressed local action on clean air and the powers of 
local authorities to challenge either local or national assessment regimes to 
tackle air pollution. She proposed that the Council write to the Secretary of 
State for the Environment on the basis that his Department’s modelling for 
NO2 emissions in Dartford was computer generated and not based on road-
side samples taken in the Borough. Whilst Defra’s current modelling had been 
judged EU compliant, the Secretary of State had quoted standards for air 
quality above and beyond EU standards post-Brexit, and he should be 
challenged on his claims in respect of Dartford. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that given the High Court 
ruling, that Defra’s modelling off NO2 emissions was EU compliant, there was 
no point in writing further to Ministers and pursing what was effectively a blind 
alley. 

In response to a further proposal from the Shadow Chairman that Officers 
write to Defra over the classification of the Dartford Crossing as a rural road in 
the Air Quality Plan; the Chairman advised that the Committee had raised this 
issue and the question of pollution at the Crossing in the past. It was 
proposed that the Strategic Director (External Services) write to Defra again 
over these issues, in the context of the new Crossing and the case for the 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

10

Lower Thames option being adopted by Government, to alleviate any further 
pollution from NO2 emissions in Dartford.

The Committee considered a Member’s suggestion that proposals outlined in 
the draft Strategy [Chapter 6.6.1 p.57] to reduce exposure to NMVOCs in the 
home through a voluntary labelling scheme by manufactures for e.g. under-
arm deodorants, be made a mandatory scheme. Member opinion varied 
between concern for the elderly and asthma sufferers exposed to VOCs and 
concerns that a mandatory labelling scheme for manufacturers smacked of a 
‘Nanny State’ mentality. 

Following clarification from Officers, the Chairman proposed and Members 
agreed, that a recommendation be put to Cabinet for a mandatory labelling 
scheme for NMVOCs for both personal use in the home e.g. personal 
deodorants and cleaning materials and in the environment e.g. in domestic 
gardens and public areas.

The same Member proposed, that all new homes should be equipped with 
automatic ventilation systems [Chapter 6.7 page 58 Q.15 – ‘further actions’].

The Shadow Chairman supported the proposal and advised Members that the 
Royal College of Physicians attributed some 40,000 premature deaths p.a. to 
respiratory complications from pollutants, including exposure to NMVOCs and 
poor ventilation in the home to avoid inhalation of such pollutants. She re-
iterated her concerns over the ‘failure’ of the 2018 Strategy to address Clean 
Air Zones (CAZ) and advocated greater, and more detailed, consideration of 
scrappage schemes as recommendations from the Committee for inclusion in 
the final report to Cabinet and the Council’s final response to Government on 
their draft 2018 Clean Air Strategy.

The Assist. Manager for Environmental Health (Environment & Protection) 
advised Members that NMVOCs was one of the topics that fell outside the 
specific areas of expertise of Dartford Officer’s, but noted the request from 
Members that their concerns be noted in the report to Cabinet.

The Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed for Members that the 
final report to Cabinet would constitute the Council’s response to Defra on the 
draft Clean Air Strategy 2018. Officers would draw on the Minutes of the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting that evening [12 June] and incorporate 
Members’ concerns and recommendations where possible, and within their 
areas of knowledge and expertise. 

The Deputy Shadow Leader thanked the Strategic Director (External 
Services) for her proposal and confirmation that the views and concerns of 
Policy Overview Committee Members [as recorded in the Minutes] would be 
considered by Officers for incorporation into the final report to Cabinet. He 
asked that his own specific concerns over the draft 2018 Strategy (as detailed 
below) were noted and considered for inclusion in the report to Cabinet: 

 Chapter 9 – Leadership at all levels – lacked any proposals for local  
planning leadership in relation to the National Planning Policy 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

11

Framework (NPPF) and the need to have Dartford’s planning policy 
reflect the need for safer homes with good ventilation systems to meet 
overall targets for emissions e.g. from NMVOCs;

 The importance of encouraging the ‘model shift’ from car to rail 
transportation, with detailed policy recommendations and incentives to 
industry.

The Shadow Chairman re-iterated her proposal that the Council write formally 
to the Secretary of State over the inclusion of Clean Air Zones (CAZ) in the 
Government’s draft Clean Air Strategy 2018.

The Scientific Officer advised Members that the report to Cabinet would 
address Clean Air Zones (CAZ) in the context of its answers to Q.28 and Q.29 
in Chapter 9.5 page 77 of the draft 2018 Strategy;

 Q.28 – What are the benefits of making changes to the balance of 
responsibility for clean local air between lower and upper tier 
authorities? What are the risks?

 Q.29 – What improvements should be made to the Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) system? How can we minimise the bureaucracy 
and reporting burdens associated with LAQM?

Members discussed the desirability of Officers writing formally to Defra to 
express their concerns over outstanding health issues in Dartford related to 
the Dartford Crossing and the need for the second Crossing to be located 
downstream from Dartford, to avoid adding to the current levels of NO2 
emissions in the Borough.

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that Members first receive 
the ‘outstanding’ Annual Air Quality Review report from Officers in September 
2018 which would include new air quality monitoring data from Kings College 
Environmental Research Group (Kings ERG). Following consideration of that 
report, including the Kings ERG data, further written representations to Defra 
conveying Members’ concerns over air quality in Dartford would have greater 
focus and benefit from the inclusion of independent scientific data from an 
impartial source.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report from the Scientific Officer 
on the Government’s recently published draft Clean Air Strategy 2018 
consultation document [attached as Appendix A to the report];

2. That Members note the proposal from the Strategic Director (External 
Services) that the Minutes of the Committee’s discussions that evening 
[12 June 2018] be forwarded to relevant Officers for their consideration 
prior to a final report being presented to Cabinet, as the basis of the 
Council’s formal response to Government on its draft Clean Air 
Strategy 2018 consultation document;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

12

3. That Members receive and consider an Annual Air Quality Review 
report from Officers in September 2018, prior to consideration of further 
written representations from the Council to Government, expressing 
Members’ continued concerns over the recorded level of air quality in 
Dartford.

11. ILLEGAL DUMPING AND SPECIAL COLLECTIONS OF BULKY WASTE 

The report from the Council’s Waste & Parks Manager (W&PM) advised 
Members of the background and current policies regarding the removal of 
illegally dumped materials, the collection of special/bulky waste, and the 
enforcement measures being undertaken to address these issues.

The W&PM highlighted the following key points in his report for Members:

 The Council is a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) under s30 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 [the Act] which placed a general 
duty on WCAs to collect domestic waste at a service level they 
decided;

 The Controlled Waste Regulations gave WCAs the power to charge 
directly for the collection of certain types of domestic waste such as 
large or bulky items;

 The Council is a Principal Litter Authority (PLA) under s89 of the Act 
which places a duty on PLAs to keep the public highway and land 
under their control free from litter, refuse and dumping;

 Kent County Council is a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) under s51 of 
the Act which places duties on WDAs to make arrangements for waste 
collected by WCAs in its area and to provide Household Waste 
Recycling Centres (HWRCs) for residents in its area;

 ‘Special Collections’ (a.k.a. bulky waste collections) are one-off ad-hoc 
collections of large or bulky items such as settees, white goods, 
mattresses etc. direct from domestic premises. The Council received 
some 2,000 requests p.a. from residents requesting the collection of 
such items direct from their homes, and recovered some £60K p.a. in 
charges, to help defray the over-all cost of that service;

 ‘Illegal dumping’ (a.k.a. ‘Fly-tipping’) is the unauthorised deposit of 
waste onto any land that is not subject to a waste management licence 
e.g. settees, white goods, mattresses etc. and are commonly left in 
country lanes, laybys and at recycling sites

 ‘Illegal dumping’ is an offence for which Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) 
can be issued or prosecutions undertaken. The collection of waste from 
commercial sources is not a Council responsibility, but if it is dumped 
the Council has to remove it.

He advised Members that in terms of profile, the Borough suffered from a 
mixed bag of illegal dumping offences but that Dartford was no worse-off than 
other areas in Kent and the country a whole. Regarding household waste, he 
advised that Dartford residents use the Dartford Heath HWRC facility in the 
continued closure of KCC’s Pepperhill plant following the recent fire. It was his 
view that Dartford residents tended to dump locally [rather than further afield 
in Kent] and his Waste & Parks team worked closely with the Council’s 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

13

Enforcement team to identify, fine or prosecute offenders with a high degree 
of success. 

The Chairman thanked the Waste & Parks Manager for an excellent report 
and invited questions from Members.

The Deputy Shadow Leader of the Council and Members of his Group 
represented on the Committee, expressed concerns over a reported increase 
in fly-tipping (including an increase in commercial offences) and an increase 
in special collections across the Borough, and questioned the current and 
continued role of Amey LG Ltd on behalf of the Council in both areas of 
operation, including Amey’s current response times and whether quicker 
collection by the contractor could lower the number of incidents of dumping.

The W&PM gave the following advice in response to the individual points 
raised:

 The accurate recording of fly-tipping was difficult and comparisons with 
other Boroughs equally problematical, however new government 
reporting requirements which the Council was now obliged to 
undertake indicated that large-scale commercial dumping was down, 
but the dumping of smaller items e.g. white goods in the Borough had 
risen plus the occasional dumping of tyres;

 The Council were due to go out to tender over a new waste contract in 
2019 and part of that exercise entailed giving contractors including 
Amey an estimate of the overall work entailed to properly inform their 
bids;

 The response time for the collection of illegally dumped items and 
special collections under the current SLA with Amey LG Ltd was 10 
days but the company aimed to collect within 5 working days. The new 
contract to be let in 2019 would feature a lower response time aimed at 
an improved service which could, in theory, have a positive impact on 
lowering the levels of fly-tipping of domestic goods.

The Lead Member for Business & Enterprise gave anecdotal evidence based 
on his personal experience at Pepperhill HWRC where, in his opinion, KCC 
staff employed an entirely arbitrary policy over the admittance of white vans, 
irrespective of height restrictions or obvious commercial operation.

The W&PM advised Members that he had raised KCC’s van policy with the 
County authority on many occasions, but KCC maintained a policy of no white 
van access because of the fear of commercial dumping by local contractors, 
in the guise of residents making domestic journeys. On the point of KCC 
policy actively encouraging dumping, he advised that in his experience, 
people who dump or fly-tip will do so irrespective of local authority policy.

In response to a final question from the Shadow Chairman, concerning the 
possible increased use of ‘on the spot fines’ by the Council for dumping/fly-
tipping under new Government legislation; the W&PM advised that it was not 
an offence for householders to give waste to licensed waste carriers, but if 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

14

that waste was then dumped illegally, ‘on the spot fines’ were and would 
continue to be imposed where appropriate.

The Chairman repeated his thanks to the Waste and Parks Manager for an 
excellent report and for his positive and helpful responses to Members 
questions and concerns.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report.

12. CORPORATE PLAN 2017- 20:  KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORTS 

The standard covering report attached for Members to note at Appendices A 
and B respectively, the Key Actions Monitoring Report and the Performance 
Indicators Monitoring Report for Quarter 4 of 2017/18 which recorded the 
progress that had been made to date, in meeting the aims of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan for the period 2017-2020. 

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the Key Actions Monitoring Report 
and the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report as attached at 
Appendix A and B respectively, to the covering report. 

13. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017 - 2018 

The covering report attached a draft report (Appendix A) which covered the 
work undertaken by the Committee during the 2017-2018 Municipal Year, for 
submission to Cabinet as required by the Committee’s Protocol, subject to 
any comments from Members.

The Chairman asked that his thanks to the report’s author, Alan Stoneham, be 
formally recorded in the Minutes.

RESOLVED:

That the draft report covering the Committee’s work during the 2017-2018 
Municipal Year be referred to Cabinet as submitted and without amendment. 

14. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Committee’s rolling Work Plan for the period June 2018 
to March 2019 as recorded in the table at Appendix A. 

The report also listed (para 3.8) additional areas for consideration by 
Committee, as agreed by Members on 13 June 2017, that had yet to be 
scheduled.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 JUNE 2018

15

The Chairman confirmed the following additions to the published Work Plan 
as agreed by Members during the consideration of earlier agenda items:

 Invitation to Mr Dan McDonald, Chair of RELATE (Medway & Kent) to 
brief the Committee on the organisation’s work with Dartford residents 
– September 2018;

 Air Quality Update Report – September 2018

RESOLVED:

1. That the published Work Plan at Appendix A to the report, together with 
the additions as Minuted above, be noted.

The meeting closed at 9.08 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 July 2018
	7 Review of the Housing Allocations' Policy
	Cabinet Appendix A - Revised Allocations Policy  September 2018 - Final

	8 Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement and Licensing Policy 2018
	PSH Enforcement Policy  - September 2018

	9 Draft Local Lettings Plan for Coleridge Road New Build Development
	Coleridge Road Lettings Plan - Appendix A

	10 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman - Annual Review Letter 2018
	Appendix A Obudsman Annual Letter
	Appendix B - Ombudsman Report
	Appendix C - Ombudsman Report

	11 Street Naming and Numbering - Northfleet West Sub-station (Ebbsfleet Green) Phase 3
	Street Naming and Numbering - Appendix

	12 Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators
	APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions (Q1 - 2018-19)
	APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q1 - 2018-19)

	13 Policy Overview Committee minutes - 12 June 2018
	Minutes


